## Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

10-10-2017 2:00 PM

# Enumeration, variability, and transport of Escherichia coli in the foreshore reservoir and surface water at freshwater beaches

Laura J. Vogel The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor Dr. Clare Robinson *The University of Western Ontario* 

Graduate Program in Civil and Environmental Engineering A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree in Doctor of Philosophy © Laura J. Vogel 2017

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Environmental Engineering Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Vogel, Laura J., "Enumeration, variability, and transport of Escherichia coli in the foreshore reservoir and surface water at freshwater beaches" (2017). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 4968. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/4968

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

## Abstract

Beaches are of immense recreational, societal and economic value. This value, however, is considerably diminished by poor water quality. Fecal indicator bacteria (FIB) are measured at recreational beaches worldwide to assess the water quality. A beach closure or advisory is issued if FIB concentrations in surface water exceed recreational water quality standards. Due to the lengthy time required to enumerate FIB (24 - 96 hours), statistical and mechanistic models have been developed to predict water quality exceedances a priori and to better understand why and under what conditions water quality exceedances occur. These models as well as beach water quality management strategies are often based on limited mechanistic understanding of the fate and transport of FIB in the beach environment. For instance, FIB are known to accumulate at very high concentrations in foreshore sand and porewater at beaches (herein referred to as the foreshore reservoir). The dynamics of FIB accumulation in the foreshore reservoir and its subsequent release, including the impact on surface water quality exceedances, is unknown. It is also unclear how to best quantify the abundance of FIB in the reservoir including its partitioning between the sand and pore water. An increased understanding of the behavior of FIB at beaches is needed to improve the accuracy of predictive water quality models, develop effective measures to reduce water quality exceedances, improve water quality monitoring strategies, and ultimately to better protect human health at recreational beaches.

This thesis focuses on addressing key knowledge gaps regarding the behavior and quantification of FIB in the foreshore reservoir. In the first study, seasonal and daily variabilities in FIB concentrations in the foreshore reservoir and surface water are evaluated including determining the influence of environmental factors, such as temperature, waves, and rainfall. In this study, seasonal variability in FIB concentrations in the surface water and foreshore reservoir were found to depend on environmental factors, with some beaches showing a gradual increasing trend through the summer, then decreasing towards the beginning of fall. However, daily variation showed that FIB variability is much more complex and FIB may not simply accumulate over the summer months as previously thought. Further, this study showed for the first time that FIB may be able to replicate in

unseeded natural foreshore beach sand not subjected to external stimuli. The second study uses experimental and field data to evaluate the behavior of FIB in the beach environment during intensified wave conditions including the transfer of FIB from the foreshore reservoir to the surface water. This study showed that as wave height increased foreshore sand erosion resulted in elevated E. coli concentrations in surface water, as well as depletion of E. coli from the foreshore sand and pore water. E. coli initially attached to foreshore sand rather than initially residing in the pore water was found to be the main contributor to elevated surface water concentrations. Surface water E. coli concentrations were a function of not only wave height (and associated sand erosion) but also the time elapsed since a preceding period of high wave intensity. This finding is important for statistical regression models used to predict beach advisories. While calculations suggested that foreshore sand erosion may be the dominant mechanism for releasing E. coli to surface water during intensified wave conditions at a fine sand beach, comparative characterization of the E. coli distribution at a coarse sand-cobble beach suggested that interstitial pore water flow and discharge may be more important for coarser sand beaches. The third study compared the partitioning of FIB in the foreshore reservoir between the sand and pore water and evaluated different sampling methods for quantifying FIB in the foreshore reservoir at beaches with varying grain sizes. This study showed that the collection of the top 1 cm of unsaturated sand resulted in higher and more variable concentrations than the top 5 cm of sand. There were no statistical differences in E. coli concentrations when using different methods to sample the saturated sand. Overall, the unsaturated sand had the highest amount of E. coli when compared to saturated sand and pore water (considered on a bulk volumetric basis). Pore water sampled with a shovel resulted in the highest observed *E. coli* concentrations (only statistically significant at fine sand beaches) and lowest variability compared to other sampling methods. These findings presented will help determine the appropriate sampling strategy for characterizing FIB abundance in the foreshore reservoir as a means of predicting its potential impact on nearshore surface water quality and public health risk.

Overall, this thesis presents valuable information to health departments, beach managers, and scientists interested in improving water quality and water quality predictions at recreational beaches. Findings from this thesis increase understanding of FIB behavior, especially in the foreshore reservoir, and can be used to improve predictive water quality models, develop strategies to reduce FIB levels at beaches, and identify where and when a foreshore reservoir may be an important source of FIB to the surface water at a beach.

# Keywords

Fecal indicator bacteria, *E. coli*, beaches, groundwater, sand, sand erosion, recreational water quality, sampling methods, accumulation, waves, replication, growth

## **Co-Authorship Statement**

The thesis was written in accordance with the guidelines and regulations for an Integrated Article format stipulated by the School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies at the University of Western Ontario. The candidate designed, conducted and analyzed all of the experimental work in this thesis under the supervision of Dr. Clare Robinson. The themes and development of this work were performed in discussions with Dr. Clare Robinson. The candidate wrote three manuscripts that are included as chapters of this thesis. Full details for all chapters given below.

#### **Chapter 2: Literature Review: Background**

Contributions:

Laura Vogel: primary author/writer, developed outline, reviewed references, reviewed/revised chapter

Clare Robinson: reviewed/revised chapter

# **Chapter 3: Temporal Variations in the Abundance of Fecal Indicator Bacteria in Foreshore Sand and Porewater at Freshwater Beaches**

Contributions:

Laura Vogel: primary author/writer, designed and developed field work protocol, performed field work, collected field samples, designed and conducted laboratory experiments, interpreted and analyzed the collected data.

Tom Edge: assisted with data interpretation, reviewed and revised chapter

Denis O'Carroll: assisted with data interpretation, reviewed and revised chapter

Clare Robinson: assisted with data interpretation, reviewed and revised chapter

#### **Chapter 4: Release of Escherichia coli from Foreshore Sand and Pore Water during Intensified Wave Conditions at a Recreational Beach**

Vogel, L., D. O'Carroll, T. Edge, C. Robinson. 2016. "Release of Escherichia coli from foreshore sand and pore water during intensified wave conditions at a recreational beach." Environmental Science and Technology. 50(11):5676-5684.

#### Contributions:

Laura Vogel: primary author/writer, designed and developed field work protocol, performed field work, collected field samples, designed and conducted laboratory experiments, interpreted and analyzed the collected data.

Denis O'Carroll: assisted with field sample collection and data interpretation, reviewed and revised chapter

Tom Edge: assisted with data interpretation, reviewed and revised chapter

Clare Robinson: assisted with field sample collection and data interpretation, reviewed and revised chapter

## **Chapter 5: Evaluation of Methods to Sample Fecal Indicator Bacteria in Foreshore Sand and Pore Water at Freshwater Beaches**

Vogel, L., T. Edge, D. O'Carroll, H. Solo-Gabriele, C. Kushnir, C. Robinson. 2017. "Evaluation of methods to sample fecal indicator bacteria in foreshore sand and pore water at freshwater beaches." *Water Research*. 121:204-212.

#### Contributions:

Laura Vogel: primary author/writer, designed and developed field work protocol, performed field work, collected field samples, interpreted and analyzed the collected data

Tom Edge: assisted with data interpretation, reviewed and revised chapter

Denis O'Carroll: assisted with data interpretation, reviewed and revised chapter Helene Solo-Gabriele: assisted with data interpretation, reviewed and revised chapter Caitlin Kushnir: assisted with statistical analyses

Clare Robinson: assisted with data interpretation, reviewed and revised chapter

# Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my rocks, my parents, without whom none of this was possible –

Ruthanne Deakin Vogel

And

Jeffrey David Vogel

## Acknowledgments

If I were to write down the names of everyone who helped me along the way, my acknowledgements section would be longer than the dissertation itself, which is apparently frowned upon. Therefore, I would like to acknowledge a few people who deserve a special shout out, but I would still like to thank everyone who played a part in my four years at Western.

First and foremost, I would like to thank Dr. Clare Robinson. You have been patient through the times I have struggled, while still pushing me to never give up. Although there were times of tough love, I don't think I could have finished this in four years with anyone else but you as my fearless leader. Thank you for never giving up on me.

Dr. Tom Edge and Dr. Denis O'Carroll, you were always more than co-authors and committee members. Tom, you helped me adjust to life in Canada and helped shape what this dissertation is today. Denis, thank you for being a friend as well as a mentor and for always making sure we had enough pizza during those long wave events! Dr. Jason Gerhard, thank you for also being available to me for anything and everything.

I would also like to thank all of the engineering staff members who helped, not only with the research and paperwork, but for ALWAYS having an open door for me to come in and "de-stress". I would especially like to thank Caitlin Marshall, Whitney Barrett, and Kristen Edwards.

I came to Western to be a part of the RESTORE research group, however, I quickly learned that this is not just an ordinary research group; this is a family. Through the laughs, advice, tears, and the all-night office/lab/field sampling parties, I thank all of you. Especially, Tarek Rashwan, Lais Trento, Maria Sia, Jorge Gabayet Dominguez, Ming Wu, Lauren Oldfield, Victoria Trglavcnik, Rebecca Solinger, Spencer Malott, Tao Ji, Daoping Guo, Caitlin Kushnir, Ariel Nunez Garcia, Ian Molnar, and Ahmed Chowdhury. I would also like to thank my summer students for the countless hours of field sampling and lab work, especially Hayley Wallace, Taryn Fournie, Nicole Kucirek, and Brandon Powers. All of

you stuck with me through the long days with little sleep, and most importantly became some of my best friends.

Last, and definitely not least, I would like to thank my family. Evan, you are my life, but please stop drooling all over my papers. Tina, thank you for being my best friend even when I went a "tad bit" thesis crazy. John, I honestly couldn't ask for a better brother. Dad, thank you for making me laugh when all I wanted to do was cry. Mom, I honestly could not have done any of this without you. Thank you for putting your life on hold to take care of Evan so I could tend to my other baby, this dissertation. I love all of you so much.

Abstract	i
Co-Authorship Statement	iv
Acknowledgments	viii
List of Tables	XV
List of Figures	xvii
Chapter 1	1
1 Introduction	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Research objectives	3
1.3 Thesis outline	4
1.3 References	5
Chapter 2	7
2 Literature Review	7
2.1 Introduction	7
2.2 FIB in the surface water	
2.3 FIB in the foreshore reservoir	10
2.3.1 Partitioning of FIB in the foreshore reservoir	12
2.4 Fundamentals of FIB transport in porous media	12
2.5 Factors affecting abundance of FIB in the foreshore reservoir	16
2.5.1 Temporal variations of FIB in the foreshore reservoir	16
2.5.2 Groundwater as a source of FIB to the foreshore reservoir	17
2.5.3 Surface water as a source of FIB to the foreshore reservoir	
2.5.4 FIB replication in beach sand	19
2.6 Release of FIB from the foreshore reservoir to surface water	

# Table of Contents

2.7 Beach surface water quality models	24
2.8 Methods to sample the foreshore reservoir	25
2.9 Conclusion	30
2.10 References	32
Chapter 3	39
3 Temporal variations in the abundance of fecal indicator bacteria in foreshore sand and porewater at freshwater beaches	39
3.1 Introduction	41
3.2 Methods	46
3.2.1 Field site descriptions	46
3.2.2 Field sample collection methods	47
3.2.3 Replication and die-off experiments	48
3.2.4 E. coli enumeration	49
3.2.5 Statistics	49
3.3 Results and Discussion	50
3.3.1 Seasonal variations in the foreshore reservoir and surface water	50
3.3.2 Growth/persistence experiments	56
<ul><li>3.3.2 Growth/persistence experiments</li><li>3.3.3 High frequency variations in foreshore reservoir concentrations</li></ul>	56 57
<ul><li>3.3.2 Growth/persistence experiments</li><li>3.3.3 High frequency variations in foreshore reservoir concentrations</li><li>3.4 Conclusion</li></ul>	56 57 60
<ul> <li>3.3.2 Growth/persistence experiments</li> <li>3.3.3 High frequency variations in foreshore reservoir concentrations</li> <li>3.4 Conclusion</li> <li>Acknowledgements</li> </ul>	56 57 60 61
<ul> <li>3.3.2 Growth/persistence experiments</li> <li>3.3.3 High frequency variations in foreshore reservoir concentrations</li> <li>3.4 Conclusion</li> <li>Acknowledgements</li> <li>3.5 References</li> </ul>	56 57 60 61 62
<ul> <li>3.3.2 Growth/persistence experiments</li> <li>3.3.3 High frequency variations in foreshore reservoir concentrations</li> <li>3.4 Conclusion</li> <li>Acknowledgements</li> <li>3.5 References</li> <li>Chapter 4</li> </ul>	56 57 60 61 62 65
<ul> <li>3.3.2 Growth/persistence experiments</li></ul>	56 57 60 61 62 65
<ul> <li>3.3.2 Growth/persistence experiments</li> <li>3.3.3 High frequency variations in foreshore reservoir concentrations</li> <li>3.4 Conclusion</li> <li>Acknowledgements</li> <li>3.5 References</li> <li>Chapter 4</li> <li>4 Release of Escherichia coli from foreshore sand and pore water during intensified wave conditions at a recreational beach</li> <li>4.1 Introduction</li> </ul>	56 57 60 61 62 65 65 66

4.2.1 Field site descriptions	69
4.2.2 Water and sampling	70
4.2.3 Physical parameters	72
4.2.4 Mass balance calculations	72
4.3 Results and discussion	74
4.3.1 Physical conditions and observations at Ipperwash Beach	74
4.3.2 Temporal variability in E. coli concentrations during field events	77
4.3.3 Depletion of the foreshore reservoir	78
4.3.4 Impact of magnitude of wave height	79
4.3.5 Impact of wave run-up limit on pore water and sand concentrations	79
4.3.6 Mass balance results	81
4.3.7 Comparison to coarse sand-cobble beach	82
4.4 Environmental implications	83
Acknowledgements	84
4.5 References	85
Chapter 5	89
5 Evaluation of methods to sample fecal indicator bacteria in foreshore sand and pore water at freshwater beaches	89
5.1 Introduction	90
5.2 Methods	96
5.2.1 Field site descriptions	96
5.2.2 Sample collection methods	99
5.2.3. E. coli enumeration	101
5.2.4 Statistics and data analysis	102
5.3 Results and discussion	103

5.3.1 Comparison of methods used to characterize the foreshore bacteria	
reservoir	103
5.3.2 Comparison of E. coli in the different components of the reservoir	107
5.4 Conclusion	111
Acknowledgements	112
5.5 References	113
Chapter 6	117
6 Conclusions and recommendations	117
6.1 Summary	117
6.2 Implications	119
6.3 Recommendations and future work	120
6.4 References	123
Appendix A: Supplementary Material for "Temporal variations in the abundance of fecal indicator bacteria in foreshore sand and porewater at freshwater beaches"	124
A.1 Correlation plots for Burlington Beach	124
A.2 Correlation plots for Marie Curtis Beach	130
A.3 Correlation plots for Ipperwash Beach	137
Appendix B: Supplementary Material for "Release of Escherichia coli from foreshore sand and pore water during intensified wave conditions at a recreational beach"	143
B.1 Location of field sites	143
B.2 Water levels, sand levels, and sample locations for field events	144
B.3 E. coli enumeration methods	145
B.4 Statistical analyses	146
B.5 Mass balance calculation for eroded sand	147
B.6 Shearing assay experiment	149
B.7 Sampling results for field events	151
B.8 Weekly/biweekly sampling at Ipperwash Beach and Marie Curtis Beach	155

B.9 References	. 156
Appendix C: Supplementary Material for "Evaluation of methods to sample fecal indicator bacteria in foreshore sand and pore water at freshwater beaches"	. 157
C.1 Sampling methods	. 157
Appendix D: Reproduction Licenses	. 158
D.1 Chapter 4	. 158
D.2 Chapter 5	. 159
Curriculum Vitae	. 160

# List of Tables

Table 2.1: Summary of replication studies focused on FIB in beach sand
Table 2.2. Summary of sample collection methods used in select studies focused on FIB
abundance in beach sand and pore water27
Table 3.1: Summary of experimental studies that have investigated FIB replication in
beach sand45
Table 3.2: E. coli concentrations at the three field sites.    49
Table 5.1: Summary of sample collection methods used in select studies focused on FIB
abundance in beach sand and pore water92
Table 5.2: Summary of beach characteristics at individual Ontario beaches.      98
Table 5.3: E. coli concentrations and statistical test results for the different sampling
methods
Table 5.4: E. coli concentrations at beach study sites
Table 5.5: Correlations between different components of the foreshore reservoir and
surface water
Table B.1: Input values and results for mass balance calculations for all field events148
Table B.2: E. coli concentrations during Event1    151
Table B.3: E. coli concentrations during Event2    152
Table B.4: E. coli concentrations in samples collected at ankle- and waist-depth during
Event3
Table B.5. E. coli concentrations for sand and pore water samples collected at P1, P2 and
P3 locations during Event3

Table B.6: Weekly/biweeky sampling results for Ipperwash Beach and Marie Curtis	
Beach	155

# List of Figures

Figure 2.1: Components of the foreshore reservoir
Figure 2.2: Average of E. coli counts in sand and water by distance from shore9
Figure 2.3: Knee-depth water enterococci levels grouped by hour10
Figure 2.4: (a) Classical colloid filtration theory (CFT) mechanisms and (b) Relationship between CFT and other attachment mechanisms
Figure 2.5: Colloid concentration in the effluent relative to influent concentration as a function of pore volume for the indicated colloid sizes for a glass bead column15
Figure 2.6: Schematic of accumulation and transport of FIB in the foreshore reservoir under low energy wave conditions
Figure 2.7: In vitro growth of E. coli in beach sand amended and unamended with net- plankton from Lake Michigan
Figure 2.8: E. coli in duplicate laboratory sand microcosms incubated at 19°C21
Figure 3.1: Average monthly E. coli concentrations in the surface water and foreshore reservoir at the three field sites
Figure 3.2: Replication and die-off of E. coli using unsaturated sand collected at the three field sites
Figure 3.3: Average daily E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand and ankle-depth surface water at Ipperwash Beach
Figure 4.1: Schematic of the foreshore reservoir and transport mechanisms
Figure 4.2: Potential transport pathways for E. coli transfer between the foreshore reservoir and adjacent surface water

Figure 4.3: E. coli concentrations in the surface water and foreshore reservoir during each
sampling event76
Figure 4.4: E. coli concentrations in the pore water and surface sand at (a) P1, (b) P2, and
(c) P3 during Event381
Figure 5.1: Percentage of E. coli in the saturated sand and in the pore water relative to the
total E. coli in the saturated reservoir
Figure A.1: E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand at Burlington Beach compared
to temperature
Figure A.2: E. coli concentrations in the saturated sand at Burlington Beach compared to
temperature
Figure A.3: E. coli concentrations in the pore water at Burlington Beach compared to
temperature
Figure A.4: E. coli concentrations in the ankle-depth water at Burlington Beach compared
to temperature
Figure A.5: E. coli concentrations in the waist-depth water at Burlington Beach compared
to temperature
Figure A.6: E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand at Burlington Beach compared
to wave height126
Figure A.7: E. coli concentrations in the saturated sand at Burlington Beach compared to
wave height
Figure A.8: E. coli concentrations in the pore water at Burlington Beach compared to
wave height
Figure A.9: E. coli concentrations in the ankle-depth water at Burlington Beach compared
to wave height

Figure A.10: E. coli concentrations in the waist-depth water at Burlington Beach
compared to wave height
Figure A.11: E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand at Burlington Beach compared
to rainfall127
Figure A.12: E. coli concentrations in the saturated sand at Burlington Beach compared to rainfall
Figure A.13: E. coli concentrations in the pore water at Burlington Beach compared to rainfall
Figure A.14: E. coli concentrations in the ankle-depth water at Burlington Beach compared to rainfall
Figure A.15: E. coli concentrations in the waist-depth water at Burlington Beach compared to rainfall
Figure A.16: E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand at Marie Curtis Beach
compared to temperature
Figure A.17: E. coli concentrations in the saturated sand at Marie Curtis Beach compared to temperature
Figure A.18: E. coli concentrations in the pore water at Marie Curtis Beach compared to
temperature
Figure A.19: E. coli concentrations in the ankle-depth water at Marie Curtis Beach
compared to temperature
Figure A.20: E. coli concentrations in the waist-depth water at Marie Curtis Beach
compared to temperature
Figure A.21: E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand at Marie Curtis Beach
compared to wave height

Figure A.22: E. coli concentrations in the saturated sand at Marie Curtis Beach compared
to wave height
Figure A.23: E. coli concentrations in the pore water at Marie Curtis Beach compared to
wave height132
Figure A.24: E. coli concentrations in the ankle-depth water at Marie Curtis Beach
compared to wave height
Figure A.25: E. coli concentrations in the waist-depth water at Marie Curtis Beach
compared to wave height
Figure A.26: E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand at Marie Curtis Beach
compared to rainfall
Figure A.27: E. coli concentrations in the saturated sand at Marie Curtis Beach compared
to rainfall134
Figure A.28: E. coli concentrations in the pore water at Marie Curtis Beach compared to
rainfall134
Figure A.29: E. coli concentrations in the ankle-depth water at Marie Curtis Beach
compared to rainfall134
Figure A.30: E. coli concentrations in the waist-depth water at Marie Curtis Beach
compared to rainfall
Figure A.31: E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand at Marie Curtis Beach
compared to flow rate in Etobicoke Creek135
Figure A.32: E. coli concentrations in the saturated sand at Marie Curtis Beach compared
to flow rate in Etobicoke Creek
Figure A.33: E. coli concentrations in the pore water at Marie Curtis Beach compared to
flow rate in Etobicoke Creek

Figure A.34: E. coli concentrations in the ankle-depth water at Marie Curtis Beach
compared to flow rate in Etobicoke Creek136
Figure A.35: E. coli concentrations in the waist-depth water at Marie Curtis Beach
compared to flow rate in Etobicoke Creek136
Figure A.36: E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand at Ipperwash Beach compared
to temperature
Figure A.37: E. coli concentrations in the saturated sand at Ipperwash Beach compared to
temperature
Figure A.38: E. coli concentrations in the pore water at Ipperwash Beach compared to temperature
compared to temperature
Figure A.40: E. coli concentrations in the waist-depth water at Ipperwash Beach
compared to temperature
Figure A.41: E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand at Ipperwash Beach compared to wave height
Figure A.42: E. coli concentrations in the saturated sand at Ipperwash Beach compared to
wave height
Figure A.43: E. coli concentrations in the pore water at Ipperwash Beach compared to
wave height
Figure A.44: E. coli concentrations in the ankle-depth water at Ipperwash Beach
compared to wave height
Figure A.45: E. coli concentrations in the waist-depth water at Ipperwash Beach
compared to wave height

Figure A.46: E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand at Ipperwash Beach compared
to rainfall140
Figure A.47: E. coli concentrations in the saturated sand at Ipperwash Beach compared to
rainfall141
Figure A.48: E. coli concentrations in the pore water at Ipperwash Beach compared to
rainfall141
Figure A.49: E. coli concentrations in the ankle-depth water at Ipperwash Beach
compared to rainfall141
Figure A.50: E. coli concentrations in the waist-depth water at Ipperwash Beach
compared to rainfall142
Figure B.1: Location of field sites (Ipperwash Beach and Marie Curtis Beach)143
Figure B.2: Measured sand levels, water levels and sampling locations for (a) Event1, (b)
Event2, and (c) Event3144
Figure C.1: Photos of the three sampling methods used157

## Chapter 1

## 1 Introduction

### 1.1 Background

Microbial contaminants in surface water at beaches can cause illnesses in swimmers, including the stomach flu, respiratory infection, ear infections, and skin infections. Most illnesses from swimming in contaminated waters last from a few days to weeks, however, in some cases long-term illness or even death can occur (Devine 2014). Contracting an illness from the beach is not exclusive to swimmers. Beachgoers can become ill without entering the water. For example, Heaney et al. (2009) found positive correlations between beachgoers who either dug in the sand or were buried in the sand at freshwater and marine beaches located within 7 miles of a sewage treatment plant and gastrointestinal illness.

Fecal indicator bacteria (FIB) are often monitored in the surface water at beaches to indicate the potential presence of harmful pathogens. The decision to post or close a beach is typically made based on grab samples from the surface water and by using standard FIB enumeration techniques. Using these methods it takes 24-96 hours to determine the concentrations of FIB in samples. This current procedure is not ideal due to the high temporal variability of FIB concentrations in the surface water (Boehm et al. 2002, Enns et al. 2012, Whitman et al. 2004). For instance, Boehm et al. (2002) showed that 70% of single-sample FIB exceedances at a marine beach lasted less than 1 hour while 40% lasted less than 10 minutes. Therefore, it is likely that any contamination event that caused an exceedance will have passed before a beach is closed or posted. In addition to the potential health risks associated with having a beach open during a contamination event, posting or closing a beach when there is no health threat can be detrimental to coastal and lakeside city economies. Rabinovici et al. (2004) estimated that closing Indiana Dunes State Park, a freshwater beach on Lake Michigan, may cause an economic loss of up to \$37,030 per day. This study also found that an unnecessary beach closures were issued on 12% of the sampling days over the bathing seasons (May – September) from 1998-2001. To reduce incorrect beach closures and postings and to be able to notify the public prior to an actual exceedance, statistical forecasting models of FIB concentrations in the surface water have

been developed (e.g. Frick et al. 2008, Nevers and Whitman 2005, Olyphant and Whitman 2004). While these statistical models are proving to be valuable tools for beach managers, they are typically beach-specific and require large data sets of FIB concentrations, rainfall, wave height, solar radiation, wind speed/direction, temperature, and other parameters for a given beach. Further, these models provide limited mechanistic understanding of the underlying sources and fate of FIB in the beach environment.

FIB have been shown to accumulate in high numbers in the foreshore sand and pore water at beaches, herein referred to as the foreshore reservoir (Boehm et al. 2004, Kinzelman et al. 2004, Staley et al. 2015, Whitman and Nevers 2003). Considering concentrations on a volumetric basis, FIB concentrations in the foreshore reservoir have been found to be orders of magnitude higher than in adjacent surface water. In addition to serving as a potential direct health risk (Heaney et al. 2012, Heaney et al. 2009), the foreshore reservoir can serve as a source of FIB to the surface water, thereby causing a contamination event (Edge and Hill 2007, Gast et al. 2011, Phillips et al. 2014). It is currently not clear why FIB accumulate in high concentrations in the foreshore reservoir. The physical and environmental factors contributing to this accumulation, the pathways by which FIB are delivered to the sand and pore water, and the time-scale over which this accumulation occurs are not well understood. Once FIB accumulate in the foreshore reservoir, the mechanisms by which they are subsequently delivered to the surface water are also not clear. The overall variability of FIB concentrations in both the surface water and foreshore reservoir in response to different environmental forcing including periods of high wave intensity, as well as factors controlling this variability need to be determined. To understand the role and potential risk associated with FIB in the foreshore reservoir, there is a need for standard methods to quantify the amount and distribution of FIB in the reservoir. Currently, there are no widely accepted methods to collect samples from the foreshore sand and pore water for FIB enumeration. Therefore, different studies use different methods for collection and the reproducibility and comparability between these methods and thus studies are unknown. To improve the accuracy of statistical models in predicting FIB exceedances in the surface water, there is a need to develop a better understanding of why FIB accumulate in the foreshore reservoir and how we can measure this accumulation as well as the mechanisms of transport between the foreshore reservoir and surface water.

## 1.2 Research objectives

The overall goal of this study was to provide new knowledge of the behavior of FIB in the foreshore reservoir at freshwater beaches including the interconnectivity and exchange of FIB between the foreshore reservoir and surface water. The study is based on extensive field data collection at beaches on the Great Lakes combined with rigorous statistical analysis and a mass balance model to provide information needed to improve the current state of recreational water quality monitoring and modeling.

The first objective of this study was to identify short (daily) and long (seasonal) variability in *E. coli* concentrations in the foreshore reservoir and surface water at freshwater beaches including determining how different environmental forces (e.g. temperature, wave height, rainfall) influence this variability. This objective was met by collecting and analyzing seasonal *E. coli* concentrations and environmental data from three freshwater beaches in Southern Ontario together with daily sampling of the foreshore reservoir at one of the beaches over a 34-day period. The potential of replication of *E. coli* in unaltered natural foreshore beach sand was also evaluated to examine the potential for replication to contribute to FIB accumulation in the reservoir.

The second objective of this study was to determine for the first time how *E. coli* concentrations in the foreshore reservoir and surface water vary in response to varying wave conditions and to identify the pathway by which *E. coli* are transferred between the reservoir and surface water during intensified wave conditions. To address this objective, *E. coli* concentrations and environmental data were collected prior to, during, and after three wave events on a fine sand freshwater beach. In addition to statistical analyses, a mass balance model combined with laboratory experiments were used to determine the relative contribution of sand erosion and subsequent release of *E. coli* from sand to increases in surface water *E. coil* concentrations. Lastly, statistical analyses were performed to compare results from the field site to other beaches with varying sand types.

The third objective of this study was to compare different methods that have been used to sample *E. coli* in beach sand and pore water and also to improve understanding of the partitioning of *E. coli* between foreshore sand and pore water to ultimately improve beach

monitoring programs. Three different sampling methods for saturated sand and pore water as well as two methods of sampling unsaturated sand were compared at six freshwater beaches with varying grain sizes. Results were compared to surface water samples taken at each field site to compare the partitioning of *E. coli* in the foreshore reservoir to concentrations in the surface water.

## 1.3 Thesis outline

The thesis is written in integrated article format. A brief description of each chapter is listed below.

Chapter 1 provides a brief overview of FIB at beaches and outlines the scope of the thesis.

Chapter 2 reviews the current literature on the occurrence, accumulation and transport of FIB in the foreshore reservoir at beaches as well as methods to sample FIB in the foreshore reservoir.

Chapter 3 investigates short-term (daily) and long-term (seasonal) variation of FIB in the foreshore reservoir and surface water at beaches and the factors (e.g. temperature, rainfall, waves, replication) affecting this variability.

Chapter 4 titled "Release of *Escherichia coli* from Foreshore Sand and Pore Water during Intensified Wave Conditions at a Recreational Beach" investigates the transport of *E. coli* from the foreshore reservoir to the surface water at beaches during intensified wave conditions.

Chapter 5 titled "Evaluation of Methods to Sample Fecal Indicator Bacteria in Foreshore Sand and Pore Water at Freshwater Beaches" evaluates the effect of sampling methods on the quantification of *E. coli* in sand and pore water and compares the partitioning of *E. coli* between different components of the reservoir (unsaturated sand, saturated sand, pore water) at beaches with varying sand grain sizes.

Chapter 6 summarizes the major conclusions of the thesis, discusses the implications of this study, and provides recommendations for further research.

### 1.3 References

- Boehm, A.B., Grant, S., Kim, J., Mowbray, S., McGee, C., Clark, C., Foley, D., Wellman, D., 2002. Decadal and shorter period variability of surf zone water quality at Huntington Beach, California. Environmental Science & Technology 36 (18), 3885-3892.
- Boehm, A.B., Shellenbarger, G.G., Paytan, A., 2004. Groundwater discharge: potential association with fecal indicator bacteria in the surf zone. Environmental Science & Technology 38(13), 3558-3566.
- Devine, J., 2014. The Impacts of Beach Pollution. Natural Resource Defense Council. New York.

https://www.nrdc.org/sites/default/files/ttw2014\_Impacts\_of\_Beach\_Pollution.pdf

- Edge, T.A., Hill, S., 2007. Multiple lines of evidence to identify the sources of fecal pollution at a freshwater beach in Hamilton Harbour, Lake Ontario. Water Research 41 (16), 3585-3594.
- Enns, A.A., Vogel, L.J., Abdelzaher, A.M., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Plano, L.R., Gidley, M.L., Phillips, M.C., Klaus, J.S., Piggot, A.M., Feng, Z., 2012. Spatial and temporal variation in indicator microbe sampling is influential in beach management decisions. Water Research 46 (7), 2237-2246.
- Frick, W.E., Ge, Z., Zepp, R.G., 2008. Nowcasting and forecasting concentrations of biological contaminants at beaches: a feasibility and case study. Environmental Science & Technology 42 (13), 4818-4824.
- Gast, R.J., Gorrell, L., Raubenheimer, B., Elgar, S., 2011. Impact of erosion and accretion on the distribution of enterococci in beach sands. Continental Shelf Research 31 (14), 1457-1461.
- Heaney, C.D., Sams, E., Wing, S., Marshall, S., Brenner, K., Dufour, A.P., Wade, T.J., 2009. Contact with beach sand among beachgoers and risk of illness. American Journal of Epidemiology 170 (2), 164-172.
- Heaney, C.D., Sams, E., Dufour, A.P., Brenner, K.P., Haugland, R.A., Chern, E., Wing, S., Marshall, S., Love, D.C., Serre, M., 2012. Fecal indicators in sand, sand contact, and risk of enteric illness among beachgoers. Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.) 23 (1), 95.
- Kinzelman, J., McLellan, S.L., Daniels, A.D., Cashin, S., Singh, A., Gradus, S., Bagley, R., 2004. Non-point source pollution: determination of replication versus persistence of Escherichia coli in surface water and sediments with correlation of levels to readily measurable environmental parameters. Journal of Water and Health 2 (2), 103-114.
- Nevers, M.B., Whitman, R.L., 2005. Nowcast modeling of Escherichia coli concentrations at multiple urban beaches of southern Lake Michigan. Water Research 39 (20), 5250-5260.
- Olyphant, G.A., Whitman, R.L., 2004. Elements of a predictive model for determining beach closures on a real time basis: the case of 63rd Street Beach Chicago. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 98 (1-3), 175-190.
- Phillips, M.C., Feng, Z., Vogel, L.J., Reniers, A.J., Haus, B.K., Enns, A.A., Zhang, Y., Hernandez, D.B., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., 2014. Microbial release from seeded beach sediments during wave conditions. Marine Pollution Bulletin 79 (1), 114-122.

- Rabinovici, S.J., Bernknopf, R.L., Wein, A.M., Coursey, D.L., Whitman, R.L., 2004. Economic and health risk trade-offs of swim closures at a Lake Michigan beach. Environmental Science & Technology 38 (10), 2737-2745.
- Staley, Z.R., Vogel, L., Robinson, C., Edge, T.A., 2015. Differential occurrence of Escherichia coli and human Bacteroidales at two Great Lakes beaches. Journal of Great Lakes Research 41, 530-535.
- Whitman, R.L., Nevers, M.B., 2003. Foreshore sand as a source of Escherichia coli in nearshore water of a Lake Michigan beach. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69 (9), 5555-5562.
- Whitman, R.L., Nevers, M.B., Korinek, G.C., Byappanahalli, M.N., 2004. Solar and temporal effects on Escherichia coli concentration at a Lake Michigan swimming beach. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 70 (7), 4276-4285.

## Chapter 2

# 2 Literature Review2.1 Introduction

Immense social and economic benefits are derived from recreational swimming at beaches. It is estimated that approximately 928 million trips are made to the beach each year in the United States (National Oceanographic Atmospheric Administration 2005). Despite the benefits provided, up to 3.5 million people each year in the United States become ill from contact with raw sewage from sanitary sewer overflows, many instances of which occur at recreational beaches (Dorfman and Haren 2014). This number is likely higher than reported as many people who become ill after swimming in polluted waters are not aware of the cause of their illness and therefore do not report it to health officials. In 2005 there was an estimated 3000 days of beach closings and advisories in the Great Lakes. Research suggests that a 20% reduction in beach closures and advisories in the Great Lakes alone would lead to a net economic benefit of \$2 to \$3 billion dollars per year (Austin et al. 2007).

Exposure to microbial pathogens (e.g. Salmonella, Campylobacter jejuni, Staphylococcus aureus) from sewage and other sources poses a risk to swimmers in recreational waters through routes such as ingestion, inhalation, and skin contact (Boehm et al. 2009a, Enns et al. 2012). As FIB are present in high concentrations in sewage and runoff (Barthram and Rees 2000), epidemiology studies have shown a correlation between fecal indicator bacteria (FIB) levels and bather illness (e.g. gastrointestinal and respiratory illnesses, skin irritations) (Balarajan et al. 1991, Dewailly et al. 1986, Fleisher et al. 2010, Heaney et al. 2012, Hlavsa et al. 2015, Wade et al. 2008). Therefore, due to the challenges and high costs of quantifying harmful pathogens, FIB, such as enterococci in marine beaches and *Escherichia coli (E. coli)* in freshwater beaches, are used for recreational water quality monitoring as indicators of the human health risk. FIB water quality standards have been set for health departments to use to monitor recreational beaches (e.g. 100 colony forming units per 100 mL [CFU/100mL] based on a geometric mean for *E. coli* in Ontario, Canada (Ontario Ministry of the Environment and Energy 1999) and the United States (United States Environmental Protection Agency 2012)). In most current practices, health departments take one

or a few grab samples from the surface water (from various depths, ankle- to waist-depth) and transport them back to the lab to analyze within 6 hours. There is approximately a 24-96 hour delay between when a water sample is taken and when the FIB concentration results are known due to the required incubation times. Therefore, if a sample is taken that exceeds water quality standards then it is possible that by the time the beach is closed or a sign is posted, the contamination event that caused the exceedance will have passed ((Boehm et al. 2002). Due to the lengthy time delay in obtaining water quality monitoring results, there is a need to be able to predict *a priori* when and where FIB concentrations in the surface water will be high. To achieve this there is an urgent need to clearly understand the behaviour and fate of FIB in the beach environment.

Health units in Canada and the United States are currently not required to sample sand or pore water as part of their beach monitoring programs (Health Canada 2012, United States Environmental Protection Agency 2012). However, current research shows that sand and pore water near the shoreline can harbor high amounts of FIB (Solo-Gabriele et al. 2015, Whitman and Nevers 2003). Herein, the pore water and sand in the foreshore area of a beach where FIB accumulates is referred to as the foreshore reservoir (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1: Components of the foreshore reservoir.

## 2.2 FIB in the surface water

Many studies have investigated FIB concentrations in the surface water at recreational beaches and how they vary spatially and temporally (Boehm et al. 2002, Edge et al. 2010, Edge and Hill 2007, Enns et al. 2012, Haack et al. 2003, Kleinheinz et al. 2006, Whitman and Nevers 2008). It is generally found that FIB concentrations decrease with increasing distance from shore. At a

Florida beach, knee-depth water samples had significantly higher enterococci concentrations than waist-depth water samples. While 43% of the samples taken at knee-depth exceeded the regulatory guideline (prior to 2012) of 104 CFU/100mL, only 5% of waist-depth samples exceeded this value. This is a concern as health departments take water samples at waist-depth for regulatory purposes, while most of the bathers spent their time between ankle- and knee-depth water (Enns et al. 2012). Whitman and Nevers (2003) observed the same pattern at a Lake Michigan Beach with *E. coli* concentrations substantially decreasing with increasing distance from the shore (Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2: Average of *E. coli* counts in sand (converted to CFU/100mL) and water (combined) by distance from shore. Error bars indicate ± 1 standard error of the mean. Figure reproduced from Whitman and Nevers (2003).

In addition to spatial variations in FIB concentrations in surface water, temporal variations in concentrations are important in determining how and when to take a water sample. There are many physical factors that affect surface water FIB concentrations including rainfall (Ackerman and Weisberg 2003, Morrison et al. 2003, Olyphant and Whitman 2004), wind speed and direction (Olyphant and Whitman 2004, Smith et al. 1999), temperature (Ishii et al. 2007), wave activity (Gast et al. 2011, Phillips et al. 2014), and tides (Enns et al. 2012). Enns et al. (2012) observed that elevated solar radiation may contribute to decreases in surface water enterococci concentrations. Water samples taken in the morning were significantly lower than those taken in the evening (Figure 2.3), possibly due to increased solar radiation. Boehm et al. (2002) also concluded that FIB are very sensitive to sunlight and that the time of day that water samples are taken can significantly influence the outcome of the water quality tests. This study found that at least 70% of their single-sample exceedances lasted less than 1 hour and at least 40% lasted less

than 10 min. Therefore, the decision to close a beach should not solely be based on the concentration of FIB in a single grab sample that usually takes 24-96 hours to process. In addition to improving beach sampling protocols, understanding temporal and spatial variability in FIB surface water concentrations as well as controlling factors (e.g. rainfall, waves, temperature) is needed to improve predictive models that can close the time gap between when an exceedance occurs and when the public is notified.



Figure 2.3: Knee-depth water enterococci levels grouped by hour. Black squares indicate night samples (9 PM-5 AM), white squares indicate morning samples (6 AM-12 PM) and gray squares indicate afternoon samples (1 PM-8 PM). The dotted line indicates the percentage of samples each hour above the [water quality] advisory single sample guideline of 104 CFU/100 mL. Figure reproduced from Enns et al. (2012).

## 2.3 FIB in the foreshore reservoir

Recent studies have shown that pore water and sand in the foreshore area of a beach (within 1-2 m of the shoreline), at non-tidal beaches, e.g. the Great Lakes (Alm et al. 2006, Edge and Hill 2007, Ishii et al. 2007, Skalbeck et al. 2010, Whitman and Nevers 2003) and intertidal sand, at marine beaches (Wright et al. 2011), can act as a reservoir for FIB with concentrations of bacteria often much higher than in adjacent shallow waters. Davies et al. (1995) suggested that sand and pore water can provide a favorable, nonstarvation environment for FIB, where the die-off rate is lower than in surface water. Not only does the sand and pore water potentially provide a direct

route of exposure to humans and therefore represent a direct health risk (Bonilla et al. 2007, Heaney et al. 2009), it can also act as a non-point source whereby bacteria can be released into the surface waters by resuspension of sand grains or through interstitial pore water flow and groundwater discharge (Alm et al. 2006, Bai and Lung 2005, Boehm et al. 2004, Vogel et al. 2016, Whitman and Nevers 2003, 2008, Yamahara et al. 2007).

The build-up of FIB near the shoreline leads to the possibility of continuous exchange of FIB between the foreshore reservoir and the surface water. Ishii et al. (2007) found that E. coli concentrations in the upshore sand were patchy while concentrations in the foreshore sand were evenly distributed; suggesting a relationship between shallow surface water and the foreshore reservoir where wave action may homogenize *E. coli* in the foreshore area. A review by Halliday and Gast (2011) found that when concentrations of FIB in the sand were expressed in CFU/100g of dry sand, the ratio between the concentrations in shallow lake water (CFU/100mL) and sand ranged from 1:3-1:460 with concentrations of FIB in dry sand varying by 3 orders of magnitude. This variation may be explained by different climates and bacterial sources (e.g. point versus nonpoint sources) between the field studies included in the review, as well as by general spatial variation in FIB concentrations at beaches (Enns et al. 2012, Halliday and Gast 2011). In addition to large variations in concentrations of FIB in beach sand and pore water, there can also be significant differences in concentrations between different types of sand. Beach sand can range in grain size (fine, medium, and coarse grain) and their degree of uniformity (CU). Sources of contamination and the efficiency by which FIB attach to different sand types can account for the high range in concentrations found in the sand. Skalbeck et al. (2010) found that mean grain size and the degree of uniformity accounted for variation in FIB density with fine sand of uniform distribution found to have the highest concentrations. Piggot et al. (2012) found a unimodal relationship in the supratidal zone (just landward of the high tide mark) between sediment grain extracellular polymeric substances (EPS), the principal structural component of biofilms, and enterococci levels. They found maximum enterococci concentrations occurred at EPS levels of 7  $\mu g/g$ . They suggested that below 7  $\mu g/g$ , FIB gain protection from biofilms, however above this concentration of EPS, FIB may fall prey to competitive exclusion from the biofilm bacterial activity. This study also found higher levels of EPS and enterococci in supratidal sands over intertidal and subtidal sands (Piggot et al. 2012). The difference in the attachment and persistence of FIB in different types of sand grains adds additional uncertainty to determining sand

concentrations and the resulting risk of foreshore sands acting as a source of FIB to the surface water.

Based on DNA fingerprint analyses, multiplex PCR results, and surveying of culturable *E. coli*, Ishii et al. (2007) deduced that sand and sediment (offshore submerged sand) serve as both temporal sources and sinks of human and waterfowl-derived *E. coli*. When beach sand and sediment act as sources they can potentially contribute to high surface water concentrations and thus beach closures. In addition to sand, detrital material in the foreshore reservoir, such as decaying vegetation and algae, can harbour FIB and also be a source to surface waters (Grant et al. 2001, Haack et al. 2003, Whitman et al. 2003). For example, Whitman et al. (2003) measured *E. coli* concentrations in *Cladophora* over 6 log CFU/g.

#### 2.3.1 Partitioning of FIB in the foreshore reservoir

Understanding how FIB are distributed and partition between the sand and pore water in the foreshore reservoir and the underlying physical and environmental factors is needed to determine the optimum approach for sampling FIB in the foreshore reservoir and quantifying their abundance. Whitman and Nevers (2003) found that *E. coli* concentrations were highest in the foreshore sand, followed by submerged knee-depth offshore sediment and surface water of increasing depth. Alm et al. (2003) found that *E. coli* concentrations at several Michigan beaches were highest in the first 5 cm below the sand surface in the foreshore area. This study also found that based on a unit weight basis, the mean summer concentrations of FIB were 3-38 times higher in the top 20 cm of wet foreshore sand than in the water column at the same Michigan beaches. FIB in unsaturated sand at moisture contents between 15% and 20% have been found to persist better than those in lower or higher moisture contents (Beversdorf et al. 2007). FIB in pore water have also been shown to have the highest concentrations around the water table and decrease with depth (Russell et al. 2012, Wu et al. 2017).

## 2.4 Fundamentals of FIB transport in porous media

The fate and transport of FIB in porous media is complex and controlled by interstitial pore water flow and the attachment and detachment of bacteria from sand grains (Solo-Gabriele et al. 2015). Bacteria are considered colloids which fall between 1-1000 nm in diameter (Levine 2009).

Colloids can move through the subsurface through advection with the interstitial pore water velocity, diffusion driven by concentration gradients in the pore water, and chemotaxis (Johnson et al. 1996). Colloid transport through the subsurface is often hindered by retention in the sediment. This hindrance is usually caused by attachment directly to the sediment grain surface or retention in the near surface zone. Transport from the pore water to the sediment surface or near surface zone is controlled by interception, diffusion, and sedimentation (Figure 2.4a). Colloid attachment to the surface or retention in the near surface zone is controlled by DLVO forces (e.g. van der Waals attraction, electrostatic attraction or repulsion) (Derjaguin and Landau 1993, Verwey and Overbeek 1955).

FIB movement in saturated porous media is typically described by Colloid Filtration Theory (CFT). The one-dimensional equation for bacterial transport in the aqueous phase, neglecting growth and decay, is given as:

$$\frac{\partial c}{\partial t} = -v \frac{\partial c}{\partial x} + D \frac{\partial^2 c}{\partial x^2} - kC$$
(2.1)

where *C* is the mass concentration of suspended bacteria in the aqueous phase (kg/m<sup>3</sup>), *v* is the pore water flow velocity (m/s), *t* is time (s), *x* is distance traveled (m), *D* is the dispersion coefficient (m<sup>2</sup>/s), and *k* is the attachment rate coefficient (s<sup>-1</sup>). CFT is generally used to predict *k*, the attachment rate coefficient, however, literature shows that CFT is not always appropriate in many environmental scenarios (Molnar et al. 2015). Classic CFT considers sedimentation, interception, and Brownian diffusion (Figure 2.4a), however, CFT does not take into account straining, geochemical heterogeneity, variable deposition rate coefficients, or preferential flow (Figure 2.4b) which can all affect the retention of FIB in the subsurface (Foppen 2007).


Figure 2.4: (a) Classical colloid filtration theory (CFT) mechanisms and (b) Relationship between CFT and other attachment mechanisms. Figure adapted from Foppen (2007).

Straining is not included in CFT. Sakthivadivel (1968) and Matthess et al. (1985) suggested that straining was only significant when considering particle:collector diameter  $(d_p/d_c)$  values above 5-18%. This would mean that only large colloids  $(d_p \sim 10 \,\mu\text{m})$  in fine sediments would be strained. According to this theory, *E. coli*, with a length of about 2.0  $\mu$ m and a diameter of 0.25-1.0  $\mu$ m would not be influenced by straining. However, in the last 15 years more studies have reported that straining can occur for a much wider range of colloid and collector sizes and even for  $d_p/d_c$  ratios as low as 0.01% (Bradford et al. 2004, Bradford et al. 2003, Bradford et al. 2002, Xu et al. 2008). Bradford et al. (2006) conducted laboratory column experiments using *E. coli* 0157:H7 and

various sieve sizes of silica sand ( $d_{50} = 710, 360, 240, and 510 \,\mu$ m) and found that straining tended to increase with decreasing sand size (increasingly smaller pores) and flow rate suggesting that bacteria, and other colloids, may travel shorter distances in finer grain sediment. In addition to increased straining with decreasing sand size, Bradford et al. (2002) showed that peak effluent colloid concentrations in column experiments using glass beads decrease with increasing colloid size (Figure 2.5). Even the effluent concentrations of colloids with a mean diameter of 1.0  $\mu$ m were reduced relative to the influent concentrations by approximately 40% in the column – this suggest that FIB transport through the beach aquifer may be influenced by straining. Due to the use of glass beads which are chemically homogenous, spherical, and smooth, the retention of the carboxyl colloids in the glass beads (which are both negatively charged) cannot be explained by attachment mechanisms and therefore must have been caused by straining.



Figure 2.5: Colloid concentration in the effluent relative to influent concentration as a function of pore volume for the indicated colloid sizes for a glass bead column. Figure reproduced from Bradford et al. (2002).

Transport of bacteria through the unsaturated zone brings in another important factor – the presence of air-water interfaces. Previous studies show that bacteria tend to accumulate at the air-water interface (Blanchard and Syzdek 1972, Powelson and Mills 1996). Using column experiments and a mechanistic model, Schäfer et al. (1998) found that the transport of bacteria through porous media was strongly reduced by decreasing the water saturation. The increased retention of bacteria in unsaturated porous media contributed to the accumulation at air-water interfaces. This suggests that unsaturated sands may have higher concentrations of FIB than saturated sands and that concentrations are expected to decrease with increasing sediment depth and moisture content.

Once colloids are associated with sediment particles, the shear stress associated with moving water can result in the release of colloids from the sediment. Once the moving water imposes a torque such that shear forces exceed the forces attaching the colloids to the sediment, the colloids are released (Ryan et al. 1998). Therefore, increasing pore water velocity will increase the shear forces and the subsequent colloid release (Kaplan et al. 1993, Shang et al. 2008). Saiers and Lenhart (2003) observed that increasing flow rates increased the number of colloids mobilized from silica sand. This study also found that at a given flow rate, a limited amount of colloids are released, however, when that flow rate is increased an additional amount of colloids are released. Through column experiments in unsaturated conditions, Shang et al. (2008) found that the peak colloid concentrations in the effluent occurred with the arrival of the infiltration front and that a larger flow rate led to a greater amount of colloids released from the column. The cumulative amount of colloids that were released was also proportional to the water content in the column once steady state flow was achieved.

## 2.5 Factors affecting abundance of FIB in the foreshore reservoir

Possible sources of FIB to the foreshore reservoir include point sources (e.g. raw sewage, sanitary sewer overflow or storm water discharge) and non-point sources (e.g. fecal droppings from birds or other animals, runoff from surrounding areas, and potentially septic systems) (Alm et al. 2017, Fujioka et al. 1988, Irvine and Pettibone 1993, Kim et al. 2004, Oshiro and Fujioka 1995). Surface water infiltration across the beach face can also be a source of FIB to the foreshore reservoir (Figure 2.6) (Byappanahalli et al. 2006, Gast et al. 2015, Ge et al. 2012, Ishii et al. 2007, Wu et al. 2017). Preliminary studies suggest that FIB accumulates in the foreshore reservoir due to favorable moisture content, high concentrations of nutrients, infiltration of possibly contaminated shallow surface water, and the reservoir's close proximity to surface sources (e.g. bird feces) than can transport FIB to the foreshore area via shallow unsaturated-saturated groundwater flow (Beversdorf et al. 2007, Lee et al. 2006).

#### 2.5.1 Temporal variations of FIB in the foreshore reservoir

While several studies have investigated temporal variations of FIB in the surface water at beaches (Boehm et al. 2002, Enns et al. 2012, Whitman et al. 2004, Wright et al. 2011), few studies have

examined these variations in foreshore sands and pore water. Understanding short- and long-term variability in FIB concentrations in the foreshore reservoir is needed to better understand the factors that affect FIB accumulation in the reservoir and the potential for the reservoir to impact surface water concentrations and cause a beach water quality advisory. Enns et al. (2012) conducted a 10-day intense sampling study, collecting hydrometereologic data, hydrodynamic data, bather densities, enterococci levels, and S. aureus levels in both water and sand. This study found that rainfall and tidal patterns considerably influenced enterococci concentrations in the water and sand on a short-term time-scale. However, this study mostly focused on the spatial and temporal changes in the surface water over the 10-day sampling period. Whitman and Nevers (2003) and Ishii et al. (2007) observed long-term increasing E. coli concentrations in foreshore surface sand over the bathing season (May – September). According to analysis of variance, correlation, cluster analysis, concentration gradients, temporal-spatial distribution, demographic patterns, and DNA fingerprinting, Whitman and Nevers (2003) concluded that E. coli may be able to survive and thrive during summer months in temperate beach sand without external inputs. These studies suggest that FIB may accumulate and persist in the foreshore reservoir over the bathing season leading to higher concentrations in the late summer months. No prior studies have evaluated short-term (i.e. daily) variability in FIB concentrations in the foreshore reservoir including the factors and processes controlling this temporal variability and how it is related to previously observed long-term trends. This information is needed to understand and potentially predict FIB concentrations in the foreshore reservoir as well as to understand how the variability may ultimately affect FIB concentrations in the surface water.

#### 2.5.2 Groundwater as a source of FIB to the foreshore reservoir

The potential importance of groundwater in delivering FIB to the foreshore reservoir and subsequently to surface water will vary depending on the physical characteristics of the beach aquifer (e.g. grain size distribution, moisture content, biofilms, hydraulic conductivity) and groundwater flow conditions. Some studies have shown that land-derived groundwater may be an important pathway for transporting FIB from surficial aquifers to adjacent surface waters (Boehm et al. 2004, Foppen et al. 2007, Keswick et al. 1982). Boehm et al. (2004) found that enterococci suspended in saline groundwater was not significantly filtered by a sand packed column (10 cm in length) collected from a California beach, and therefore they suggested that enterococci may be

transported to surface water through the surficial aquifer. In addition to serving as a potential source and transport route for FIB, land-derived groundwater may deliver nutrients, such as inorganic nitrogen and orthophosphate, to the foreshore area which may contribute to enriched growth or persistence of FIB in the foreshore reservoir (Boehm et al. 2004). Conversely, some studies have concluded that land-derived groundwater is not a significant source of FIB to the beach environment as bacteria are typically not very mobile in the subsurface (Bitton and Harvey 1992, Brown and Boehm 2016, Harvey 1997). Harvey and Garabedlan (1991) showed from column experiments that 85% of nongrowing bacteria was removed by the sand within a 7 m travel distance. Foppen et al. (2007) suggested that due to the heterogeneity in most bacterial populations, consisting of both "slow" and "fast attachers", some bacteria may be filtered out of groundwater (approximately 5-20% in these experiments using 5 cm long columns), but some bacteria can travel high distances in the subsurface.

#### 2.5.3 Surface water as a source of FIB to the foreshore reservoir

In addition to the foreshore reservoir serving as a potential source of FIB to surface water, surface water infiltration associated with tides or wave action may transport FIB from the surface water to foreshore reservoir (Ishii et al. 2007) (Figure 2.6). Gast et al. (2015) showed that enterococci from surface water were rapidly transported about 0.5-0.8 m vertically and 6 m horizontally into the beach subsurface by wave-driven surface water infiltration and associated pore water flow. Wu et al. (2017) presented field data showing that *E. coli* and enterococci can be transported 1 and 2 m, respectively, below the water table in the foreshore area. Wu et al. (2017) used this field data to validate a numerical model simulating the accumulation of FIB in a beach aquifer exposed to low energy (non-erosive) wave conditions and associated wave-induced surface water infiltration. Pore water FIB concentrations in the foreshore reservoir were found to rapidly approach steady state (i.e. after 0.5 days) as opposed to concentrations of FIB associated with the foreshore sand that continued to increase over time as *E. coli* continued to be delivered to the beach aquifer by surface water infiltration. This study also found that under certain beach conditions, FIB accumulation in the foreshore reservoir over 5-6 days due to wave-induced infiltration may be sufficient to trigger a beach advisory if the foreshore sand is eroded to the surface water.



Figure 2.6: Schematic of accumulation and transport of FIB in the foreshore reservoir under low energy wave conditions. Figure reproduced from Wu et al. (2017).

#### 2.5.4 FIB replication in beach sand

The possibility of growth or replication of FIB in beach sand has been widely debated. It is important to know whether high concentrations of FIB in the foreshore reservoir are caused by FIB replicating in sand or whether FIB are coming from external sources. High concentrations of FIB due to replication does not indicate the same health risk as high concentrations from human sources. Experimental studies have shown an increase in FIB in sand after the addition of environmental stimuli (e.g. seawater, plankton, algae) or after alteration of the sand (e.g. autoclaving, inoculation) (Table 2.1). Byappanahalli et al. (2006) found a significant increase (approximately 2-logs) in *E. coli* concentrations when supplementing beach sand with plankton, while the control, not supplemented with plankton, did not exhibit any increase in concentrations (Figure 2.7). Yamahara et al. (2009) observed growth in enterococci concentrations in unseeded, unsterilized sand when subjected to intermittent wetting with seawater, similar to what would occur at the high tide line. Similar to Byappanahalli et al. (2006), there was no observed replication or growth in the control microcosms that were not subjected to wetting (Yamahara et al. 2009).



Figure 2.7: *In vitro* growth of *E. coli* in beach sand amended and unamended with net-plankton from Lake Michigan. Error bars represent ± 1 standard error. Figure reproduced from Byappanahalli et al. (2006).

Hartz et al. (2008) compared the change in FIB (enterococci and *E*. coli) concentrations in beach sand that was rinsed, dried, autoclaved, and inoculated with sand that was collected and used without sterilization. In the sterilized sand, enterococci increased by about 2-logs while the control sand did not exhibit the same growth. They suggested that FIB have the potential to survive and replicate in beach sand, but that increases in FIB concentrations at the magnitude they observed in their sterile sand experiment are unlikely to occur in the field. Similar to Hartz et al. (2008), Alm et al. (2006) also observed a significant increase in *E. coli* concentrations after inoculating sterilized beach sand with two *E. coli* isolates (Figure 2.8). Although several studies have shown that replication is possible, none have observed significant increases (replication) of FIB concentrations in unaltered, unseeded, natural beach sand not subjected to external stimuli. There is a need to understand whether FIB can replicate in the natural environmental conditions present in the foreshore reservoir to better evaluate the health risk associated with the reservoir.



Figure 2.8: Mean (± standard deviation) abundance of *E. coli* in duplicate laboratory sand microcosms incubated at 19°C. Squares indicate Experiment 1 and triangles indicate Experiment 2. Conditions were the same for both experiments. Figure reproduced from Alm et al. (2006).

Paper	Site	Sterilized?	Seed	Amendments	Incubation Temperature	Findings
Byappanahalli 2006	Michigan City, Indiana	No	N/A	Plankton (microcrustacean s, rotifers, and filamentous algae)	23.5 C	Significant increase (about 2 logs) in <i>E. coli</i> numbers over 24 hours
Yamahara 2009	Lovers Point, California	No	N/A	Intermittent "watering" with seawater	20 C	Increase at rates of 0.20 to 0.63 per day was observed during "watering" periods
Staley 2016	Burlington and Toronto, Ontario	No	Eight strains of <i>E.</i> <i>coli</i> taken from field site	Autoclaved lake water	15 C, 28 C	No significant increase in <i>E</i> . <i>coli</i> concentrations
Hartz 2008	Hollywood , Florida	Yes	Six isolates of <i>E. coli</i> and enterococci	Sterile seawater, sea salts	20 C, 30 C, 40 C	Significant increase (about 2 log) within 2-3 days
Alm 2006	Port Huron, Michigan	Yes	Two <i>E. coli</i> isolates taken from field site	N/A	19 C	Significant increase (about 4 log) within 2 days
Yamahara 2012	Lovers Point, California	No	Primary treated sewage	Intermittent "watering" with seawater	22 C	Enterococci was significantly higher after "watering" periods
Standridge 1979	Madison, Wisconsin	Yes	Isolated fecal coliform organisms	N/A	20-22 C	Significant increase (over 1 log) in fecal coliform concentrations in 4 days

Table 2.1: Summary of replication studies focused on FIB in beach sand.

## 2.6 Release of FIB from the foreshore reservoir to surface water

Once contaminated, foreshore sands and pore water can act as a non-point source resulting in high FIB concentrations in shallow waters (Byappanahalli et al. 2003, Lee et al. 2006, Shibata et al. 2004, Whitman and Nevers 2003, Wright et al. 2011). However, the mechanisms by which FIB are transported from the foreshore reservoir to surface waters are unclear. FIB may be transported from the reservoir to surface waters via foreshore sand erosion and subsequent release of FIB from suspended sand grains, or alternatively via pore water flow and discharge. Russell et al. (2012) combined field and laboratory experiments to show that vertical infiltration of surface water through sand may deliver sand-associated FIB to saturated beach groundwater with FIB then transported to the adjacent surface water via pore water flow and discharge. Yamahara et al. (2007) found similar results with almost 100% of enterococci in a sand column mobilized and transported through the column when subjected to approximately four pore volumes of vertical flow. In contrast, Phillips et al. (2011) observed limited FIB mobility with 90% of enterococci initially in their column experiments remaining attached to the sand after being subjected to average pore water flows up to and sometimes over 40 cm/h. These contrasting findings are likely due to the different flow and sediment conditions and highlight the need to understand how specific beach conditions (i.e. sediment type) affect the relative contribution of different transport mechanisms in delivering E. coli from the foreshore reservoir to the surface water.

In addition to pore water flow and discharge, FIB can also be released from the sand/sediment to the surface water through erosion and sediment resuspension associated with wave action (Byappanahalli et al. 2003, Vogel et al. 2016, Whitman and Nevers 2003). Whitman and Nevers (2003) concluded that foreshore beach sand may be an important non-point source of *E. coli* to lake water rather than a net sink. A study on Lake Ontario using microbial source tracking (MST) techniques determined that *E. coli* recovered from ankle and knee-deep water samples collected up to 150 meters offshore, mostly came from beach sand (Edge and Hill 2007). Gast et al. (2011) showed that FIB in beach sands were redistributed during a period of high wave intensity, however, no simple redistribution pattern (e.g. net movement of sand-associated FIB from foreshore to offshore) was observed.

Mechanistic models often show a strong correlation between wave height and high FIB concentrations in surface waters (Feng et al. 2013, Ge et al. 2012). Coupling a microbehydrodynamic-morphological model with field measurements, Feng et al. (2013) recently concluded that foreshore sand and offshore sediment resuspension due to waves and tides were the main contributor of FIB to surface water at an embayed beach. However, this work assumed that the cross shore distribution of FIB associated with sand was stable over time – this is unlikely during intensified wave conditions as significant sediment redistribution typically occurs. Phillips et al. (2014) found that waves were only capable of releasing about 60% of the total bacteria in seeded foreshore sand in a laboratory wave flume experiment. Sand erosion, however, was limited in this laboratory study. The attachment and detachment of FIB to sand grains also affects its transport in the foreshore beach environment and the association of FIB with sand grains depends on the sand/sediment characteristics (e.g, fine vs. course grained sand). Haack et al. (2003) suggested that coarse sands compared to fine sands generally have low numbers of FIB and would therefore have little effect on the delivery of bacteria to surface water. While these studies indicate that the foreshore reservoir may be an important nonpoint source of FIB during periods of high wave intensity, the mechanisms by which FIB is transported from the foreshore reservoir to surface waters during these periods remains unclear.

## 2.7 Beach surface water quality models

Previous research has considered how environmental factors impact *E. coli* concentrations in the surface water (e.g. Boehm et al. 2002, Enns et al. 2012, Fujioka et al. 1981, Whitman et al. 2004). Understanding these relationships have been applied to develop statistical and mechanistic models for predicting beach water quality, and for improving conceptual understanding of FIB fate at beaches, respectively. Statistical models allow for decision makers to open or close a beach much earlier than obtaining water quality results, which in turn can help to better protect public health. Utilizing statistical models is also cost efficient, potentially eliminating the need for collecting frequent water quality samples. Nevers and Whitman (2005) developed statistical models based on environmental data such as wave height, turbidity, precipitation, and wind direction. Due to the influence of wind direction on the impact of a nearby river on the beach water quality, this study developed separate models for days with prevailing onshore and offshore winds. The models developed predicted *E. coli* concentrations with 64% and 32% of the variance explained by

onshore and offshore winds, respectively. While *E. coli* concentrations were predicted fairly accurately during periods with onshore winds, when the source of bacteria (nearby river) was known, the models were not able to predict the water quality during periods of offshore winds, when the source of bacteria was not as clear.

Mechanistic models which consider fundamental physical and biological processes are considerably more complex have generally been developed to improve conceptual understanding of FIB concentrations and the fate of bacteria at beaches. These models have been able to evaluate the influence of different sources on water quality at numerous beach types (Feng et al. 2013, Ge et al. 2012, Zhu et al. 2011). As mentioned in Section 2.6, Feng et al. (2013) paired a mechanistic model with field data to show that foreshore and offshore sand was a leading source of FIB at their field site. The foreshore reservoir is not included in most statistical predictive surface water quality models. Safaie et al. (2016) used a combined modeling approach which uses insights derived from mechanistic models to improve statistical models and vice versa. Both statistical and mechanistic models require further development and will likely become a key tool for beach managers and health departments to protect human health at recreational beaches (Lušić et al. 2017).

## 2.8 Methods to sample the foreshore reservoir

As mentioned previously, recreational water quality guidelines worldwide do not currently require health units to sample sand or pore water as part of their monitoring programs (Health Canada 2012, United States Environmental Protection Agency 2012). Currently there is no single preferred method for the collection and analysis of sand/sediment or pore water samples (Solo-Gabriele et al. 2015). Various studies have quantified FIB in the foreshore reservoir by collecting unsaturated surface sand samples (Ferguson et al. 2005, Halliday et al. 2014, Whitman and Nevers 2003) or saturated sand samples (Byappanahalli et al. 2006, Desmarais et al. 2002, Hernandez et al. 2014), while other studies only sample the pore water (Boehm et al. 2004, Edge et al. 2010, Whitman et al. 2006). In addition to different components of the foreshore reservoir being sampled, there are also multiple methods being used to sample each component in the reservoir (i.e. unsaturated sand, saturated sand and pore water) (Table 2.2). Studies have sampled unsaturated surface sand by skimming the surface of the sand (Le Fevre and Lewis 2003, Lee et al. 2006, Staley et al. 2015), using a core (Gast et al. 2011, Kinzelman and McLellan 2009, Phillips et al. 2011), and taking

composite samples (Ishii et al. 2007, Shah et al. 2011, Yamahara et al. 2007). Saturated sand has been sampled using a core (Alm et al. 2003, Desmarais et al. 2002, Russell et al. 2012) or a shovel to reach the saturated sand (Byappanahalli et al. 2006, Staley et al. 2015, Whitman et al. 2006). Groundwater wells (Boehm et al. 2004), drive point samplers (Skalbeck et al. 2010, Vogel et al. 2016), and shovels (Edge et al. 2010, Whitman et al. 2006) have been used to access pore water for sampling. Within a given collection approach there are many other variables that can affect the quantification of *E. coli* in the reservoir including subsampling, amount of sample collected, size and type of sampling equipment used (i.e. length and diameter of core, sterile spoons), and sampling depth.

Table 2.2. Summary of sample collection methods used in select studies focused on FIB abundance in beach sand and pore water. Reproduced from Vogel et al. (2017).

Method	Study	Special Notes
Drive	Skalbeck et al.	
Point*	(2010)	N/A
	Boehm et al.	
Well	(2004)	Collected 3 m below surface of sand (in upper surficial aquifer)
	Edge et al. (2010)	Collected at water table
	Staley et al.	
Shovel	(2015)	Collected at water table
	Whitman et al.	
	(2006)	Post hole digger (d=12 cm) was used to reach the groundwater

\*Drive Point samplers are well point systems that can be used to sample groundwater at depth while providing minimal disruption to the aquifer (Charette and Allen 2006)

Method	Study	Special Notes
	Lee et al. (2006)	Collected top 1 cm
	Staley et al. (2015)	Collected using a core (2.5 cm) to scrape top layer
	Wright et al. (2011)	Collected top 1-3 cm using stainless steel spoons
Skimming	Ferguson et al.	
Skiilling	(2005)	Collected top 2 cm
	Enns et al. (2012)	Collected top 5 cm using stainless steel spoons
	Le Fevre and Lewis	
	(2003)	Collected top 3-5 cm using open-ended 50 mL syringe
	Desmarais et al.	Collected using a steel auger fitted with a plastic sleeve (l=30 cm), divided into 5 cm
Core	(2002)	sections
	Alm et al. (2003)	Collected using a core (d=9 cm, l=20 cm), divided into 5 cm sections
	Skalbeck et al.	Collected using a stainless steel probe with liners (d=2.8 cm), divided into nonspecified
	(2010)	sections
	Russell et al. (2012)	Collected using a polycarbonate tube (d=3.8 cm, l=100 cm), divided into 1-10 cm sections

	Edge and Hill	
	(2007)	Collected using a plastic core (d=2.5 cm, l=15 cm)
	Gast et al. (2011)	Collected using an acrylic core (l=100 cm), subsampled using 15 mL tubes
	Halliday et al.	
	(2014)	Collected using 50 mL Falcon tubes (l=5 cm)
	Hernandez et al.	
	(2014)	Collected using a core (d=2.54 cm, l=4 cm)
	Kinzelman and	
	McLellan (2009)	Collected using an AMS soil recovery probe with butyrate liners (d=2.8 cm)
	Phillips et al. (2011)	Collected using a PVC core (d=2.54 cm, l=16 cm)
	Whitman and	
	Nevers (2003)	Collected using a slotted AMS soil recovery probe with butyrate liners (d=2.3 cm, l=30 cm)
	Yamahara et al.	
	(2007)	Composite of 10 homogenized 25 cm <sup>3</sup> subsamples
Composite	Boehm et al. (2014)	Composite of 10 homogenized 25 cm <sup>3</sup> subsamples
	Ishii et al. (2007)	Composite of 3 homogenized 30 g subsamples taken from the top 10 cm using core tubes
	Shah et al. (2011)	Composite of 160 cores that were 3 cm deep

## Saturated Sand Sampling Methods

Method	Study	Special Notes
	Desmarais et al.	
	(2002)	Collected using a steel auger fitted with a plastic sleeve (l=30 cm), divided into 5 cm sections
	Alm et al. (2003)	Collected using a core (d=9 cm, l=20 cm), divided into 5 cm sections
	Skalbeck et al.	
Core	(2010)	Collected using a stainless steel probe with liners (d=2.8 cm), divided into nonspecified sections
	Russell et al.	
	(2012)	Collected using a polycarbonate tube (d=3.8 cm, l=100 cm), divided into 1-10 cm sections
	Edge and Hill	
	(2007)	Collected using a plastic core (d=2.5 cm, l=15 cm)
	Gast et al. (2011)	Collected using an acrylic core (l=100 cm), subsampled using 15 mL tubes
	Hernandez et al.	
	(2014)	Collected using a core (d=20 cm, l=40 cm), subsampled into 0.5 cm sections

Shovel	Staley et al. (2015)	Collected by scraping a core (d=2.5 cm) at bottom of hole
	Whitman et al. (2006)	Collected 10 g of sand in 5 cm intervals beneath the water table
	Byappanahalli et al. (2006)	Collected sand from bottom of the hole using a posthole digger
	Hernandez et al.	
	(2014)	Collected by scraping a spoon along the side of hole at 5 cm intervals beneath the water table

In addition to multiple techniques being used to sample sand for FIB, there are also several methods used to quantify that amount of FIB in a given sample. A study conducted by Boehm et al. (2009b) compared several different methods of extractions and different reagents. They compared 22 different methods of extraction and reported only slight differences between methods. They suggested that the easiest method with the highest FIB recovery consisted of 2 minutes of hand shaking within phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) or deionized water, a 30 second settling time, a one-rinse step, and a 10:1 eluant volume to sand weight ratio (100mL eluant: 10g sand) (Boehm et al. 2009b).

The accuracy of the different sampling methods in quantifying FIB in the foreshore reservoir, which is an important source of FIB to surface water as well as represents a potential direct human health risk (Heaney et al. 2012), is not understood. A standard method for quantifying the abundance of FIB in the foreshore reservoir (saturated and unsaturated foreshore sand with interstitial pore water) and the potential impact the reservoir may have on FIB concentrations in adjacent surface waters needs to be developed to evaluate the associated risk (Solo-Gabriele et al. 2015).

## 2.9 Conclusion

Although extensive research has been conducted to understand the abundance and transport of FIB in the beach environment including the role of foreshore sand and pore water as a potential reservoir and source of FIB to surface water, there are still major knowledge gaps. Currently, there are no standard methods for collection and analysis of sand and sediment samples. In order to properly compare FIB concentrations between studies and beaches, a standard method for the collection and analysis of beach sands needs to be adopted, like that of surface water sampling/analysis. According to the Guidelines for Canadian Recreational Water Quality (Health Canada 2012), there is not presently any conclusive evidence that there is a relationship between contact with beach sands and illness among beachgoers, therefore a guideline value cannot be established for the concentrations of FIB in beach sand. Further, it is thought that routine monitoring of sand samples for FIB is currently not practical and is therefore not recommended. If foreshore beach sands prove to be an important source of FIB for surrounding water, then a

practical method of quantifying this risk needs to be developed to improve prediction of beach closures. When quantifying the potential risk to human health based on FIB concentrations, we need to take into account the possibility of accumulation and even replication of FIB in the foreshore reservoir at beaches. If FIB are able to thrive in the environment then they may not be the best indicator of sewage contamination or other health risks. Understanding short- and long-term variations in FIB concentrations and the environmental factors that affect this variation can also lead to better water quality prediction methods. Further, the transport processes that FIB undergo between the surface water and foreshore reservoir and the physical and environmental factors that affect these processes are currently not well understood. For example, the mechanisms controlling the release of FIB from the foreshore reservoir to the surface water are unclear. It is crucial to enhance understanding of the mechanisms that control the fate of FIB in beach sand and the transport of FIB between the surface water, pore water, and sand to improve the prediction of beach advisories. This is needed to improve water quality advisory models and thus help beach managers warn the public of contamination before the event, as opposed to 24-48 hours afterwards as is current practice.

## 2.10 References

- Ackerman, D., Weisberg, S.B., 2003. Relationship between rainfall and beach bacterial concentrations on Santa Monica Bay beaches. Journal of Water Health 1 (2), 85-89.
- Alm, E.W., Burke, J., Hagan, E., 2006. Persistence and potential growth of the fecal indicator bacteria, Escherichia coli, in shoreline sand at Lake Huron. Journal of Great Lakes Research 32 (2), 401-405.
- Alm, E.W., Burke, J., Spain, A., 2003. Fecal indicator bacteria are abundant in wet sand at freshwater beaches. Water Research 37 (16), 3978-3982.
- Alm, E.W., Daniels-Witt, Q.R., Learman, D.R., Ryu, H., Jordan, D.W., Gehring, T.M., Santo Domingo, J., 2018. Potential for gulls to transport bacteria from human waste sites to beaches. Science of The Total Environment 615, 123-130.
- Austin, J.C., Anderson, S.T., Courant, P.N., Litan, R.E., 2007. Healthy Waters, Strong Economy: The Benefits of Restoring the Great Lakes Ecosystem. The Brookings Institution, Washington, D.C..
- Bai, S., Lung, W.-S., 2005. Modeling sediment impact on the transport of fecal bacteria. Water Research 39 (20), 5232-5240.
- Balarajan, R., Raleigh, V.S., Yuen, P., Wheeler, D., Machin, D., Cartwright, R., 1991. Health risks associated with bathing in sea water. BMJ: British Medical Journal 303 (6815), 1444.
- Barthram, J., Rees, G., 2000. Monitoring Bathing Waters: A Practical Guide to the Design and Implementation of Assessments and Monitoring Programmes. E & FN Spon, London.
- Beversdorf, L., Bornstein- Forst, S., McLellan, S., 2007. The potential for beach sand to serve as a reservoir for Escherichia coli and the physical influences on cell die- off. Journal of Applied Microbiology 102 (5), 1372-1381.
- Bitton, G., Harvey, R.W., 1992. Transport of pathogens through soils and aquifers. Environmental Microbiology 19, 103-123.
- Blanchard, D.C., Syzdek, L.D., 1972. Concentration of bacteria in jet drops from bursting bubbles. Journal of Geophysical Research 77 (27), 5087-5099.
- Boehm, A.B., Ashbolt, N.J., Colford, J.M., Dunbar, L.E., Fleming, L.E., Gold, M.A., Hansel, J.A., Hunter, P.R., Ichida, A.M., McGee, C.D., 2009a. A sea change ahead for recreational water quality criteria. Journal of Water and Health 7 (1), 9-20.
- Boehm, A.B., Grant, S., Kim, J., Mowbray, S., McGee, C., Clark, C., Foley, D., Wellman, D., 2002. Decadal and shorter period variability of surf zone water quality at Huntington Beach, California. Environmental Science & Technology 36 (18), 3885-3892.
- Boehm, A.B., Griffith, J., McGee, C., Edge, T.A., Solo- Gabriele, H.M., Whitman, R., Cao, Y., Getrich, M., Jay, J.A., Ferguson, D., 2009b. Faecal indicator bacteria enumeration in beach sand: a comparison study of extraction methods in medium to coarse sands. Journal of Applied Microbiology 107 (5), 1740-1750.
- Boehm, A.B., Shellenbarger, G.G., Paytan, A., 2004. Groundwater discharge: potential association with fecal indicator bacteria in the surf zone. Environmental Science & Technology 38(13), 3558-3566.
- Boehm, A.B., Yamahara, K.M., Sassoubre, L.M., 2014. Diversity and transport of microorganisms in intertidal sands of the California coast. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 80(13), 3943-3951.

- Bonilla, T.D., Nowosielski, K., Cuvelier, M., Hartz, A., Green, M., Esiobu, N., McCorquodale, D.S., Fleisher, J.M., Rogerson, A., 2007. Prevalence and distribution of fecal indicator organisms in South Florida beach sand and preliminary assessment of health effects associated with beach sand exposure. Marine Pollution Bulletin 54 (9), 1472-1482.
- Bradford, S.A., Bettahar, M., Simunek, J., Van Genuchten, M.T., 2004. Straining and attachment of colloids in physically heterogeneous porous media. Vadose Zone Journal 3 (2), 384-394.
- Bradford, S.A., Simunek, J., Walker, S.L., 2006. Transport and straining of E. coli O157: H7 in saturated porous media. Water Resources Research 42 (12).
- Bradford, S.A., Simunek, J., Bettahar, M., van Genuchten, M.T., Yates, S.R., 2003. Modeling colloid attachment, straining, and exclusion in saturated porous media. Environmental Science & Technology 37 (10), 2242-2250.
- Bradford, S.A., Yates, S.R., Bettahar, M., Simunek, J., 2002. Physical factors affecting the transport and fate of colloids in saturated porous media. Water Resources Research 38 (12).
- Brown, K.I., Boehm, A.B., 2016. Transport of fecal indicators from beach sand to the surf zone by recirculating seawater: laboratory experiments and numerical modeling. Environmental Science & Technology 50 (23), 12840-12847.
- Byappanahalli, M., Fowler, M., Shively, D., Whitman, R., 2003. Ubiquity and persistence of Escherichia coli in a midwestern coastal stream. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69 (8), 4549-4555.
- Byappanahalli, M.N., Whitman, R.L., Shively, D.A., Ting, W.E., Tseng, C.C., Nevers, M.B., 2006. Seasonal persistence and population characteristics of Escherichia coli and enterococci in deep backshore sand of two freshwater beaches. Journal of Water and Health 4 (3), 313-320.
- Davies, C.M., Long, J.A., Donald, M., Ashbolt, N.J., 1995. Survival of fecal microorganisms in marine and freshwater sediments. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 61(5), 1888-1896.
- Derjaguin, B., Landau, L., 1993. Theory of the stability of strongly charged lyophobic sols and of the adhesion of strongly charged particles in solutions of electrolytes. Progress in Surface Science 43 (1-4), 30-59.
- Desmarais, T.R., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Palmer, C.J., 2002. Influence of soil on fecal indicator organisms in a tidally influenced subtropical environment. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 68 (3), 1165-1172.
- Dewailly, E., Poirier, C., Meyer, F.M., 1986. Health hazards associated with windsurfing on polluted water. American Journal of Public Health 76 (6), 690-691.
- Dorfman, M., Haren, A., 2014. Testing the Waters, Natural Resources Defense Council, New York. https://www.nrdc.org/sites/default/files/ttw2014.pdf.
- Edge, T., Hill, S., Seto, P., Marsalek, J., 2010. Library-dependent and library-independent microbial source tracking to identify spatial variation in faecal contamination sources along a Lake Ontario beach (Ontario, Canada). Water Science & Technology 62 (3), 719-727.
- Edge, T.A., Hill, S., 2007. Multiple lines of evidence to identify the sources of fecal pollution at a freshwater beach in Hamilton Harbour, Lake Ontario. Water Research 41 (16), 3585-3594.

- Enns, A.A., Vogel, L.J., Abdelzaher, A.M., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Plano, L.R., Gidley, M.L., Phillips, M.C., Klaus, J.S., Piggot, A.M., Feng, Z., 2012. Spatial and temporal variation in indicator microbe sampling is influential in beach management decisions. Water Research 46 (7), 2237-2246.
- Feng, Z., Reniers, A., Haus, B.K., Solo- Gabriele, H.M., 2013. Modeling sediment- related enterococci loading, transport, and inactivation at an embayed nonpoint source beach. Water Resources Research 49 (2), 693-712.
- Ferguson, D., Moore, D., Getrich, M., Zhowandai, M., 2005. Enumeration and speciation of enterococci found in marine and intertidal sediments and coastal water in southern California. Journal of Applied Microbiology 99 (3), 598-608.
- Fleisher, J.M., Fleming, L.E., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Kish, J.K., Sinigalliano, C.D., Plano, L., Elmir, S.M., Wang, J.D., Withum, K., Shibata, T., 2010. The BEACHES Study: health effects and exposures from non-point source microbial contaminants in subtropical recreational marine waters. International Journal of Epidemiology 39 (5), 1291-1298.
- Foppen, J.W.A., 2007. Transport of Escherichia coli in saturated porous media. Doctoral Dissertation, Vrije University, Amsterdam.
- Fujioka, R.S., Hashimoto, H.H., Siwak, E.B., Young, R.H., 1981.Effect of sunlight on survival of indicator bacteria in seawater. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 41 (3), 690-696.
- Fujioka, R.S., Tenno, K., Kansako, S., 1988. Naturally occurring fecal coliforms and fecal streptococci in Hawaii's freshwater streams. Toxicity Assessment 3 (5), 613-630.
- Gast, R.J., Elgar, S., Raubenheimer, B., 2015. Observations of transport of bacterial-like microspheres through beach sand. Continental Shelf Research 97, 1-6.
- Gast, R.J., Gorrell, L., Raubenheimer, B., Elgar, S., 2011. Impact of erosion and accretion on the distribution of enterococci in beach sands. Continental Shelf Research 31 (14), 1457-1461.
- Ge, Z., Whitman, R.L., Nevers, M.B., Phanikumar, M.S., Byappanahalli, M.N., 2012. Nearshore hydrodynamics as loading and forcing factors for Escherichia coli contamination at an embayed beach. Limnology and Oceanography 57 (1), 362-381.
- Grant, S., Sanders, B., Boehm, A., Redman, J., Kim, J., Mrše, R., Chu, A., Gouldin, M., McGee, C., Gardiner, N., 2001. Generation of enterococci bacteria in a coastal saltwater marsh and its impact on surf zone water quality. Environmental Science & Technology 35 (12), 2407-2416.
- Haack, S.K., Fogarty, L.R., Wright, C., 2003. Escherichia coli and enterococci at beaches in the Grand Traverse Bay, Lake Michigan: sources, characteristics, and environmental pathways. Environmental Science & Technology 37 (15), 3275-3282.
- Halliday, E., Gast, R.J., 2011. Bacteria in beach sands: An emerging challenge in protecting coastal water quality and bather health. Environmental Science & Technology 45 (2), 370-379.
- Halliday, E., Ralston, D.K., Gast, R.J., 2014. Contribution of sand-associated enterococci to dry weather water quality. Environmental Science & Technology 49 (1), 451-458.
- Hartz, A., Cuvelier, M., Nowosielski, K., Bonilla, T., Green, M., Esiobu, N., McCorquodale, D., Rogerson, A., 2008. Survival potential of and enterococci in subtropical beach sand: Implications for water quality managers. Journal of Environmental Quality 37 (3), 898-905.

- Harvey, R.W., 1997. Microorganisms as tracers in groundwater injection and recovery experiments: a review. FEMS Microbiology Reviews 20 (3-4), 461-472.
- Harvey, R.W., Garabedian, S.P., 1991. Use of colloid filtration theory in modeling movement of bacteria through a contaminated sandy aquifer. Environmental Science & Technology 25 (1), 178-185.
- Health Canada, 2012. Guidelines for Canadian Recreational Water Quality, Third Edition, Water, Air and Climate Change Bureau, Healthy Environments and Consumer Safety Branch, Health Canada, Ottawa, ON.
- Heaney, C.D., Sams, E., Dufour, A.P., Brenner, K.P., Haugland, R.A., Chern, E., Wing, S., Marshall, S., Love, D.C., Serre, M., 2012. Fecal indicators in sand, sand contact, and risk of enteric illness among beachgoers. Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.) 23 (1), 95.
- Heaney, C.D., Sams, E., Wing, S., Marshall, S., Brenner, K., Dufour, A.P., Wade, T.J., 2009. Contact with beach sand among beachgoers and risk of illness. American Journal of Epidemiology 170 (2), 164-172.
- Hernandez, R.J., Hernandez, Y., Jimenez, N.H., Piggot, A.M., Klaus, J.S., Feng, Z., Reniers, A., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., 2014. Effects of full-scale beach renovation on fecal indicator levels in shoreline sand and water. Water Research 48, 579-591.
- Hlavsa, M.C., Roberts, V.A., Kahler, A.M., Hilborn, E.D., Mecher, T.R., Beach, M.J., Wade, T.J., Yoder, J.S., 2015. Outbreaks of illness associated with recreational water — United States, 2011–2012. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR), Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 64 (24), 668-672.
- Irvine, K., Pettibone, G., 1993. Dynamics of indicator bacteria populations in sediment and river water near a combined sewer outfall. Environmental Technology 14 (6), 531-542.
- Ishii, S., Hansen, D.L., Hicks, R.E., Sadowsky, M.J., 2007. Beach sand and sediments are temporal sinks and sources of Escherichia coli in Lake Superior. Environmental Science & Technology 41 (7), 2203-2209.
- Johnson, P.R., Sun, N., Elimelech, M., 1996. Colloid transport in geochemically heterogeneous porous media: Modeling and measurements. Environmental Science & Technology 30 (11), 3284-3293.
- Kaplan, D.I., Bertsch, P.M., Adriano, D.C., Miller, W.P., 1993. Soil-borne mobile colloids as influenced by water flow and organic carbon. Environmental Science & Technology 27 (6), 1193-1200.
- Keswick, B.H., Wang, D.S., Gerba, C.P., 1982. The use of microorganisms as ground- water tracers: A review. Ground Water 20 (2), 142-149.
- Kim, J.H., Grant, S.B., McGee, C.D., Sanders, B.F., Largier, J.L., 2004. Locating sources of surf zone pollution: A mass budget analysis of fecal indicator bacteria at Huntington Beach, California. Environmental Science & Technology 38 (9), 2626-2636.
- Kinzelman, J.L., McLellan, S.L., 2009. Success of science-based best management practices in reducing swimming bans—a case study from Racine, Wisconsin, USA. Aquatic Ecosystem Health & Management 12 (2), 187-196.
- Kinzelman, J.L., McLellan, S.L., Daniels, A.D., Cashin, S., Singh, A., Gradus, S., Bagley, R., 2004. Non-point source pollution: determination of replication versus persistence of Escherichia coli in surface water and sediments with correlation of levels to readily measurable environmental parameters. Journal of Water and Health 2 (2), 103-114.
- Le Fevre, N., Lewis, G., 2003. The role of resuspension in enterococci distribution in water at an urban beach. Water Science & Technology 47 (3), 205-210.

- Lee, C.M., Lin, T.Y., Lin, C.-C., Kohbodi, G.A., Bhatt, A., Lee, R., Jay, J.A., 2006. Persistence of fecal indicator bacteria in Santa Monica Bay beach sediments. Water Research 40 (14), 2593-2602.
- Levine, I., 2009. Physical Chemistry, McGraw Hill, New York, NY.
- Lušić, D.V., Kranjčević, L., Maćešić, S., Lušić, D., Jozić, S., Linšak, Z., Bilajac, L., Grbčić, L., Bilajac, N., 2017. Temporal variations analyses and predictive modeling of microbiological seawater quality. Water Research 119, 160-170.
- Matthess, G., Pekdeger, A., 1985. Survival and transport of pathogenic bacteria and viruses in groundwater, in Groundwater Quality (Environmental Science and Technology Series); Ward, C.H., Giger, W., McCarty, P., Eds.; John Wiley & Sons: New York, NY.
- Molnar, I.L., Johnson, W.P., Gerhard, J.I., Willson, C.S., O'Carroll, D.M., 2015. Predicting colloid transport through saturated porous media: A critical review. Water Resources Research 51 (9), 6804-6845.
- Morrison, A.M., Coughlin, K., Shine, J.P., Coull, B.A., Rex, A.C., 2003. Receiver operating characteristic curve analysis of beach water quality indicator variables. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69 (11), 6405-6411.
- National Oceanographic Atmospheric Administration, 2005. Economic Statistics for NOAA. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. Washington, D.C..
- Nevers, M.B., Whitman, R.L., 2005. Nowcast modeling of Escherichia coli concentrations at multiple urban beaches of southern Lake Michigan. Water Research 39 (20), 5250-5260.
- Olyphant, G.A., Whitman, R.L., 2004. Elements of a predictive model for determining beach closures on a real time basis: the case of 63rd Street Beach Chicago. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 98 (1-3), 175-190.
- Ontario Ministry of the Environment and Energy, 1999. Water Management Policies, Guidelines, Provincial Water Quality Objectives. Queens Printer for Ontario, Toronto, ON.
- Oshiro, R., Fujioka, R., 1995. Sand, soil, and pigeon droppings: sources of indicator bacteria in the waters of Hanauma Bay, Oahu, Hawaii. Water Science and Technology 31 (5-6), 251-254.
- Phillips, M.C., Feng, Z., Vogel, L.J., Reniers, A.J., Haus, B.K., Enns, A.A., Zhang, Y., Hernandez, D.B., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., 2014. Microbial release from seeded beach sediments during wave conditions. Marine Pollution Bulletin 79 (1), 114-122.
- Phillips, M.C., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Reniers, A.J., Wang, J.D., Kiger, R.T., Abdel-Mottaleb, N., 2011. Pore water transport of enterococci out of beach sediments. Marine Pollution Bulletin 62 (11), 2293-2298.
- Piggot, A.M., Klaus, J.S., Johnson, S., Phillips, M.C., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., 2012. Relationship between enterococcal levels and sediment biofilms at recreational beaches in South Florida. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 78 (17), 5973-5982.
- Powelson, D.K., Mills, A.L., 1996. Bacterial enrichment at the gas-water interface of a laboratory apparatus. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 62 (7), 2593-2597.
- Russell, T.L., Yamahara, K.M., Boehm, A.B., 2012. Mobilization and transport of naturally occurring enterococci in beach sands subject to transient infiltration of seawater. Environmental Science & Technology 46 (11), 5988-5996.
- Ryan, J., Illangasekare, T., Litaor, M., Shannon, R., 1998. Particle and plutonium mobilization in macroporous soils during rainfall simulations. Environmental Science & Technology 32 (4), 476-482.

- Safaie, A., Wendzel, A., Ge, Z., Nevers, M.B., Whitman, R.L., Corsi, S.R., Phanikumar, M.S., 2016. Comparative evaluation of statistical and mechanistic models of Escherichia coli at beaches in southern Lake Michigan. Environmental Science & Technology 50 (5), 2442-2449.
- Saiers, J.E., Lenhart, J.J., 2003. Colloid mobilization and transport within unsaturated porous media under transient- flow conditions. Water Resources Research 39 (1).
- Sakthivadivel, R., 1966. Theory and Mechanism of Filtration of Non-Colloidal Fines Through a Porous Medium. Hydraulic Engineering Laboratory, University of California, Berkeley, CA.
- Schäfer, A., Ustohal, P., Harms, H., Stauffer, F., Dracos, T., Zehnder, A.J., 1998. Transport of bacteria in unsaturated porous media. Journal of Contaminant Hydrology 33 (1), 149-169.
- Shah, A., Abdelzaher, A., Phillips, M., Hernandez, R., Solo- Gabriele, H., Kish, J., Scorzetti, G., Fell, J., Diaz, M., Scott, T., 2011. Indicator microbes correlate with pathogenic bacteria, yeasts and helminthes in sand at a subtropical recreational beach site. Journal of Applied Microbiology 110 (6), 1571-1583.
- Shang, J., Flury, M., Chen, G., Zhuang, J., 2008. Impact of flow rate, water content, and capillary forces on in situ colloid mobilization during infiltration in unsaturated sediments. Water Resources Research 44 (6).
- Shibata, T., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Fleming, L.E., Elmir, S., 2004. Monitoring marine recreational water quality using multiple microbial indicators in an urban tropical environment. Water Research 38 (13), 3119-3131.
- Skalbeck, J.D., Kinzelman, J.L., Mayer, G.C., 2010. Fecal indicator organism density in beach sands: Impact of sediment grain size, uniformity, and hydrologic factors on surface water loading. Journal of Great Lakes Research 36 (4), 707-714.
- Smith, P., Carroll, C., Wilkins, B., Johnson, P., Gabhainn, S., Smith, L., 1999. The effect of wind speed and direction on the distribution of sewage- associated bacteria. Letters in Applied Microbiology 28 (3), 184-188.
- Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Harwood, V.J., Kay, D., Fujioka, R.S., Sadowsky, M.J., Whitman, R.L., Wither, A., Caniça, M., Carvalho da Fonseca, R., Duarte, A., 2015. Beach sand and the potential for infectious disease transmission: Observations and recommendations. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 96, 101-120.
- Staley, Z.R., Edge, T.A., 2016. Comparative microbial source tracking methods for identification of fecal contamination sources at Sunnyside Beach in the Toronto region area of concern. Journal of Water and Health 14 (5), 839-850.
- Staley, Z.R., Vogel, L., Robinson, C., Edge, T.A., 2015. Differential occurrence of Escherichia coli and human Bacteroidales at two Great Lakes beaches. Journal of Great Lakes Research 41, 530-535.
- Standridge, J. H., Delfino, J. J., Kleppe, L. B., Butler, R., 1979. Effect of waterfowl (Anas platyrhynchos) on indicator bacteria populations in a recreational lake Madison, Wisconsin. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 38 (3), 547–550.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2012. Recreational Water Quality Criteria. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D.C..
- Verwey, E.J.W., Overbeek, J.T.G., 1955. Theory of the stability of lyophobic colloids. Journal of Colloid Science 10 (2), 224-225.

- Vogel, L.J., O'Carroll, D.M., Edge, T.A., Robinson, C.E., 2016. Release of Escherichia coli from Foreshore Sand and Pore Water during Intensified Wave Conditions at a Recreational Beach. Environmental Science & Technology 50 (11), 5676-5684.
- Wade, T.J., Calderon, R.L., Brenner, K.P., Sams, E., Beach, M., Haugland, R., Wymer, L., Dufour, A.P., 2008. High sensitivity of children to swimming-associated gastrointestinal illness: results using a rapid assay of recreational water quality. Epidemiology 19 (3), 375-383.
- Whitman, R.L., Nevers, M.B., 2003. Foreshore sand as a source of Escherichia coli in nearshore water of a Lake Michigan beach. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69 (9), 5555-5562.
- Whitman, R.L., Nevers, M.B., 2008. Summer E. coli patterns and responses along 23 Chicago beaches. Environmental Science & Technology 42 (24), 9217-9224.
- Whitman, R.L., Nevers, M.B., Korinek, G.C., Byappanahalli, M.N., 2004. Solar and temporal effects on Escherichia coli concentration at a Lake Michigan swimming beach. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 70 (7), 4276-4285.
- Whitman, R.L., Shively, D.A., Pawlik, H., Nevers, M.B., Byappanahalli, M.N., 2003.
   Occurrence of Escherichia coli and enterococci in Cladophora (Chlorophyta) in nearshore water and beach sand of Lake Michigan. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69 (8), 4714-4719.
- Whitman, R.L., Shively, D.A., Ting, W., Tseng, C., Nevers, M., 2006. Seasonal persistence and population characteristics of Escherichia coli and enterococci in deep backshore sand of two freshwater beaches. Journal of Water and Health 4, 313-320.
- Wright, M., Abdelzaher, A., Solo-Gabriele, H., Elmir, S., Fleming, L., 2011. The inter-tidal zone is the pathway of input of enterococci to a subtropical recreational marine beach. Water Science & Technology 63 (3), 542-549.
- Wu, M.Z., O'Carroll, D.M., Vogel, L.J., Robinson, C.E., 2017. Effect of low energy waves on the accumulation and transport of fecal Indicator bacteria in sand and pore water at freshwater beaches. Environmental Science & Technology 51 (5), 2786-2794.
- Xu, S., Liao, Q., Saiers, J.E., 2008. Straining of nonspherical colloids in saturated porous media. Environmental Science & Technology 42 (3), 771-778.
- Yamahara, K.M., Layton, B.A., Santoro, A.E., Boehm, A.B., 2007. Beach sands along the California coast are diffuse sources of fecal bacteria to coastal waters. Environmental Science & Technology 41 (13), 4515-4521.
- Yamahara, K.M., Walters, S.P., Boehm, A.B., 2009. Growth of enterococci in unaltered, unseeded beach sands subjected to tidal wetting. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 75 (6), 1517-1524.
- Yamahara, K.M., Sassoubre, L.M., Goodwin, K.D., Boehm, A.B., 2012. Occurrence and persistence of bacterial pathogens and indicator organisms in beach sand along the California coast. Applied and environmental microbiology, 78 (6), 1733-1745.
- Zhu, X., Wang, J.D., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Fleming, L.E., 2011. A water quality modeling study of non-point sources at recreational marine beaches. Water Research 45 (9), 2985-2995.

## Chapter 3

# 3 Temporal variations in the abundance of fecal indicator bacteria in foreshore sand and porewater at freshwater beaches

Laura J. Vogel<sup>a</sup>, Thomas A. Edge<sup>b</sup>, Denis M. O'Carroll<sup>a,c</sup>, and Clare E. Robinson<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario N6A 3K7, Canada

<sup>b</sup> Environment Canada, Center for Inland Waters, Burlington, Ontario L7S 1A1, Canada

<sup>c</sup> School of Civil and Environmental Engineering, Connected Water Institute, University of New South Wales, Manly Vale NSW 2093, Australia

Keywords: Recreational water quality, fecal indicator bacteria. *E. coli*, beaches, accumulation, temporal, replication, growth

## 3.1 Introduction

High fecal indicator bacteria (FIB) in surface water leads to water quality advisories at recreational beaches, adversely impacting their recreational and economic value (Austin et al. 2007). In the United States and Canada, beach water quality advisories are issued based on concentrations of FIB (E. coli and enterococci at freshwater and marine beaches, respectively) in water samples taken between ankle- to chest-depth surface water (Enns et al. 2012, Health Canada 2012, United States Environmental Protection Agency 2012). Over the last decade it has been widely shown that FIB concentrations are often elevated in foreshore beach sand and pore water (herein referred to as the foreshore reservoir) on a bulk volumetric basis relative to adjacent surface water (e.g. Kinzelman et al. 2004, Russell et al. 2012, Staley et al. 2015, Whitman and Nevers 2003). Particularly at non-point source beaches, the foreshore reservoir can be an important source of FIB to nearshore surface waters thereby triggering a beach water quality advisory (Bai and Lung 2005, Edge and Hill 2007, Vogel et al. 2016, Yamahara et al. 2007). This reservoir may also represent a potential direct health risk to beachgoers (Heaney et al. 2009, Solo-Gabriele et al. 2015). While the influence of environmental factors (e.g., wave conditions, rainfall, temperature, UV, and currents) on surface water FIB concentrations has been well studied in order to improve prediction of beach water quality exceedances (e.g. Enns et al. 2012, Nevers and Whitman 2005, Olyphant and Whitman 2004, Vogel et al. 2016, Whitman et al. 2004), there is limited understanding of how FIB concentrations (sand and pore water) in the foreshore reservoir vary at long- (seasonal) and short-term (daily) time scales. Further, the environmental factors that affect this variability including the relationship between FIB concentrations in the surface water and foreshore reservoir are unclear (Russell et al. 2012, Whitman and Nevers 2003). Understanding short-term (daily) and long-term (seasonal) variability in foreshore sand and pore water FIB concentrations is needed to better understand environmental factors affecting FIB accumulation in the reservoir, when and if the reservoir will affect the surface water quality, and to improve management strategies for reducing microbial contamination at beaches.

The accumulation of FIB in the foreshore reservoir is complex due to the numerous sources which can contribute FIB to the reservoir, dynamic interactions and subsequent exchange of FIB between the foreshore reservoir and nearshore surface waters, and the various factors that affect the persistence of FIB in pore water and sand. Ishii et al. (2007) suggested that in addition to point

sources (raw sewage, sanitary sewer and storm water discharge) that may contribute FIB to the foreshore reservoir, surface water exchange across the sediment-water interface in the foreshore area may deliver FIB from surface water to sand. Gast et al. (2015) and Wu et al. (2017) supported this theory with field experiments using microspheres and modelling, respectively. Gast et al. (2015) observed that microspheres, which they used as surrogates for bacteria, were able to be transported from their initial location (0.05 m below the sand surface just below the predicted high tide line) vertically to the groundwater below the sand by surface water infiltration. Wu et al. (2017) showed that FIB may accumulate in the foreshore reservoir under low energy wave conditions due to the continuous exchange of water across the sediment-water interface in the foreshore area. They found that the amount of FIB that can accumulate in the foreshore reservoir over a few days of low energy wave conditions may be sufficient to trigger a beach water quality advisory if the foreshore sand is subsequently eroded to the surface water if waves increase and become erosive. At marine beaches, Yamahara et al. (2009) found that in addition to tide-induced water exchange across the sediment-water interface delivering FIB to intertidal sands, periodic tidal wetting can stimulate growth of FIB in beach sands. Once delivered to the foreshore reservoir, the sand provides FIB protection from solar radiation which is known to increase die off rates in surface water (Enns et al. 2012, Whitman et al. 2004). Higher nutrient availability (Byappanahalli et al. 2006, Whitman et al. 2003) and favorable moisture conditions (15-19% (Beversdorf et al. 2007)) and temperature (Staley et al. 2016) in foreshore sands has also been shown to increase the persistence of FIB in the foreshore reservoir. During high energy (erosive) wave conditions FIB can be released from the foreshore sand and pore water to adjacent surface water through sand erosion as well as pore water flow (Gast et al. 2011, Vogel et al. 2016).

A few studies have examined seasonal variability in *E. coli* concentrations in the foreshore reservoir. Studies conducted at Great Lakes (freshwater) beaches have observed an increase in *E. coli* concentrations in the foreshore reservoir during the early summer months (Ishii et al. 2007, Whitman and Nevers 2003, Whitman et al. 1999). From sampling three times per week between April-September, Whitman and Nevers (2003) reported a gradual increase in *E. coli* concentrations in foreshore sand and surface water at a Lake Michigan beach throughout the sampling season with concentrations correlated to the air temperature (Whitman and Nevers 2003). Ishii et al. (2007) observed increasing *E. coli* concentrations in the foreshore reservoir as well as in the upshore sand and surface water from April through July with concentrations at all locations

declining after August. They observed relatively high *E. coli* concentrations in the fall compared to the early spring, even though the temperatures in the beach sediment were similar. Ishii et al. (2007) attributed this to *E. coli* persisting and continuing to accumulate in the reservoir through the summer months. However, this study was limited by only having one sampling event per month at one beach. Short term (daily) variability was not captured in these aforementioned studies and as such the influence environmental forcing on short term variability on FIB levels in the reservoir are unknown. Further, there is a need to evaluate the dynamics of FIB concentrations in the foreshore reservoir at different beach types (urban/rural, point source/non-point source, etc.) to more broadly understand and generalize factors controlling the temporal variability.

Temporal variability of FIB in the foreshore reservoir can be affected by varying sources of FIB (e.g. birds, stormwater inputs), environmental factors (e.g. rainfall, waves, temperature) as well as by changing bacterial persistence and potential growth. The possibility of growth or replication of FIB in the sand has been widely debated. Studies have investigated the possibility of E. coli (Alm et al. 2006, Byappanahalli et al. 2006, Craig et al. 2004, Hartz et al. 2008, Staley et al. 2016) and enterococci (Hartz et al. 2008, Yamahara et al. 2009) replication for different sand and experimental conditions (Table 3.1). Microcosm studies have shown an increase in FIB in beach sand after the addition of external stimuli (e.g. seawater, plankton, algae) or after alteration of the sand (e.g. autoclaving, inoculation). For example, Byappanahalli et al. (2006) observed significant growth of *E. coli* after supplementing foreshore sand with lake plankton and incubating at 23.5 °C. Hartz et al. (2008) showed a 2-log increase in enterococci concentrations after inoculating rinsed and autoclaved foreshore sand but did not observe the same replication in their control which was inoculated into unsterilized sand. This latter study suggests that although FIB have the potential to replicate in beach sand, it is unlikely to be significant in unsterile, natural sand due to competition effects and predation. In contrast, Yamahara et al. (2009) observed significant replication of enterococci in unseeded, unsterilized sand subjected to tidal wetting (intermittent wetting of the sand with filtered seawater). Similar to Hartz et al. (2008), their unaltered control microcosms that were not subjected to tidal wetting showed limited enterococci replication. Staley et al. (2016) conducted microcosm experiments at 15° and 28° C using unsterilized foreshore beach sand from a fine and coarse sand beach inundated with sterile beach water and inoculated with eight strains of E. coli. While this study observed some persistence of E. coli in the lower temperature microcosms, no significant increase in concentrations were observed. Although several studies

have shown that replication is possible, none have observed significant increases (replication) of FIB concentrations in unaltered, unseeded, natural beach sand not subjected to any external stimuli (e.g. added moisture or nutrients).

Paper	Site	Sterilized	Seed	Amendments	Incubation temperature	Findings
Alm 2006	Port Huron, Michigan	Yes	Two <i>E</i> . <i>coli</i> isolates from field site	N/A	19°C	Significant increase (~4 logs) within 2 days; persistence observed through experiment (36 d)
Byappanahalli 2006	Michigan City, Indiana	No	N/A	Plankton (microcrustacea ns, rotifers, and filamentous algae)	23.5°C	Significant increase (~2 logs) in <i>E. coli</i> numbers over 24 hours; no increase in control; persistence observed in control for 5 days and through experiment (7 d) for amended sand
Hartz 2008	Hollywoo d, Florida	Yes	Six isolates of <i>E. coli</i> and enterococ ci	Sterile seawater, sea salts	20°C, 30°C, 40°C	Significant increase (~2 log) within 2-3 days and faster increased observed in highest temperature; no increase in nonseeded control; persistence observed through experiment (14 d)
Staley 2016	Burlington and Toronto, Ontario	No	Eight isolates of <i>E. coli</i> from field site	Autoclaved lake water	15°C, 28°C	No significant increase in <i>E.</i> <i>coli</i> concentrations; persistence observed through experiment (28 d); persistence was higher for lower temperature and finer grain sand
Standridge 1979	Madison, Wisconsin	Yes	Isolated fecal coliform organism s	N/A	20-22 C	Significant increase (over 1 log) in fecal coliform concentrations in 4 days; persistence observed through experiment (28 d)
Yamahara 2009	Lovers Point, California	No	N/A	Intermittent "watering" with filtered seawater	20°C	Significant increase (~1 log) in enterococci concentrations after "watering" period and no increase in control; persistence observed through experiment (45 d)
Yamahara 2012	Lovers Point, California	No	Primary treated sewage	Intermittent "watering" with filtered seawater	22°C	Significant increase (~1 log) in enterococci concentrations after "watering" period and no increase in control; persistence observed through experiment (30 d); faster decay observed in control

 Table 3.1: Summary of experimental studies that have investigated FIB replication in beach sand.

The objective of this study was to evaluate long (seasonal) and short (daily) variability in sand and pore water *E. coli* concentrations in the foreshore reservoir and surface water at freshwater beaches including evaluating the influence of different environmental forcing. Due to its potential control on the abundance of FIB in the reservoir, the study also evaluates if growth/replication of FIB is possible in unaltered natural foreshore beach sand. This study focuses on temporal variability in *E. coli* concentrations at three freshwater beaches on the Great Lakes that are impacted by different external sources of FIB, and have different sediment conditions. While many findings may be relevant for marine beaches, temporal variability at marine beaches are expected to differ due to tidal effects, salinity effects and in some occasions more constant (seasonal) surface water temperatures. The findings from this study are needed to improve understanding of the processes controlling the accumulation of FIB in the foreshore reservoir and its subsequent release to surface water, and thus to ultimately improve water quality predictions at recreational beaches.

#### 3.2 Methods

#### 3.2.1 Field site descriptions

Three exposed beaches (directly open to the lake) located in southern Ontario, Canada were selected for this study based on their different physical conditions and different external *E. coli* sources. Ipperwash Beach on Lake Huron is a fine sand non-urban beach ( $d_{50}$  [median diameter] = 0.16 mm; Coefficient of Uniformity [CU, calculated as  $d_{60}/d_{10}$  based on sieve size analysis] = 2.13) with frequent high wave conditions due to its north-west exposure. This beach has been studied extensively by Malott et al. (2016), Vogel et al. (2016), and Vogel et al. (2017). Approximately 23% (Strybos et al. 2011) of weekly waist-depth surface water samples collected from May-August 2005-2010 exceeded Ontario's recreational water quality standard (100 CFU/100mL) (Ontario Ministry of the Environment and Energy 1999). The foreshore beach slope (measured from ankle- to waist-depth surface water) was 0.022. The average groundwater hydraulic gradient at the beach site is around 0.014 (Malott et al. 2016). Ausable River enters Lake Huron approximately 6 km northeast of Ipperwash Beach and is a possible source of *E. coli* to the beach. Marie Curtis Beach is a coarse sand urban beach ( $d_{50} = 1.37$  mm; CU = 6.84) on Lake Ontario with an average groundwater hydraulic gradient of 0.002. The

foreshore and offshore beach slopes were measured to be 0.12 and 0.091, respectively. Marie Curtis Beach was posted 61% of the time during summer months from 1995-2003 based on waist-depth surface water samples (Environmental Defence 2004). The major sources of *E. coli* at this beach are Canada geese, ducks, and other birds (Beach Guides 2015) as well as Etobicoke Creek which discharges to Lake Ontario at the southern extent of the beach (~ 200 m from the sampling location). Burlington Beach is a fine sand urban beach ( $d_{50} = 0.20$  mm; CU = 1.49) on Lake Ontario. The foreshore and offshore beach slopes were measured to be 0.12 and 0.010, respectively. Water quality data from the summer months of 2009-2016 indicate that 23% (Lake Ontario Waterkeeper 2016) of waist-depth surface water samples exceeded Ontario's water quality standard of 100 CFU/100mL. Approximately 1.5 km from the field site is the Burlington Bay Canal which links Lake Ontario to Hamilton Harbor and may be a source of *E. coli* to the beach. Due to groundwater dewatering at a nearby construction site, groundwater was flowing landward at the beach (foreshore hydraulic gradient ranged from -0.005 to -0.01).

Climate data (temperature, rainfall, and wind), creek discharge, wave data (height and direction), and beach slope were collected for the three field sites if available. *E. coli* concentrations were compared to average daily temperature from the previous day, total rainfall and creek discharge added from the previous day and sampling day, and averaged wind and wave data from the previous 12 hours. These parameters have previously been found to correlate with *E. coli* concentrations in the surface water at beaches (e.g. Gast et al. 2011, Morrison et al. 2003, Olyphant and Whitman 2004, Phillips et al. 2014).

#### 3.2.2 Field sample collection methods

Water and samples were collected biweekly at Burlington Beach and Marie Curtis Beach from May through November in 2013 and 2014 and at least once a week at Ipperwash Beach from May through November 2014. Daily sampling was also conducted at Ipperwash Beach from July 7, 2015 – August 10, 2015. The total number of samples collected at each beach is indicated in Table 3.2. For all sampling events at all beaches, pore water and sand samples were collected 1 m from the shoreline in three cross shore transects, approximately 10 m apart. Along each transect, pore water samples were collected by carefully digging a hole with a shovel, minimizing any sand collapsing into the hole, and collecting the pore water with a 250 mL bottle. Saturated sand was

collected by scraping a sterile spoon at the bottom of the hole and placing the sand in a sterile Whirlpak bag. The sand was collected after the pore water to avoid disturbing the sand and releasing sand-attached *E. coli* to the pore water. Unsaturated sand was collected by scraping a sterile spoon along the top 1 cm of undisturbed surface sand around the hole and placing the sand in a sterile Whirlpak bag. Approximately 100 g of sand was collected for each sample. These sampling techniques are discussed further by Vogel et al. (2017). Surface water samples were also collected along each transect at ankle- and waist-depth with 500 mL sterile propylene bottles.

#### 3.2.3 Replication and die-off experiments

Approximately 10 kg of foreshore unsaturated sand was collected on September 1, 2015 at Ipperwash Beach and on June 27, 2016 from Burlington Beach and Marie Curtis Beach with the sand placed in a separate aseptic plastic container. The top 5 cm of surface sand was collected approximately 1 m from the shoreline. Within 4 hours of collection, the sand in each container was homogenized and a subsample (25 g) was taken for *E. coli* enumeration and moisture content. The containers were then placed in an environmental chamber (Thermo Scientific, Forma Environmental Chamber, Model: 3940) set to average summer conditions (20.2 °C and 74% humidity). The containers were covered with a lid but were not sealed. For each experiment, four sand samples (25 g) were collected from the container in the environmental chamber every 6-72 hours for approximately one month for *E. coli* enumeration (three sand samples) and moisture content measurements (one sand sample). Sand from Ipperwash beach was analyzed on 15 occasions, while sand from Marie Curtis Beach and Burlington Beach were analyzed on 12 occasions.

		Foreshore reserv	Surface water		
	Unsaturated sand	Saturated sand	Pore water (log	Ankle-depth (log	Waist-depth (log
	(log CFU/g)	(log CFU/g)	CFU/100mL)	CFU/100mL)	CFU/100mL)
Ipperwash	$0.83\pm0.07$	$0.30\pm0.05$	$2.33\pm0.05$	$1.89\pm0.04$	$1.51\pm0.04$
n	227	245	254	199	208
Burlington	$1.20\pm0.11$	$0.46 \pm 0.11$	$2.42\pm0.08$	$2.09\pm0.09$	$1.19\pm0.08$
n	76	72	77	78	78
Marie Curtis	$1.10\pm0.10$	$0.62\pm0.07$	$2.75\pm0.07$	$2.23\pm0.09$	$2.12\pm0.09$
n	69	69	72	71	71

Table 3.2: Mean  $\pm$  standard error *E. coli* concentrations at the three field sites. The sample number (n) is provided for all sand and water samples.

#### 3.2.4 E. coli enumeration

Water and samples collected in the field were stored on ice, transported to the laboratory, and analyzed within 6 hours of sampling. Sand samples collected from the environmental chamber for the replication and die-off experiments were analyzed immediately upon subsampling. Water samples were filtered (0.45  $\mu$ m pore size) using standard membrane filtration methods (American Public Health Association 1999) and placed on chromogenic differential coliform (DC) agar, supplemented with cefsulodin. The filter and agar were incubated at 44.5 °C for 20 hours and *E. coli* was then enumerated as colony forming units (CFU/100mL). To extract *E. coli* from the sand, 25 g from each homogenized sand sample was placed in a sterile polypropylene bottle, diluted with 250 mL of phosphate-buffered saline, hand shaken for 2 minutes, and allowed to settle for 2 minutes (Boehm et al. 2009b). The supernatant was then processed using the same method as the water samples. For the field samples, an additional 25 g from each sand sample was used to quantify the sand moisture content to enable expression of sand-associated *E. coli* as CFU/g of dry sand.

#### 3.2.5 Statistics

Statistical analysis was performed on data using Microsoft Excel, Minitab (Minitab Inc., San Jose, CA), and Matlab (MathWorks, Natick, MA). *E. coli* concentrations were log-transformed prior to
analysis. ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc were used to analyze seasonal trends for Ipperwash Beach. Kruskal-Wallis was used to analyze seasonal trends for Marie Curtis Beach and Burlington Beach because of the smaller sample sizes. Pearson correlation analysis was performed to compare *E. coli* concentrations and environmental factors and test for linear relationships. A two-sample t-test was used when comparing *E. coli* concentrations between two components (pore water, saturated sand, unsaturated sand) of the foreshore reservoir. Results were considered significant with a p-value of less than 0.05.

## 3.3 Results and Discussion

#### 3.3.1 Seasonal variations in the foreshore reservoir and surface water

Understanding seasonal variations in FIB concentrations in the foreshore sand and pore water at beaches is needed to improve beach water quality management programs including prediction of surface water quality exceedances, especially at nonpoint source beaches for which a relationship between foreshore reservoir and surface water concentrations has been shown (Alm et al. 2006, Vogel et al. 2017). E. coli concentrations in the foreshore reservoir (unsaturated sand, saturated sand and pore water) at the two urban beaches, Burlington Beach and Marie Curtis Beach, did not follow a distinct temporal trend over the sampling season (i.e., did not increase as air temperatures increased and then decrease with air temperature) (May – November; Figure 3.1b,d). For example, although the unsaturated sand concentrations increased from May-August and then decreased from August-November, the only statistically significant finding was that E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand were statistically lower in November than the rest of the season (p<0.001 for Marie Curtis (except for May), p=0.003 for Burlington). Similarly pore water E. coli concentrations at Marie Curtis Beach were statistically higher in June and August than in November (p=0.036), whereas at Burlington Beach pore water concentrations were statistically lower in September compared to August and October (p=0.005). While no statistical differences were observed for monthly saturated sand *E. coli* concentrations at Marie Curtis Beach (p=0.116), saturated sand concentrations were statistically lower in September than in June and August (p=0.025) at Burlington Beach.

*E. coli* concentrations in the surface water at Burlington Beach increased during the initial summer months with peak *E. coli* concentrations in the waist-depth water observed in August and in the ankle-depth water in October (Figure 3.1a). *E. coli* concentrations in the surface water during the peak months (October for ankle-depth and August for waist-depth) were statistically higher than concentrations in the months before (May, June, July) or after (November) this period (p<0.001 for ankle- and waist-depth). The high concentration of *E. coli* observed in the ankle-depth water towards the end of the monitoring season at Burlington Beach may be due to large amounts of algae observed in the shallow lake water during September and October. Unlike at Burlington Beach, Marie Curtis Beach did not follow a consistent trend with respect to *E. coli* concentrations in the surface water (Figure 3.1c). There was no statistical difference observed in *E. coli* concentrations in the surface water from June through November (p=0.097 for ankle-depth and p=0.299 for waist-depth samples). The month of May was not included in the statistical analysis since it only consisted of one sampling event.



Figure 3.1: Average monthly *E. coli* concentrations in the surface water and foreshore reservoir at the three field sites. Air temperatures and concentrations at Ipperwash Beach were an average of 2014 and 2015, while temperatures and concentrations at Marie Curtis Beach and Burlington Beach were an average of 2013 and 2014. The number above each bar indicates the sample number for each month. Error bars indicate +/- one standard error from the mean. Ankle-depth, waist-depth, and pore water concentrations are reported in log CFU/100mL. Unsaturated sand and saturated sand concentrations are reported in log CFU/g.

Pearson correlation analyses were performed to evaluate how the temporal variability in E. coli concentrations at a given beach may relate to different environmental conditions (temperature, waves, rainfall). E. coli concentrations and environmental data for individual sampling dates were used for this analysis and correlation plots are included in Appendix A. The distance between ankle- and waist-depth water was relatively small at Marie Curtis Beach (~ 10 m) due to a steep offshore beach slope. The smaller distance between ankle- and waist-depth led to a greater connectivity between the two locations, resulting in ankle- and waist-depth E. coli concentrations that were not significantly different from each other (p=0.417) and similar results when comparing the concentrations to environmental conditions. E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand as well as ankle- and waist-depth surface water at Marie Curtis Beach were found to be positively correlated with mean daily temperature – as temperature increased higher E. coli concentrations were observed (r=0.457, p=0.002 for unsaturated sand; r=0.570, p=0.007 for ankle-depth; and r=0.457, p=0.042 for waist-depth). This suggests that *E. coli* may persist or replicate (as discussed in a later section) when the temperature is warmer, especially in the sand. Seasonal temperature variations do not seem to control E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand at Marie Curtis Beach, as seen with the lack of seasonal trends, but this result suggests that perhaps short-term temperature variations may be more important. E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand and ankle- and waist-depth water were also significantly correlated, indicating a link between the foreshore reservoir and surface water (r=0.611, p=0.002 for ankle-depth; and r=0.584, p=0.003 for waist-depth). Unsaturated sand E. coli concentrations were negatively correlated with wave height (r=-0.740, p=0.036) suggesting that E. coli may be released from the foreshore reservoir to surface water during period of high wave activity. This wash out from wave action is explored further in Chapter 4 (Gast et al. 2011, Vogel et al. 2016).

Ankle-depth water *E. coli* concentrations were also correlated with the flow rate in Etobicoke Creek (r=0.411, p=0.046), which discharges to the lake at the southern extent of the beach. Contributions from external inputs (Etobicoke Creek) may explain the absence of distinct seasonal trends in surface water *E. coli* concentrations at Marie Curtis Beach, in contrast to the other two beaches. There were no other correlations between *E. coli* concentrations and environmental conditions at Marie Curtis Beach.

There were no correlations between mean daily environmental conditions (e.g. temperature, rainfall, wave height) and unsaturated sand or ankle-depth surface water *E. coli* concentrations at Burlington Beach. This may have been due to large amounts of algae covering the unsaturated sand and shallow surface water, possibly serving as a barrier from the external environment, toward the end of the 2014 season. *E. coli* is known to accumulate at high concentrations in algae, with average concentrations at ten Great Lakes beaches measured to be 5.3 log CFU/g (Whitman

with average concentrations at ten Great Lakes beaches measured to be 5.3 log CFU/g (Whitman et al. 2003). Waist-depth surface water concentrations, however, were positively correlated with wave height (r=0.530, p=0.020), suggesting that there is a relationship between the shoreline/foreshore reservoir and nearshore surface waters. There was also a significant positive correlation between the saturated sand and temperature (r=0.496, p=0.019) at Burlington Beach. While concentrations in the unsaturated sand may also have been influenced by the temperature, this correlation may have been masked by the accumulation of algae. Further, a positive correlation was observed between rainfall and saturated sand (r=0.698, p<0.001) as well as pore water *E. coli* concentrations (r=0.471, p=0.023) at Burlington Beach, but not between unsaturated sand (r=0.275, p=0.228) or surface water concentrations (r=0.106, p=0.640 and r=-0.225, p=0.314 for ankle- and waist-depth water, respectively). This finding suggests that rainfall may transport *E. coli* from unsaturated surface sand down to the saturated zone at Burlington Beach. This phenomena has been observed previously by Russell et al. (2012) and Gast et al. (2015).

In contrast to Burlington Beach and Marie Curtis Beach, *E. coli* concentrations in all components of the foreshore reservoir and surface water at Ipperwash Beach showed a distinct seasonal trend with concentrations increasing from May to August and decreasing from August to November (Figure 3.1e,f). The ankle-depth surface water, unsaturated sand, saturated sand, and pore water concentrations were all statistically higher in July, August, and September than in other months (p<0.001 for all), corresponding to the months with the highest average temperature. Additionally, *E. coli* concentrations in the unsaturated sand were statistically higher in August than in July or September (p<0.001). This is consistent with the monthly trends in unsaturated sand concentrations shown by Ishii et al. (2007). Waist-depth surface water *E. coli* concentrations showed the same trend but were not significantly different during those months.

*E. coli* concentrations in the unsaturated and saturated sand as well as ankle-depth surface water were positively correlated with mean daily temperature (r=0.675, p<0.001 for unsaturated sand;

r=0.327, p=0.012 for saturated sand, and r=0.448, p<0.001 for ankle-depth surface water). This positive correlation, especially in the unsaturated sand, may be attributed to increased persistence and possibly replication of E. coli in the sand with increasing temperature (Ishii et al. 2007). This is explored further in the Section 3.3.2. A positive correlation was observed between E. coli concentrations in the ankle-depth surface water and temperature (r=0.448, p<0.001) as well as rainfall (r=0.218, p=0.004). The correlation between ankle-depth water concentrations and temperature may be due to the association between the ankle-depth concentrations and unsaturated sand concentrations (r=0.383, p=0.001). Increasing E. coli concentrations in the ankle-depth water with increasing rainfall may be related to increased discharge from Ausable Creek which is located 6 km north of the beach site. While some studies have shown that the foreshore reservoir can be a source of FIB to nearshore surface waters (Phillips et al. 2014, Vogel et al. 2016, Whitman and Nevers 2003) others have shown that surface waters may be a source of FIB to the foreshore reservoir (Byappanahalli et al. 2006, Ge et al. 2012, Wu et al. 2017). We expect it is likely a combination of both, with a continuous exchange of FIB, however, further work is needed to determine which typically occurs first (e.g. high FIB concentrations in nearshore surface water or in the foreshore reservoir). Vogel et al. (2016) and Vogel et al. (2017) discuss the strong connection between ankle-depth water and unsaturated sand, especially at Ipperwash Beach. Vogel et al. (2016) attributed an increase in surface water E. coli concentrations to increased wave conditions coupled with high E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand at Ipperwash Beach. However, a linear correlation was not observed between wave height and ankle-depth water concentrations during this study (r<0.001, p=0.997). This may be due to the complexity and non-linearity of the relationship between E. coli concentrations in the surface water and wave height as observed in (Vogel et al. 2016). Even though there was not a linear correlation between the ankle-depth concentrations and wave height, they may still be related but dependent on other factors including E. coli concentrations in the foreshore reservoir and time since previous increased wave activity (Vogel et al. 2016). No significant correlations were observed between waist-depth water and rainfall, wave height or temperature. Due to the smaller offshore beach slope, there was a considerable amount of distance between ankle- and waist-depth at Ipperwash Beach (~30 m) compared to Marie Curtis Beach (~10 m). Therefore, the foreshore reservoir may not play as important of a role in waist-depth E. coli concentrations at Ipperwash Beach.

#### 3.3.2 Growth/persistence experiments

To better understand temporal trends in foreshore *E. coli* concentrations, growth/persistence experiments were conducted on unaltered and unseeded sand from the three field sites. A large increase in *E. coli* concentrations was observed in the unaltered and unseeded unsaturated sand collected from Ipperwash Beach (Figure 3.2a). Within 46 hours, the concentration of *E. coli* in the sand increased from 3.50 log CFU/g  $(3.3x10^2 \text{ CFU/g})$  to 4.71 log CFU/g  $(5.1x10^4 \text{ CFU/g})$ . *E. coli* concentrations remained above the initial concentration (C<sub>0</sub>) for at least 15 days and were above the detection limit (>1 CFU/g or >0 log CFU/g) for over 30 days. This substantial increase in FIB concentrations in unaltered unseeded beach sand without external stimuli (e.g., addition of nutrients, intermittent rewetting) has not been observed previously.

In the experiment using Burlington Beach unsaturated sand, E. coli concentrations increased within the first 6 hours from 2.77 log CFU/g ( $5.8 \times 10^2$  CFU/g) to 2.90 log CFU/g ( $8.0 \times 10^2$  CFU/g) (Figure 3.2). Concentrations decreased below the initial concentration within 27 hours. There was no observed increase in E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand collected from Marie Curtis Beach (Figure 3.2). The greater replication observed in the unsaturated sand from Ipperwash Beach may have been due to its higher initial moisture content (20%) compared to the unsaturated sand collected at Burlington Beach (4%) and Marie Curtis Beach (5%). Beversdorf et al. (2007) showed that E. coli thrives at a moisture content of around 15-19%. The average moisture contents in the foreshore unsaturated sand over the two-year sampling period were 23%, 11%, and 17% at Ipperwash Beach, Marie Curtis Beach, and Burlington Beach, respectively. Due to the continuous movement of the shoreline, moisture content in the unsaturated sand can vary greatly (standard deviations for the moisture content in the unsaturated sand were 2%, 6%, and 6% for Ipperwash Beach, Burlington Beach, and Marie Curtis Beach, respectively over the field sampling period). Three days before sand was collected from Ipperwash Beach there was significant wave activity which may have increased the moisture content of foreshore sands, whereas Burlington Beach and Marie Curtis Beach had calm conditions (low wave height) for 11 days prior to sampling, resulting in drier foreshore sand. Moisture content decreased during the experiments because there was no external water source (Figure 3.2b). Overall the experimental results suggest that E. coli replication is possible and probable in unsaturated foreshore sand at Ipperwash Beach. In moister conditions, E. coli replication may also occur in the unsaturated foreshore sand at Burlington Beach and Marie

Curtis Beach. If FIB are able to replicate in sand at beaches then they may no longer indicate an increased presence of pathogens and would therefore no longer be a suitable indicator for fecal contamination.



Figure 3.2: Replication and die-off of *E. coli* using unsaturated sand collected at the three field sites. (a) *E. coli* concentrations are normalized using the initial concentration  $(C/C_0)$  Error bars indicate +/- one standard error from the mean. (b) Moisture content measured at each sampling time.

#### 3.3.3 High frequency variations in foreshore reservoir concentrations

Daily sampling was conducted at Ipperwash Beach for 34 days to evaluate high frequency temporal dynamics in foreshore reservoir *E. coli* concentrations. Samples were taken each day from the same location, measured from a permanent benchmark. The location of the shoreline was relatively consistent over the sampling period with 85% of the foreshore reservoir samples taken 1 m landward of the shoreline on that given day. Due to lakeward and landward movement of the shoreline, 15% of the foreshore reservoir samples were taken either further landward of the shoreline (up to 5 m landward) or from a location that was inundated. Statistical analyses showed no clear correlations between the various environmental factors (waves, rainfall, wind) and the *E. coli* concentrations. Most importantly, the sampling results indicate that *E. coli* concentrations in

the unsaturated sand and ankle-depth water exhibit significant temporal variability (Figure 3.3). This conflicts with prior assumptions that have been made regarding FIB levels in the foreshore reservoir. For example, in interpreting their seasonal results, Ishii et al. (2007) suggested that E. *coli* persisted and accumulated in foreshore sand through the summer months, resulting in higher concentrations in the fall months than in the spring months. Although our long-term (seasonal) data agrees with Ishii et al. (2007) (Figure 3.1), the daily sampling data suggests that the temporal dynamics are considerably more complex. As seen in Figure 3.3, on Day 30 unsaturated sand concentrations decreased to  $0.28 \pm 0.07 \log \text{CFU/g}$  and then four days later on Day 34, E. coli concentrations increased to  $3.18 \pm 0.12 \log \text{CFU/g}$ . Similar large increases in E. coli concentrations were observed throughout the measurement period. The near depletion of E. coli in the unsaturated sand following by relatively large concentrations four days later is not consistent with a gradual seasonal accumulation. The low concentrations observed in the unsaturated sand on Day 30 were preceded by three days of high wave activity ( $H_{rms} > 0.55$  m with onshore winds – set based on the upper quartile of observed  $H_{rms}$  for 5-year wave data at the site) – erosion associated with this wave activity may have washed E. coli out of the foreshore reservoir. This pattern also occurred on Day 3 and Day 16 and was observed previously by Vogel et al. (2016). Between Days 30-34 the waves were smaller ( $H_{rms} < 0.55$ ) with mostly offshore winds. As such *E. coli* concentrations may have rapidly increased over this period due to surface water infiltration and associated accumulation of E. coli in the foreshore sand (Wu et al. 2017) or replication. The results from the persistence/growth experiments presented above support the importance of replication as they showed that E. coli concentrations can increase over 2 logs within 46 hours in unsaturated sand from Ipperwash Beach. E. coli concentrations in the ankle-depth water followed a similar trend to the unsaturated sand concentrations, indicating a link between the surface water and sand, except after some extended periods of high waves when E. coli concentrations decreased or remained approximately the same in the sand while concentrations in the surface water increased (e.g. Days 8-9, 11-12, and 26-27). These trends were not statistically significant due to the low sample size. This is consistent with Vogel et al. (2016) who showed E. coli in the foreshore reservoir were transported to the surface water during periods of high wave activity.



Figure 3.3: Average daily *E. coli* concentrations in the unsaturated sand and ankle-depth surface water at Ipperwash Beach from 7 July – 10 August 2015. Error bars indicate +/- one standard error from the mean. Black circles indicate wave height ( $H_{rms}$ ) when winds were coming onshore while grey circles indicate wave height when winds were offshore. Significant wave activity was defined as a period of at least 3 hours with wave height ( $H_{rms}$ ) > 0.55 m and onshore winds. Blue shaded bars indicate a day where at least 2 mm of rainfall was recorded with the number on the bars indicating the daily rainfall amount.

## 3.4 Conclusion

- *E. coli* concentrations in the surface water at three beach sites were found to depend on environmental conditions (e.g. temperature, rainfall, waves) and external sources (nearby creeks). Surface water concentrations at Ipperwash Beach and Burlington Beach were related to the foreshore reservoir concentrations and followed a seasonal trend with concentrations highest during the warmest months. The surface water *E. coli* concentrations at Marie Curtis Beach, which were related to the foreshore reservoir concentrations concentrations as well as flow discharge from Etobicoke Creek, did not follow any seasonal trend.
- The foreshore reservoir and ankle-depth surface water at Burlington Beach were covered with a layer of algae toward the end of the bathing season, resulting in little to no correlations between *E. coli* concentrations and environmental factors. This may be an issue when trying to use predictive models based on environmental data to predict water quality exceedances at beaches with algae or other debris that can serve as a barrier between the external environment and *E. coli* in the water/sand.
- A steeper offshore beach slope led to smaller distances between ankle- and waist-depth water at Marie Curtis Beach which resulted in similar *E. coli* concentrations at the two depths. Understanding variations in beach slope and the resulting *E. coli* patterns offshore is important, especially in some U.S. states where Health Departments currently sample at various depths (e.g. ankle-depth, knee-depth, waist depth) as part of their advisory program (Enns et al. 2012).
- A large increase in *E. coli* concentrations was observed in unaltered and unseeded unsaturated sand from Ipperwash Beach. This has not previously been observed. If FIB are able to thrive and even replicate in sand at beaches then they may no longer indicate an increased presence of pathogen contamination. It is critical to understand the potential for FIB to replicate in the beach environment if they are to be used as indicator bacteria for human health at recreational beaches. In addition, statistical and mechanistic models of FIB at beaches need to consider replication, however, more work is needed to parameterize these models as significant FIB growth was only observed at one of the three beaches included in this study.

• Short-term (daily) sampling showed significant temporal variability, indicating that prior studies which have suggested long-term (seasonal) accumulation of *E. coli* in the foreshore reservoir may not be correct and that short-term temporal dynamics are considerably more complex.

# Acknowledgements

This research was supported by a Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) Strategic Grant (STPGP 430698-12). We would like to thank Dr. Zach Staley as well as the members of RESTORE and summer students who assisted with the collection and processing of samples.

# 3.5 References

- Alm, E.W., Burke, J., Hagan, E., 2006. Persistence and potential growth of the fecal indicator bacteria, Escherichia coli, in shoreline sand at Lake Huron. Journal of Great Lakes Research 32 (2), 401-405.
- American Public Health Association, 1999. Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater. American Public Health Association, Washington D.C.
- Austin, J.C., Anderson, S.T., Courant, P.N., Litan, R.E., 2007. Healthy Waters, Strong Economy: The Benefits of Restoring the Great Lakes Ecosystem. The Brookings Institution, Washington, D.C.
- Bai, S., Lung, W.-S., 2005. Modeling sediment impact on the transport of fecal bacteria. Water Research 39 (20), 5232-5240.
- Beach Guides, 2015. Marie Curtis Park Beach. BeachGuides.org. http://www.beachguides.org/beaches/marie-curtis-park-beach/86/.
- Beversdorf, L., Bornstein- Forst, S., McLellan, S., 2007. The potential for beach sand to serve as a reservoir for Escherichia coli and the physical influences on cell die- off. Journal of Applied Microbiology 102 (5), 1372-1381.
- Boehm, A.B., Griffith, J., McGee, C., Edge, T.A., Solo- Gabriele, H.M., Whitman, R., Cao, Y., Getrich, M., Jay, J.A., Ferguson, D., 2009b. Faecal indicator bacteria enumeration in beach sand: a comparison study of extraction methods in medium to coarse sands. Journal of Applied Microbiology 107 (5), 1740-1750.
- Byappanahalli, M.N., Whitman, R.L., Shively, D.A., Ting, W.E., Tseng, C.C., Nevers, M.B., 2006. Seasonal persistence and population characteristics of Escherichia coli and enterococci in deep backshore sand of two freshwater beaches. Journal of Water and Health 4 (3), 313-320.
- Craig, D.L., Fallowfield, H.J., Cromar, N.J., 2004. Use of microcosms to determine persistence of Escherichia coli in recreational coastal water and sediment and validation with in situ measurements. Journal of Applied Microbiology 96, 922–930.
- Edge, T.A., Hill, S., 2007. Multiple lines of evidence to identify the sources of fecal pollution at a freshwater beach in Hamilton Harbour, Lake Ontario. Water Research 41 (16), 3585-3594.
- Enns, A.A., Vogel, L.J., Abdelzaher, A.M., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Plano, L.R., Gidley, M.L., Phillips, M.C., Klaus, J.S., Piggot, A.M., Feng, Z., 2012. Spatial and temporal variation in indicator microbe sampling is influential in beach management decisions. Water Research 46 (7), 2237-2246.
- Environmental Defence, 2004. Making Waves: An Evaluation of Toronto's Beaches for the Blue Flag Program. Toronto, ON.

http://www.blueflag.ca/reports/documents/Revised%20PDF%20small\_1.pdf.

- Gast, R.J., Elgar, S., Raubenheimer, B., 2015. Observations of transport of bacterial-like microspheres through beach sand. Continental Shelf Research 97, 1-6.
- Gast, R.J., Gorrell, L., Raubenheimer, B., Elgar, S., 2011. Impact of erosion and accretion on the distribution of enterococci in beach sands. Continental Shelf Research 31 (14), 1457-1461.
- Ge, Z., Whitman, R.L., Nevers, M.B., Phanikumar, M.S., Byappanahalli, M.N., 2012. Nearshore hydrodynamics as loading and forcing factors for Escherichia coli contamination at an embayed beach. Limnology and Oceanography 57 (1), 362-381.

- Hartz, A., Cuvelier, M., Nowosielski, K., Bonilla, T., Green, M., Esiobu, N., McCorquodale, D., Rogerson, A., 2008. Survival potential of and enterococci in subtropical beach sand: Implications for water quality managers. Journal of Environmental Quality 37 (3), 898-905.
- Health Canada, 2012. Guidelines for Canadian Recreational Water Quality, Third Edition, Water, Air and Climate Change Bureau, Healthy Environments and Consumer Safety Branch, Health Canada, Ottawa, ON.
- Heaney, C.D., Sams, E., Wing, S., Marshall, S., Brenner, K., Dufour, A.P., Wade, T.J., 2009. Contact with beach sand among beachgoers and risk of illness. American Journal of Epidemiology 170 (2), 164-172.
- Ishii, S., Hansen, D.L., Hicks, R.E., Sadowsky, M.J., 2007. Beach sand and sediments are temporal sinks and sources of Escherichia coli in Lake Superior. Environmental Science & Technology 41 (7), 2203-2209.
- Kinzelman, J.L., McLellan, S.L., Daniels, A.D., Cashin, S., Singh, A., Gradus, S., Bagley, R., 2004. Non-point source pollution: determination of replication versus persistence of Escherichia coli in surface water and sediments with correlation of levels to readily measurable environmental parameters. Journal of Water and Health 2 (2), 103-114.
- Lake Ontario Water Keeper, 2016. Swim Guide: Beachway Park. Lake Ontario Water Keeper, Burlington, ON. https://www.theswimguide.org/beach/67?set\_language=en.
- Malott, S., O'Carroll, D.M., & Robinson, C.E., 2016. Dynamic groundwater flows and geochemistry in a sandy nearshore aquifer over a wave event. Water Resources Research, 52 (7), 5248-5264.
- Morrison, A.M., Coughlin, K., Shine, J.P., Coull, B.A., Rex, A.C., 2003. Receiver operating characteristic curve analysis of beach water quality indicator variables. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69 (11), 6405-6411.
- Nevers, M.B., Whitman, R.L., 2005. Nowcast modeling of Escherichia coli concentrations at multiple urban beaches of southern Lake Michigan. Water Research 39 (20), 5250-5260.
- Olyphant, G.A., Whitman, R.L., 2004. Elements of a predictive model for determining beach closures on a real time basis: the case of 63rd Street Beach Chicago. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 98 (1-3), 175-190.
- Ontario Ministry of the Environment and Energy, 1999. Water Management Policies, Guidelines, Provincial Water Quality Objectives. Queens Printer for Ontario, Toronto, ON.
- Phillips, M.C., Feng, Z., Vogel, L.J., Reniers, A.J., Haus, B.K., Enns, A.A., Zhang, Y., Hernandez, D.B., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., 2014. Microbial release from seeded beach sediments during wave conditions. Marine Pollution Bulletin 79 (1), 114-122.
- Russell, T.L., Yamahara, K.M., Boehm, A.B., 2012. Mobilization and transport of naturally occurring enterococci in beach sands subject to transient infiltration of seawater. Environmental Science & Technology 46 (11), 5988-5996.
- Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Harwood, V.J., Kay, D., Fujioka, R.S., Sadowsky, M.J., Whitman, R.L., Wither, A., Caniça, M., Carvalho da Fonseca, R., Duarte, A., 2015. Beach sand and the potential for infectious disease transmission: Observations and recommendations. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 96, 101-120.
- Staley, Z.R., Edge, T.A., 2016. Comparative microbial source tracking methods for identification of fecal contamination sources at Sunnyside Beach in the Toronto region area of concern. Journal of Water and Health 14 (5), 839-850.

- Staley, Z.R., Vogel, L., Robinson, C., Edge, T.A., 2015. Differential occurrence of Escherichia coli and human Bacteroidales at two Great Lakes beaches. Journal of Great Lakes Research 41, 530-535.
- Standridge, J. H., Delfino, J. J., Kleppe, L. B., Butler, R., 1979. Effect of waterfowl (Anas platyrhynchos) on indicator bacteria populations in a recreational lake Madison, Wisconsin. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 38 (3), 547–550.
- Strybos, M., Andreae, M., Carroll, E., Van Zwol, J., 2011. Lambton Shores Tributaries Watershed Report. Lake Huron Community Action. https://www.lakehuroncommunityaction.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/Lambton-Shores-Watershed-Report-2011.pdf.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2002. Method 1603: Escherichia coli (E. coli) in Water by Membrane Filtration Using Modified membrane-Thermotolerant Escherichia coli Agar (Modified mTEC). EPA 821-R-02-023, Washington, D.C.
- Vogel, L.J., Edge, T.A., O'Carroll, D.M., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Robinson, C.E., 2017. Evaluation of methods to sample fecal indicator bacteria in foreshore sand and pore water at freshwater beaches. Water Research. 121, 204-212.
- Vogel, L.J., O'Carroll, D.M., Edge, T.A., Robinson, C.E., 2016. Release of Escherichia coli from Foreshore Sand and Pore Water during Intensified Wave Conditions at a Recreational Beach. Environmental Science & Technology 50 (11), 5676-5684.Vogel et al. 2016,
- Whitman, R.L., Nevers, M.B., 2003. Foreshore sand as a source of Escherichia coli in nearshore water of a Lake Michigan beach. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69 (9), 5555-5562.
- Whitman, R.L., Nevers, M.B., Gerovac, P.J., 1999. Interaction of ambient conditions and fecal coliform bacteria in Southern Lake Michigan beach waters: Monitoring program implications. Natural Areas Journal, 19 (2), 166-171.
- Whitman, R.L., Nevers, M.B., Korinek, G.C., Byappanahalli, M.N., 2004. Solar and temporal effects on Escherichia coli concentration at a Lake Michigan swimming beach. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 70 (7), 4276-4285.
- Whitman, R.L., Shively, D.A., Pawlik, H., Nevers, M.B., Byappanahalli, M.N., 2003. Occurrence of Escherichia coli and enterococci in Cladophora (Chlorophyta) in nearshore water and beach sand of Lake Michigan. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69 (8), 4714-4719.
- Wu, M.Z., O'Carroll, D.M., Vogel, L.J., Robinson, C.E., 2017. Effect of low energy waves on the accumulation and transport of fecal Indicator bacteria in sand and pore water at freshwater beaches. Environmental Science & Technology 51 (5), 2786-2794.
- Yamahara, K.M., Layton, B.A., Santoro, A.E., Boehm, A.B., 2007. Beach sands along the California coast are diffuse sources of fecal bacteria to coastal waters. Environmental Science & Technology 41 (13), 4515-4521.
- Yamahara, K.M., Walters, S.P., Boehm, A.B., 2009. Growth of enterococci in unaltered, unseeded beach sands subjected to tidal wetting. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 75 (6), 1517-1524.
- Yamahara, K.M., Sassoubre, L.M., Goodwin, K.D., Boehm, A.B., 2012. Occurrence and persistence of bacterial pathogens and indicator organisms in beach sand along the California coast. Applied and environmental microbiology, 78 (6), 1733-1745.

# Chapter 4

# 4 Release of Escherichia coli from foreshore sand and pore water during intensified wave conditions at a recreational beach

Laura J. Vogel<sup>a</sup>, Denis M. O'Carroll<sup>a</sup>, Thomas A. Edge<sup>b</sup>, and Clare E. Robinson<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario N6A 3K7, Canada

<sup>b</sup> Environment Canada, Center for Inland Waters, Burlington, Ontario L7S 1A1, Canada

Keywords: Groundwater, sand erosion, recreational water quality, fecal indicator bacteria

# 4.1 Introduction

Elevated levels of fecal indicator bacteria (FIB) adversely impact the recreational and economic value of a beach (Austin et al. 2007). FIB such as enterococci at marine beaches, and *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) at freshwater beaches, are used for recreational water quality monitoring. The geometric mean (GM) standard for *E. coli* in Ontario for recreational waters is 100 Colony Forming Units per 100 mL (CFU/100mL) sampled at waist-depth (Ontario Ministry of the Environment and Energy 1999). If the indicator concentration is above this value, then a swimming advisory may be issued. It is well recognized that sand and pore water near the shoreline often act as a reservoir for FIB with sand and pore water FIB concentrations, considered on a bulk volumetric basis, much higher than concentrations in adjacent shallow waters (herein referred to as 'foreshore reservoir', Figure 4.2) (Alm et al. 2006, Boehm et al. 2004, Edge and Hill 2007, Ishii et al. 2007, Skalbeck et al. 2010, Whitman and Nevers 2003). Although FIB can freely reside in pore water, they have a high tendency to associate with sand due to a variety of mechanisms including Derjaguin-Landau-Verwey-Overbeek (DLVO) interactions and film straining (Bradford and Torkzaban 2008, Molnar et al. 2014, Whitman and Nevers 2003).



Figure 4.1: Schematic of the foreshore reservoir and transport mechanisms.

The foreshore reservoir may contribute a significant amount of FIB to the surface water either by sand erosion or interstitial pore water flow and discharge (Figure 4.2) (Alm et al. 2006, Bai and Lung 2005, Boehm et al. 2004, Whitman and Nevers 2003, 2008, Yamahara et al. 2007). The potential importance of these two transport mechanisms remains uncertain. Russell et al. (2012) combined field and laboratory experiments to show that vertical infiltration of surface water through sand may deliver sand-associated FIB to beach groundwater with FIB subsequently released back to surface waters via pore water flow and discharge. In contrast, Phillips et al. (2011) observed limited FIB mobility with 90% of enterococci initially in their column experiments remaining attached to the sand. These contrasting findings are likely due to the different flow and sediment conditions and highlight the need to understand how specific beach conditions (i.e. sediment type) affect the relative importance of the different transport mechanisms in delivering *E. coli* from the foreshore reservoir to surface waters.

Statistical regression models often show a strong correlation between wave height and high FIB concentrations in surface waters (Feng et al. 2013, Ge et al. 2012). FIB may be released from the foreshore reservoir to surface waters during periods of high wave intensity (i.e., increased wave height and frequency) due to increased sand erosion, sediment resuspension, and interstitial pore water flow (Feng et al. 2013, Gast et al. 2011, Ge et al. 2012, Phillips et al. 2014). While prior studies have evaluated FIB variability in surface water in response to environmental variables (e.g., tides, solar radiation, rainfall) (Enns et al. 2012, Whitman and Nevers 2008), there is limited knowledge of FIB variability in both surface water and the foreshore reservoir over periods of high wave intensity, as well as factors controlling this variability.



Figure 4.2: Potential transport pathways for *E. coli* transfer between the foreshore reservoir and adjacent surface water. Sampling locations (P1,P2, P3, ankle and waist) as well as initial (0 hours) sand elevation profile (black line) and water level (blue line) for Event3 are shown. The maximum wave run-up indicates the farthest location landward that the waves reached during Event3. Subset figure in top right hand corner shows the water levels at 0 hours (blue solid line, first sampling time) and 13 hours (blue dashed line, second sampling time), as well as the sand levels at 0 hours (black solid line) and 13 hours (black dotted line) for Event3. The cross-hatched area indicates the area of sand erosion between 0 hours and 13 hours. The locations of surface sand/subsurface sand/ offshore sediment samples (red squares) and pore water/water sample (black cross) for Event3 are shown.

Previous marine studies have investigated the source of FIB to surface water during intensified wave conditions. Gast et al. (2011) showed that FIB in beach sands were redistributed during a period of high wave intensity, however, no simple redistribution pattern (e.g. net movement of sand-associated FIB from foreshore to offshore) was observed. Coupling a model with field measurements, Feng et al. (2013) recently concluded that foreshore sand and offshore sediment resuspension due to waves and tides were the main contributor of FIB to surface water at an embayed beach. Phillips et al. (2014) found that waves were only capable of releasing about 60% of the total bacteria in seeded foreshore sand in a laboratory wave flume experiment. Sand erosion however was limited in this laboratory study. While these studies indicate that the foreshore reservoir may be an important nonpoint source of FIB during periods of high wave intensity, the mechanisms by which FIB are transported from the foreshore reservoir to surface waters during these periods remains unclear.

This paper presents data from three field events at a freshwater beach that provide insight into the variability of *E. coli* concentrations in surface water and the foreshore reservoir in response to varying wave conditions. Periods of high wave intensity (defined by significant wave height  $[H_{sig}]$  being larger than a threshold wave height) occurred during each field event. A mass balance is conducted to determine the relative contribution of sand erosion to the release of *E. coli* from the foreshore reservoir to surface water for all field events. Finally, correlations between sand, pore water, and surface water concentrations are compared for the fine sand study beach and for a coarse sand-cobble beach to infer how the mechanisms by which *E. coli* are released from the foreshore reservoir to surface waters may differ for beaches of different sand type. It is important that the mechanisms by which *E. coli* is delivered to surface waters are understood so that water quality exceedances can be better predicted by statistical and process-based models.

## 4.2 Materials and methods

#### 4.2.1 Field site descriptions

This study was conducted at Ipperwash Beach on Lake Huron, ON, Canada (Figure B.1). Ipperwash Beach is a dissipative beach extending over 10 km with homogeneous sand conditions (fine silica sand with little organic content;  $d_{50}$  [median diameter] = 0.16 mm; Coefficient of Uniformity [CU, calculated as  $d_{60}/d_{10}$  based on sieve size analysis (ASTM International 2009)] = 2.13). The beach frequently experiences periods of high wave intensity as well as calm periods with  $H_{sig} < 0.1$  m. Approximately 23% of weekly surface water samples (waist-depth) from May to August 2005-2011 at Ipperwash Beach were found to exceed Ontario's water quality standard (100 CFU/100mL) (Strybos et al. 2011). Ausable River discharges into Lake Huron approximately 6 km northeast of the field site and may be the main source of *E. coli* to surface waters. Bird and other animal activity as well as storm water run-off are not observed to be significant sources of *E. coli*.

Additional sampling was conducted at Marie Curtis Beach to evaluate if our findings may be extrapolated to coarser sand beaches. Marie Curtis is a coarse sand-cobble ( $d_{50} = 0.53$  mm, CU = 5.18) beach on Lake Ontario (Figure B.1). Data from the last 5 years show water quality exceedances at Marie Curtis Beach 37% of the time (City of Toronto 2016).

#### 4.2.2 Water and sand sampling

Three 60-80 hour field events (Event1, Event2, Event3) were conducted at Ipperwash Beach on 17-20 June, 8-11 July, and 22-25 July 2014, respectively, to quantify the influence of variable wave conditions on *E. coli* concentrations in the surface water and foreshore reservoir. Periods of high wave intensity, defined by offshore  $H_{sig}$  being larger than a threshold wave height, assumed to be 0.55 m, for 3 hours, occurred during all field events. The criteria for high wave intensity was set based on the upper quartile of observed  $H_{sig}$  (0.55 m) for 5-year wave data at the site (Fisheries and Oceans Canada 2016). The sampling program was designed to capture high wave intensity periods with these periods predicted *a priori* using forecasted wind speed and direction (Government of Canada 2016). High wave intensity periods generally occur at Ipperwash Beach in response to winds greater than 15 km/hr from the north to north-west.

Surface water, pore water, and samples were collected at set locations along a cross-shore transect during the three field events (Figures 4.2 and A.2). Samples were taken 8-12 hours prior to  $H_{sig}$  increasing above 0.55 m, two or three times per day while  $H_{sig}$  remained high, and then daily once H<sub>sig</sub> diminished. Sampling times and locations for all events are provided in Tables A.2-A.5. Water and samples were collected in sterile polypropylene bottles and Whirlpak® bags, respectively, with all samples collected in triplicate. While additional replicate samples would have been ideal to account for high spatial variability (Solo-Gabriele et al. 2015), this was not feasible as the time required for water and sand sample collection, transportation to the laboratory, and subsequent analysis was approximately 6 hours, while the sample interval was sometimes 4 hours. For all sampling times, surface water samples were collected in triplicate at ankle- and waist-depth. Pore water, surface sand and, subsurface sand samples were collected in triplicate at two locations (P1, P2) along the cross-shore transect (Figure 4.2). P1 was located 1 m landward of the initial (time = 0 hours) shoreline and P2 was located 1 m landward of the predicted maximum wave run-up limit. The maximum wave run-up limit was predicted based on our prior observations of the shoreline movement at the site. For Event3, an additional pore water/sand sampling location (P3) was added further onshore to account for the larger than predicted maximum wave run-up (Figures 4.2 and A.2).

Different methods were used to collect the pore water and sand samples during the field events. During Event3, triplicate sand samples were collected at P1, P2 and P3 at all sampling times using clear polyethylene cores (0.5 m length, 0.05 m diameter). The cores were hammered 0.5 m vertically into the sand, and then dug out from the side so as not to disturb the sample. The top 0.2 m and bottom 0.2 m of sand were removed from each core with sterile spoons and placed in Whirlpak® bags – these samples are referred to as surface sand and subsurface sand, respectively. Triplicate pore water samples at P1 during Event3 were collected using three drive-point samplers (Charette and Allen 2006) installed permanently over the event to enable pore water to be sampled when the location P1 was submerged. Triplicate pore water samples for other locations during Event3 (P2, P3) and for all locations during Event1 and Event2 were collected by digging three holes to the water table with a sterile shovel and collecting pore water that accumulated in the hole in sterile polypropylene bottles. For Event1 and Event2, surface sand was collected adjacent to the top of each pore water hole and subsurface sand was collected from the bottom of each hole. A similar pore water/sand sampling method was used by Edge et al. (2010). For Event3, triplicate offshore sediment samples were collected at ankle- and waist-depth by collecting the top 0.05 m of sediment from the lake bottom with a sterile spoon. Triplicate suspended sand samples in the water column at ankle-depth were also collected during Event3 using a 0.34 x 0.34 m rigid frame covered with a fine mesh (0.1 mm aperture) (Kraus 1987). While using different sampling techniques may introduce some variability, testing suggests that the aforementioned methods are comparable (results not shown).

In addition to the three field events, weekly sampling was conducted at two locations on Ipperwash Beach over the 2014 bathing season (April - October). One sampling location was the site used for the field events and the other location was approximately 1 km south. For weekly sampling, triplicate pore water and sand (surface and subsurface) samples were collected from the foreshore reservoir (1 m landward of the shoreline) as well as triplicate surface water samples at ankle- and waist-depth. The same surface water, sand and pore water samples were collected biweekly at one location at Marie Curtis Beach over the 2014 bathing season. For weekly/biweekly sampling, foreshore sand and pore water samples were collected by digging three holes to the water table (sampling method described above). Inland groundwater samples (n=10) were also collected at Ipperwash Beach during the 2014 bathing season to evaluate if inland groundwater was a potential source of *E. coli* to the foreshore reservoir. These samples were collected 20-30 m landward of the shoreline using a drive point sampler (Charette and Allen 2006) installed up to 3 m below the sand surface.

*E. coli* in water and samples was enumerated using standard membrane filtration methods (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 2002) with sand samples processed using methods recommended by Boehm et al. (2009b). Sand concentrations are reported as CFU per gram of dry weight. Statistics were performed on log10 transformed data using non-parametric tests (see Supporting Information for details on enumeration and statistical analysis methods).

#### 4.2.3 Physical parameters

Wave height data during the field events were obtained from an offshore buoy located 37 km north of the site (Fisheries and Oceans Canada 2016). Sand levels along the cross-shore transect, from approximately 20 m landward of the shoreline to waist-depth water offshore, were surveyed at all sampling times during the field events using a total station. Surveyed sand levels were used to calculate erosion and accretion along the transect. Groundwater and surface water levels were also measured at all sampling times using groundwater wells and clear stilling wells, (Gibbes et al. 2007) respectively, installed along the transect at approximately 5 m intervals.

#### 4.2.4 Mass balance calculations

Mass balance calculations were performed to evaluate the contribution of sand erosion to the increase in surface water *E. coli* concentrations observed during the field events. The calculations consider the numbers of *E. coli* associated with the sand that was eroded, and compare this with the increase in numbers of *E. coli* in the surface water between the first and second sampling times. Foreshore sand erosion and increases in surface water *E. coli* concentrations were greatest between these sampling times (Figures 4.2 and A.2).

The total number of *E. coli* released to surface water from the volume of sand eroded per unit width of shoreline (*N*) was calculated by:

$$N = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (F\rho_s \ (1-\phi)C_{sur_i} V_{sur_i} + F\rho_s (1-\phi)C_{sub_i} V_{sub_i} + \phi C_{pw_i} V_{sub_i})$$
(4.1)

where  $\rho_s$  is density of sand (2.65 g/cm<sup>3</sup>) (Terzaghi et al. 1996), and  $\phi$  is the sand porosity (0.3) (Coduto et al. 2011).  $V_{sur_i}$  and  $V_{sub_i}$  [m<sup>3</sup>] are the volumes of eroded surface (unsaturated) sand and subsurface (saturated) sand, respectively, per unit width of shoreline, calculated for discrete 0.1 m intervals (*i*) in the cross-shore direction. These volumes were calculated based on sand elevation surveys at the first and second sampling times with the volume of eroded sand above ( $V_{sur_i}$ ) and

below  $(V_{sub_i})$  the water table determined using the measured groundwater levels at time = 0 hours.  $V_{sub_i}$  multiplied by  $\phi$  was used to calculate the numbers of *E. coli* associated with the pore water.  $C_{sur_i}$ ,  $C_{sub_i}$  and  $C_{pw_i}$  (CFU/g, CFU/100mL) are *E. coli* concentrations in the surface sand, subsurface sand and pore water, respectively, determined for each interval, *i*, by linearly interpolating between mean concentrations observed at sampling locations P1 and P2 (P3 also included for Event3) at time = 0 hours. F is the fraction of E. coli assumed to detach from the eroded sand as it is suspended. A shearing assay experiment was conducted to estimate the fraction (F) of E. coli associated with the sand that detaches and is released to surface water upon sand suspension. From the experiment it was found that 80%, 84% and 85% of E. coli was released from the sand after 100 s, 300 s, and 500 s of suspension, respectively. As such, F = 0.8 was used in (4.1) to provide a conservative estimate for the fraction of E. coli detached. Details of the shearing assay experiment and illustration of the sand mass balance calculation are provided in the Supporting Information. While our sampling was not able to fully account for the heterogeneous distribution of E. coli in sand and pore water (Solo-Gabriele et al. 2015), representing a limitation of these calculations, it is important to note that the sampling and mass balance calculations were performed for three separate field events and the general findings were consistent for all events.

To estimate the increase in numbers of *E. coli* in the surface water, the change in *E. coli* concentrations between the first and second sampling times were linearly interpolated between ankle- and waist-depth sampling locations at discrete spatial intervals, *i*. The surface water volume (assuming a 1 m width of shoreline) for each interval *i* was calculated using the bathymetry and lake water levels from the shoreline to waist-depth at the second sampling time. Alongshore processes and variability were neglected in the calculation. Offshore mixing further than waist-depth, and microbial decay were also assumed to be negligible. Although these factors affect the transport and fate of *E. coli* in shallow surface water, they are neglected here due to the short duration over which the mass balance calculation is performed (Russell et al. 2013).

# 4.3 Results and discussion

# 4.3.1 Physical conditions and observations at Ipperwash Beach

The log mean and standard error of ankle- and waist-depth surface water concentrations at Ipperwash Beach (both sampling sites) during the 2014 bathing season were  $1.89\pm0.04$  log CFU/100mL (n=196) and  $1.53\pm0.04$  log CFU/100mL (n=202), respectively. *E. coli* concentrations at this beach are similar to other non-urban Great Lake beaches (e.g. Ishii et al. 2007, Kleinheinz et al. 2006, Skalbeck et al. 2010, Alm et al. 2003, Whitman et al. 2004). Consistent with previous studies (Edge and Hill 2007, Enns et al. 2012, Whitman and Nevers 2003), ankle-depth *E. coli* concentrations were significantly higher than waist-depth concentrations (p<0.001). Ankle- and waist-depth concentrations were not significantly different between the two weekly sampling sites at Ipperwash Beach spaced 1 km apart (p=0.81 and p=0.15, respectively; Wilcoxon signed rank test). *E. coli* concentrations were below detection (< 1 CFU/100 mL) for all inland groundwater samples collected at the site used for the field events. This indicates that although the net groundwater flow is lakeward (average hydraulic gradient=-0.014; Figures 4.2 and A.2), inland groundwater is not expected to be a major source of *E. coli* to the foreshore reservoir at the site.

Wave height was variable over the three field events with maximum  $H_{sig}$  of 0.9 m, 1.2 m, and 2 m, respectively, recorded (Figure 4.3a,c,e). Two successive periods of high wave intensity ( $H_{sig} > 0.55$  m), separated by less than 48 hours of  $H_{sig} < 0.55$  m, were observed during the 60-80 hour field periods for Event1 and Event2 (Figure 4.3a,c). The wave period also varied during the field events with the peak wave period increasing from average values of 3.4, 2.9 and 3.7 sec for the 24 hours preceding each event to maximum values of 4.7, 5.2 and 4.3 sec during the high wave intensity periods for Event1, Event2 and Event3, respectively.



Figure 4.3: Mean log transformed *E. coli* concentrations ( $\pm$  standard error) in the surface water and foreshore reservoir during each sampling event. (a), (c), and (e) show the ankle- and waist-depth *E. coli* concentrations for Event1, Event2, and Event3, respectively. (b), (d), and (f) show the surface sand *E. coli* concentrations at P1 for Event1, Event2, and Event3, respectively. (g) shows the *E. coli* concentrations in the pore water taken at P1 for Event3. (h) shows the *E. coli* concentrations in the suspended eroded sand collected at ankle-depth as well as the ankle- and waist-depth sediment collected from the lake bed for Event3. Offshore wave heights ( $H_{sig}$ ) are indicated by the red dashed line in (a) – (h). The grey shading in (a) and (c) indicates periods of rainfall during Event1 and Event2, respectively.

The total volume of sand eroded along the cross-shore monitoring transect (assuming 1 m shoreline width) was estimated to be 1.34 m<sup>3</sup>, 1.83 m<sup>3</sup>, and 1.27 m<sup>3</sup> for Event1, Event2 and Event3, respectively, with erosion of foreshore sand occurring mostly between the first and second sampling times (Figure B.2). The observed beach morphology change was compared with Deans parameter (or Gourlay parameter,  $\Omega$ ) (Wright and Short 1984) calculated using time-varying wave data (e.g., wave height, wave period) before and during the field events.  $\Omega$  indicates the equilibrium beach profile shape expected for a given set of wave conditions with the profile being less reflective (steep foreshore gradient) and more dissipative (flat foreshore gradient) as  $\Omega$  increases (Wright and Short 1984). Temporal changes in  $\Omega$  indicate the tendency of a beach to erode/accrete as the morphology shifts towards the prevailing equilibrium profile (Wright and Short 1984). The average Deans parameter was 8, 20 and 17 for the 24 hours preceding each field event, respectively, and sharply increased to 39, 43 and 58, respectively, over the first 12 hours of each event. The increase in  $\Omega$  is consistent with the observed beach profile change from a more reflective to a more dissipative shape (Figure B.2).

There was no rainfall in the 2 days prior to Event1 but 12 mm of rain fell from 26-30 hours after the initial sampling time (0 hours). For Event2 there was 26 mm of rainfall in the 24 hours before the initial sampling time and 12 mm fell over the period 2.5-3.5 hours after the initial sampling time. There was no rainfall in the 2 days prior to or during Event3. Rainfall at the site is not expected to have impacted the surface water concentrations during the field events with weekly sampling results showing a low correlation between rainfall in the previous 24 hours and ankle-and waist-depth surface water *E. coli* concentrations (p=0.23 and 0.26, n=41, respectively). This low correlation despite Ausable River being the main source of fecal contamination to the site may be because summer rainfall events in the area are often localized. Therefore rainfall at the site does not necessarily correspond to rainfall in the Ausable River catchment.

#### 4.3.2 Temporal variability in *E. coli* concentrations during field events

Surface water *E. coli* concentrations at ankle-depth ( $2.11\pm0.06$ ,  $1.82\pm0.02$  and  $2.50\pm0.03$  log CFU/100 mL) were statistically higher than waist-depth concentrations (below detection limit,  $1.38\pm0.08$  and  $1.05\pm0.11$  log CFU/100mL) at the initial sampling time (0 hours) for Event1, Event2, and Event3, respectively (Figure 4.3a,c,e; p=0.04, 0.04, and 0.04, respectively). Surface water *E. coli* concentrations showed similar temporal variability during all field events (Figure 4.3a,c,e). Concentrations in the ankle- and waist-depth water increased as  $H_{sig}$  increased with maximum concentrations observed near when the initial peak  $H_{sig}$  was recorded (12.5 hours for Event1, 9.7 hours for Event2, 12.5 hours for Event3). This also corresponded to the time when erosion of foreshore sand (between P1 and P2) was greatest (see Figures 4.2 and A.2). At the sampling time near to when the initial peak wave heights were recorded, for all field events the ankle- and waist-depth *E. coli* concentrations were not significantly different (p=0.19 for Event1, p=0.33 for Event2, p=0.50 for Event3). *E. coli* concentrations at both surface water locations decreased after this time despite a second period of high wave intensity ( $H_{sig} > 0.55$  m) occurring during Event1 (~60 hours) and Event2 (~57 hours).

*E. coli* concentrations in the surface (unsaturated) sand 1 m landward of the initial shoreline (P1) were elevated and exhibited high variability between triplicate samples at the start (0 hours) compared to the end of each field event  $(1.23\pm0.99 \text{ compared with } 0.07\pm0.06 \log \text{CFU/g}$  for Event1;  $0.94\pm0.32$  compared with  $0.54\pm0.07 \log \text{CFU/g}$  for Event2;  $2.41\pm0.31$  compared with  $1.19\pm0.08 \log \text{CFU/g}$  for Event3; Figure 4.3b,d,f and Tables A.2, A.3 and A.5). *E. coli* in the pore water at P1 also decreased during Event3 ( $3.45\pm0.32 \log \text{CFU}/100 \text{ mL}$  at 0 hours compared with  $2.65\pm0.31 \log \text{CFU}/100 \text{ mL}$  at 64 hours; Figure 4.3g). Note that pore water at P1 as well as other samples discussed below were only collected throughout the field event for Event3. *E. coli* in suspended eroded sand at ankle-depth water during Event3 was significantly higher near the peak wave height compared to later times ( $1.67\pm0.13 \log \text{CFU/g}$  at 12.5 hours; p = 0.014, Figure 4.3h). Suspended sand was only collected at three times during Event3 because there was negligible suspended sand at other sampling times. *E. coli* concentrations in the offshore sediment samples were statistically lower at the start of Event3 (0 hours) compared to the end (64 hours, p=0.04 for ankle-depth and p=0.04 for waist-depth, Figure 4.3h). The increase in offshore ankle-depth sediment concentrations followed by an increase in

offshore waist-depth sediment concentrations may be due to eroded foreshore sand settling as it was transported offshore. Maximum offshore sediment concentrations of  $1.53\pm0.88 \log$  CFU/g and  $1.56\pm0.07 \log$  CFU/g were observed at ankle- and waist-depth, respectively, at the final sampling time (64 hours). These mean concentrations were 13% and 15% of the initial foreshore (P1) surface sand concentration. Although conditions are different in the laboratory, this field result is consistent with the shearing assay experiment which found approximately 80% of *E. coli* is removed during sand suspension. The decrease in *E. coli* surface sand concentrations during all field events, as well as the decrease in pore water concentrations at P1 and suspended eroded sand concentrations during Event3 indicates that the amount of *E. coli* in the foreshore reservoir decreased during the events in response to the increase in wave height. The corresponding increase in *E. coli* concentrations in the surface water and offshore sediment between 0 hours and the time when the initial peak wave height was recorded suggests that *E. coli* may have being transferred from the foreshore reservoir to the surface water.

#### 4.3.3 Depletion of the foreshore reservoir

A second period of high wave intensity ( $H_{sig} > 0.55$  m) occurred during Event1 around 60 hours and Event2 around 57 hours (Figure 4.3a,c). Surface water E. coli concentrations did not increase during these periods as occurred for the initial high wave intensity periods. This may be because E. coli initially in the foreshore reservoir were depleted during the initial period of high wave intensity and, as indicated by low surface sand concentrations (Figure 4.3b,d, Tables A.2 and A.3), the original source of E. coli was no longer available. There was also limited foreshore sand erosion observed during the second periods of high wave intensity. A similar source wash-out phenomena is observed for E. coli in tributaries at the start of rainfall events (Jamieson et al. 2005). Our results suggest that for waves and associated sand erosion to considerably affect surface water E. coli concentrations there must be a preceding period of low wave conditions during which time E. coli is able to build-up in the foreshore reservoir. These periods may be characterized by lower than equilibrium Deans parameter values which would indicate accretionary conditions in the foreshore (Wright and Short 1984). Comparison of the initial foreshore surface sand concentrations at P1 for all field events with the amount of time elapsed since a period of high wave intensity at the site also supports our finding. The highest initial foreshore surface sand concentration (P1, 0 hours) was observed for Event3 (2.41 log CFU/g), followed by Event1 (1.23 log CFU/g) and Event2 (0.94

log CFU/g). Event3 and Event1 were preceded by 6 and 3 days, respectively, with  $H_{sig} < 0.55$ m, whereas  $H_{sig}$  reached 1.2 m in the 24 hours prior to the start of Event2. This finding suggests that statistical regression models used to predict *E. coli* concentrations in surface waters based on environmental variables (Feng et al. 2013, Ge et al. 2012) may be improved by considering, in addition to wave height, the time elapsed since a period of high wave intensity and potentially the temporal variability in Deans parameter (Wright and Short 1984).

#### 4.3.4 Impact of magnitude of wave height

Data from the three events suggests that the magnitude of wave height may affect the time taken for *E. coli* concentrations in the ankle- and waist-depth water to decrease below the Ontario guideline value (2 log CFU/100 mL) after maximum concentrations are reached. For Event1, with maximum  $H_{sig} = 0.9$  m, it took approximately 35 hours for ankle-depth *E. coli* concentrations to drop below 2 log CFU/100 mL following a concentration of  $2.26 \pm 0.03$  log CFU/100 mL near the initial peak wave height (Figure 4.3a, 12.5-48 hours). For Event2, with a maximum  $H_{sig} = 1.2$  m, this took approximately 24 hours (Figure 4.3c, 9.4-32.4 hours). Finally, during Event3, with maximum  $H_{sig} = 2$  m, the ankle- and waist-depth *E. coli* concentrations were reduced from  $2.26\pm0.03$  log CFU/mL and  $2.21\pm0.02$  log CFU/mL, respectively, to less than 2 log CFU/100mL in only 8 hours following the peak wave height (Figure 4.3e, 12.5-20.5 hours). As samples were only taken at the times indicated in Figure 4.3, the actual time taken for concentrations to fall below 2 log CFU/100 mL may actually be less. The comparatively rapid decline in surface water *E. coli* concentrations during Event3 may be due to increased offshore mixing, in addition to sand being eroded more rapidly with more intense wave conditions resulting in faster depletion of the foreshore reservoir source (Thupaki et al. 2009).

#### 4.3.5 Impact of wave run-up limit on pore water and sand concentrations

*E. coli* concentrations in the surface sand and pore water at P1, P2 and P3 as the maximum wave run-up propagated onshore and later receded during Event3 are shown in Figure 4.4. At the initial sampling time when the shoreline was approximately 1 m lakeward of P1, *E. coli* concentrations in the surface sand and pore water were highest at P1 and P2, and below detection at P3 (Figure 4.4, Table B.5). This gradient of decreasing sand and pore water concentrations onshore is

consistent with prior studies and generally attributed to the lake water interacting with the foreshore area only and increasing E. coli counts here (Alm et al. 2003, Kon et al. 2007). Pore water and sand E. coli concentrations at P1 and P2 decreased as the wave height increased and E. *coli* was released to surface waters. Once the maximum wave run-up reached P3 (20.5 hours), in contrast to the decrease in E. coli concentrations observed at P1 and P2 (Figure 4.4a,b), the pore water and surface sand concentrations at P3 increased from below detection at 0 hours to 3.37±0.27 log CFU/100mL and 1.36±0.33 log CFU/g, respectively, at 24.5 hours (Figure 4.4c). The observed increase in E. coli concentrations may be due to lake water infiltrating into the unsaturated sand in the wave run-up zone (Horn 2002, Li and Barry 2000) and therefore delivering E. coli from the surface water to the sand/pore water. Alternatively, the increase in measured E. coli concentrations may be due to the reviving of non-culturable bacteria through added moisture (Byappanahalli et al. 2006). Sand and pore water E. coli concentrations did not decrease significantly over the remainder of the event despite the maximum wave run-up receding lakeward. While more samples along the cross-shore transect as well as additional replicates at all sample locations would have been ideal to quantify spatial heterogeneity in pore water and sand concentrations, the number of samples collected at all sampling times was a trade-off with the high sampling frequency required to capture temporal variability. Additional sampling is recommended to confirm our findings with respect to the relationship between the run-up limit location and sand and pore water concentrations.



Figure 4.4: Mean log transformed *E. coli* concentrations (± standard error) in the pore water and surface sand at (a) P1, (b) P2, and (c) P3 during Event3. Shaded areas in (a) and (b) indicate time when the maximum wave run-up was landward of the P1 and P2 sampling locations, respectively.

#### 4.3.6 Mass balance results

Total eroded volumes of sand over the cross-shore transect between the first and second sampling times (when the greatest amount of sand erosion occurred) were 0.68 m<sup>3</sup>, 0.45 m<sup>3</sup> and 0.41 m<sup>3</sup> of surface (unsaturated) sand ( $V_{sur}$ ) and 0.66 m<sup>3</sup>, 0.26 m<sup>3</sup> and 0.44 m<sup>3</sup> of subsurface (saturated) sand ( $V_{sub}$ ) per m of shoreline for Event1, Event2 and Event3, respectively (Table B.1). Using F = 0.8, the total *E. coli* associated with the eroded foreshore sand and thus potentially transported to the surface water between the first and second sampling times was calculated to be 7.71 log CFU, 7.00 log CFU, and 8.41 log CFU per m of shoreline for Event1, Event2 and Event3, respectively (Table B.1). These amounts can be compared with the estimated increase in total *E. coli* in the surface water over this period which were 7.27 log CFU, 7.61 log CFU, and 7.81 log CFU per m of

shoreline for Event1, Event2, and Event3, respectively (Table B.1). Comparison indicates that the *E. coli* released from erosion of foreshore sand alone was sufficient to account for the increase in total *E. coli* in the surface water for Event1 and Event3. In fact, *F* equal to only 29% and 17% would have achieved the increase in *E. coli* concentration observed in the surface water for Event1 and Event3, respectively. For Event2, calculations indicate that *E. coli* associated with the eroded sand was not sufficient to account for the observed increase in surface water concentrations. It is possible that contaminated foreshore sand may have been eroded, and subsequently accreted offshore, during the high wave intensity period that occurred in the 24 hours preceding Event2. Resuspension of this offshore sediment may have contributed to the increase in surface water *E. coli* concentrations in foreshore (P1) surface sand for Event2 ( $0.94\pm0.32$  log CFU/g) compared with Event1 ( $1.23\pm0.99$  log CFU/g) and Event3 ( $2.41\pm0.36$  log CFU/g). Additional calculations were performed to test the sensitivity of the results to parameter values used for  $\phi$  and *F*. The results were consistent regardless of the values adopted.

The percentage of *E. coli* associated with the different components of the foreshore reservoir (unsaturated surface sand, saturated subsurface sand and pore water) in the volume of eroded sand was calculated for each field event. Surface sand accounted for 99.6%, 84%, and 95% of *E. coli* potentially released via erosion from the foreshore reservoir between the first and second sampling times for Event1, Event2, and Event3, respectively. Based on the assumptions included in the mass balance, *E. coli* attached to sand is likely the main contributor of *E. coli* to surface water during high wave conditions rather than *E. coli* initially residing in pore water at this beach. Our finding that sand erosion may be a governing mechanism for transferring *E. coli* suggests that quantification of  $\Omega$  over time, which provides indication of whether a beach is susceptible to erosion for given wave conditions, may be a useful approach to understand under what conditions the foreshore reservoir may be a potential source of *E. coli* to surface waters.

#### 4.3.7 Comparison to coarse sand-cobble beach

While the mass balance calculations suggest that sand erosion alone was sufficient to account for the increase in surface water *E. coli* concentrations observed at Ipperwash Beach during high wave intensity periods preceded by calm periods, the mechanisms by which *E. coli* is released from the

foreshore reservoir to adjacent surface waters may differ at beaches with different sand types. Here we compare the distribution of *E. coli* between the sand, pore water, and surface water for the fine sand study beach to the distribution for a coarse sand-cobble beach to infer potential release mechanisms. It has been found that *E. coli* have a higher tendency to attach to uniform fine-grain sand (Skalbeck et al. 2010). Other factors including organic matter content, biofilms, and moisture content also affect the tendency of *E. coli* to attach to sand (Boehm et al. 2009b, Piggot et al. 2012).

Weekly/biweekly sampling at Ipperwash Beach and Marie Curtis Beach over the 2014 bathing season found that pore water and ankle-depth surface water concentrations were strongly correlated at Marie Curtis Beach (r<sub>s</sub>=0.63, p<0.01, n=17) but not as strongly correlated at Ipperwash Beach ( $r_s=0.24$ , p=0.16, n=37; data provided in Table B.6). The higher correlation between pore water and ankle-depth concentrations at Marie Curtis Beach suggests greater connectivity between these two water entities. This may be due to higher saturated conductivity at Marie Curtis Beach (58 m/d; based on particle size analysis and Krumbein and Monk (1943)) compared with Ipperwash Beach (10 m/d) leading to higher water exchange across the sedimentwater interface in the foreshore area. While E. coli concentrations in the pore water were significantly higher at Marie Curtis Beach  $(2.73\pm0.07 \log \text{CFU}/100\text{mL}, n=69)$  than at Ipperwash Beach (2.34±0.05 log CFU/100mL, n=253; p<0.01, Mann Whitney U Test), E. coli concentrations in the surface sand were not significantly different between the two beaches  $(1.19\pm0.09 \log CFU/g)$ , n=66, 0.94±0.06 log CFU/g, n=214; p=0.65, Mann Whitney U Test). This suggests that there may be less attachment of E. coli to sand at Marie Curtis Beach compared to Ipperwash Beach. Consequently, sand erosion may not deliver as much E. coli to surface waters during a dry-weather high wave intensity period at a coarse sand-cobble beach, like Marie Curtis Beach, compared with a fine sand beach. Through-beach pore water transport due to the higher water exchange may be a more important mechanism for delivering *E. coli* from the foreshore reservoir to surface water at coarser beaches than sand erosion (Beversdorf et al. 2007, Wright et al. 2011).

# 4.4 Environmental implications

This work provides important insights into the transfer of *E. coli* from the foreshore reservoir (sand and pore water) to adjacent surface waters during periods of high wave intensity. The findings are important for improving statistical and process-based models used to predict water quality

exceedances. The work indicates that sand erosion may be the main mechanism by which *E. coli* is transferred from the foreshore reservoir to surface waters during high wave intensity periods at fine sand beaches. However, this may not be the case for coarser sand beaches where interstitial pore water flow and discharge, as opposed to sand erosion, may be more important. This work suggests that sand size and size distribution are key to understanding the mechanisms governing the release of *E. coli* to surface water, however, additional work is needed to better understand this. Future work is also needed to determine if erosion is also important for mobilizing different bacterial, protozoan, and viral pathogens in the foreshore reservoir.

# Acknowledgements

This research was supported by a Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) Strategic Grant (STPGP 430698-12). We thank the members of RESTORE and summer students who assisted with the collection and processing of samples.

# 4.5 References

- Alm, E.W., Burke, J., Hagan, E., 2006. Persistence and potential growth of the fecal indicator bacteria, Escherichia coli, in shoreline sand at Lake Huron. Journal of Great Lakes Research 32 (2), 401-405.
- Alm, E.W., Burke, J., Spain, A., 2003. Fecal indicator bacteria are abundant in wet sand at freshwater beaches. Water Research 37 (16), 3978-3982.
- ASTM, 2009. Standard Test Methods for Particle-size Distribution (Gradation) of Soils Using Sieve Analysis, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA.
- Austin, J.C., Anderson, S.T., Courant, P.N., Litan, R.E., 2007. Healthy Waters, Strong Economy: The Benefits of Restoring the Great Lakes Ecosystem. The Brookings Institution, Washington, D.C.
- Bai, S., Lung, W.-S., 2005. Modeling sediment impact on the transport of fecal bacteria. Water Research 39 (20), 5232-5240.
- Beversdorf, L., Bornstein- Forst, S., McLellan, S., 2007. The potential for beach sand to serve as a reservoir for Escherichia coli and the physical influences on cell die- off. Journal of Applied Microbiology 102 (5), 1372-1381.
- Boehm, A.B., Griffith, J., McGee, C., Edge, T.A., Solo- Gabriele, H.M., Whitman, R., Cao, Y., Getrich, M., Jay, J.A., Ferguson, D., 2009b. Faecal indicator bacteria enumeration in beach sand: a comparison study of extraction methods in medium to coarse sands. Journal of Applied Microbiology 107 (5), 1740-1750.
- Boehm, A.B., Shellenbarger, G.G., Paytan, A., 2004. Groundwater discharge: potential association with fecal indicator bacteria in the surf zone. Environmental Science & Technology 38(13), 3558-3566.
- Bradford, S.A., Torkzaban, S., 2008. Colloid transport and retention in unsaturated porous media: A review of interface-, collector-, and pore-scale processes and models. Vadose Zone Journal 7 (2), 667-681.
- Byappanahalli, M.N., Whitman, R.L., Shively, D.A., Ting, W.E., Tseng, C.C., Nevers, M.B., 2006. Seasonal persistence and population characteristics of Escherichia coli and enterococci in deep backshore sand of two freshwater beaches. Journal of Water and Health 4 (3), 313-320.
- Charette, M.A., Allen, M.C., 2006. Precision Ground Water Sampling in Coastal Aquifers Using a Direct- Push, Shielded- Screen Well- Point System. Groundwater Monitoring & Remediation 26 (2), 87-93.
- City of Toronto, 2016., Beaches Water Quality Marie Curtis Park East Beach. http://app.toronto.ca/tpha/beach/1.html.
- Coduto, D.P., Yeung, M.C., Kitch, W.A., 2011. Geotechnical Engineering: Principles and Practices, Pearson. New York.
- Edge, T., Hill, S., Seto, P., Marsalek, J., 2010. Library-dependent and library-independent microbial source tracking to identify spatial variation in faecal contamination sources along a Lake Ontario beach (Ontario, Canada). Water Science & Technology 62 (3), 719-727.
- Edge, T.A., Hill, S., 2007. Multiple lines of evidence to identify the sources of fecal pollution at a freshwater beach in Hamilton Harbour, Lake Ontario. Water Research 41 (16), 3585-3594.
- Enns, A.A., Vogel, L.J., Abdelzaher, A.M., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Plano, L.R., Gidley, M.L., Phillips, M.C., Klaus, J.S., Piggot, A.M., Feng, Z., 2012. Spatial and temporal variation
in indicator microbe sampling is influential in beach management decisions. Water Research 46 (7), 2237-2246.

- Feng, Z., Reniers, A., Haus, B.K., Solo- Gabriele, H.M., 2013. Modeling sediment- related enterococci loading, transport, and inactivation at an embayed nonpoint source beach. Water Resources Research 49 (2), 693-712.
- Fisheries and Oceans Canada, 2016. Station 45149 Southern Lake Huron. Government of Canada. Ottawa, ON. http://weather.gc.ca/marine/weatherConditions-24hrObsHistory\_e.html?mapID=11&siteID=07605&stationID=45149.
- Gast, R.J., Gorrell, L., Raubenheimer, B., Elgar, S., 2011. Impact of erosion and accretion on the distribution of enterococci in beach sands. Continental Shelf Research 31 (14), 1457-1461.
- Ge, Z., Whitman, R.L., Nevers, M.B., Phanikumar, M.S., Byappanahalli, M.N., 2012. Nearshore hydrodynamics as loading and forcing factors for Escherichia coli contamination at an embayed beach. Limnology and Oceanography 57 (1), 362-381.
- Gibbes, B., Robinson, C., Li, L., Lockington, D., 2007. Measurement of hydrodynamics and pore water chemistry in intertidal groundwater systems. Journal of Coastal Research 50, 884-894.
- Government of Canada, 2016., Marine Forecasts Southern Lake Huron. Environment and Climate Change Canada, Gatineau, QC.

https://weather.gc.ca/marine/forecast\_e.html?mapID=10&siteID=07605.

- Horn, D.P., 2002. Beach groundwater dynamics. Geomorphology 48 (1), 121-146.
- Ishii, S., Hansen, D.L., Hicks, R.E., Sadowsky, M.J., 2007. Beach sand and sediments are temporal sinks and sources of Escherichia coli in Lake Superior. Environmental Science & Technology 41 (7), 2203-2209.
- Jamieson, R., Joy, D.M., Lee, H., Kostaschuk, R., Gordon, R., 2005. Transport and deposition of sediment-associated Escherichia coli in natural streams. Water Research 39 (12), 2665-2675.
- Kleinheinz, G.T., McDermott, C.M., Leewis, M.-C., Englebert, E., 2006. Influence of sampling depth on Escherichia coli concentrations in beach monitoring. Water Research 40 (20), 3831-3837.
- Kon, T., Weir, S.C., Howell, E.T., Lee, H., Trevors, J.T., 2007. Genetic relatedness of Escherichia coli isolates in interstitial water from a Lake Huron (Canada) beach. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 73 (6), 1961-1967.
- Kraus, N.C., 1987. Application of portable traps for obtaining point measurements of sediment transport rates in the surf zone. Journal of Coastal Research 3 (2), 139-152.
- Krumbein, W., Monk, G., 1943. Permeability as a function of the size parameters of unconsolidated sand. Transactions of the AIME 151 (01), 153-163.
- Li, L., Barry, D., 2000. Wave-induced beach groundwater flow. Advances in Water Resources 23 (4), 325-337.
- Molnar, I.L., Johnson, W.P., Gerhard, J.I., Willson, C.S., O'Carroll, D.M., 2015. Predicting colloid transport through saturated porous media: A critical review. Water Resources Research 51 (9), 6804-6845.
- Ontario Ministry of the Environment and Energy, 1999. Water Management Policies, Guidelines, Provincial Water Quality Objectives. Queens Printer for Ontario, Toronto, ON.

- Phillips, M.C., Feng, Z., Vogel, L.J., Reniers, A.J., Haus, B.K., Enns, A.A., Zhang, Y., Hernandez, D.B., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., 2014. Microbial release from seeded beach sediments during wave conditions. Marine Pollution Bulletin 79 (1), 114-122.
- Phillips, M.C., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Reniers, A.J., Wang, J.D., Kiger, R.T., Abdel-Mottaleb, N., 2011. Pore water transport of enterococci out of beach sediments. Marine Pollution Bulletin 62 (11), 2293-2298.
- Piggot, A.M., Klaus, J.S., Johnson, S., Phillips, M.C., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., 2012. Relationship between enterococcal levels and sediment biofilms at recreational beaches in South Florida. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 78 (17), 5973-5982.
- Russell, T.L., Sassoubre, L.M., Wang, D., Masuda, S., Chen, H., Soetjipto, C., Hassaballah, A., Boehm, A.B., 2013. A coupled modeling and molecular biology approach to microbial source tracking at Cowell Beach, Santa Cruz, CA, United States. Environmental Science & Technology 47 (18), 10231-10239.
- Russell, T.L., Yamahara, K.M., Boehm, A.B., 2012. Mobilization and transport of naturally occurring enterococci in beach sands subject to transient infiltration of seawater. Environmental Science & Technology 46 (11), 5988-5996.
- Skalbeck, J.D., Kinzelman, J.L., Mayer, G.C., 2010. Fecal indicator organism density in beach sands: Impact of sediment grain size, uniformity, and hydrologic factors on surface water loading. Journal of Great Lakes Research 36 (4), 707-714.
- Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Harwood, V.J., Kay, D., Fujioka, R.S., Sadowsky, M.J., Whitman, R.L., Wither, A., Caniça, M., Carvalho da Fonseca, R., Duarte, A., 2015. Beach sand and the potential for infectious disease transmission: Observations and recommendations. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 96, 101-120.
- Strybos, M., Andreae, M., Carroll, E., Van Zwol, J., 2011. Lambton Shores Tributaries Watershed Report. Lake Huron Community Action. https://www.lakehuroncommunityaction.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/Lambton-Shores-Watershed-Report-2011.pdf.
- Terzaghi, K., Peck, R.B., Mesri, G., 1996. Soil Mechanics in Engineering Practice. John Wiley & Sons, New York, NY.
- Thupaki, P., Phanikumar, M.S., Beletsky, D., Schwab, D.J., Nevers, M.B., Whitman, R.L., 2009. Budget analysis of Escherichia coli at a southern Lake Michigan beach. Environmental Science & Technology 44 (3), 1010-1016.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2002. Method 1603: Escherichia coli (E. coli) in Water by Membrane Filtration Using Modified membrane-Thermotolerant Escherichia coli Agar (Modified mTEC). EPA 821-R-02-023, Washington, D.C.
- Whitman, R.L., Harwood, V.J., Edge, T.A., Nevers, M.B., Byappanahalli, M., Vijayavel, K., Brandão, J., Sadowsky, M.J., Alm, E.W., Crowe, A., 2014. Microbes in beach sands: Integrating environment, ecology and public health. Reviews in Environmental Science and Bio/Technology 13, 329-368.
- Whitman, R.L., Nevers, M.B., 2008. Summer E. coli patterns and responses along 23 Chicago beaches. Environmental Science & Technology 42 (24), 9217-9224.
- Whitman, R.L., Nevers, M.B., Korinek, G.C., Byappanahalli, M.N., 2004. Solar and temporal effects on Escherichia coli concentration at a Lake Michigan swimming beach. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 70 (7), 4276-4285.
- Whitman, R.L., Shively, D.A., Pawlik, H., Nevers, M.B., Byappanahalli, M.N., 2003. Occurrence of Escherichia coli and enterococci in Cladophora (Chlorophyta) in nearshore

water and beach sand of Lake Michigan. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69 (8), 4714-4719.

- Wright, L.D., Short, A.D., 1984. Morphodynamic variability of surf zones and beaches: A synthesis. Marine Geology 56, 93-118.
- Wright, M., Abdelzaher, A., Solo-Gabriele, H., Elmir, S., Fleming, L., 2011. The inter-tidal zone is the pathway of input of enterococci to a subtropical recreational marine beach. Water Science & Technology 63 (3), 542-549.
- Yamahara, K.M., Layton, B.A., Santoro, A.E., Boehm, A.B., 2007. Beach sands along the California coast are diffuse sources of fecal bacteria to coastal waters. Environmental Science & Technology 41 (13), 4515-4521.

# Chapter 5

# 5 Evaluation of methods to sample fecal indicator bacteria in foreshore sand and pore water at freshwater beaches

Laura J. Vogel<sup>a</sup>, Thomas A. Edge<sup>b</sup>, Denis M. O'Carroll<sup>a,c</sup>, Helena M. Solo-Gabriele<sup>d</sup>, Caitlin S. E. Kushnir<sup>a</sup>, and Clare E. Robinson<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario N6A 3K7, Canada

<sup>b</sup> Environment Canada, Canada Center for Inland Waters, Burlington, Ontario L7S 1A1, Canada

<sup>c</sup> School of Civil and Environmental Engineering, Connected Water Institute, University of New South Wales, Manly Vale NSW 2093, Australia

<sup>d</sup> Department of Civil, Architectural, and Environmental Engineering, University of Miami, Coral Gables, FL 33146, USA

Keywords: E. coli, Sand, Sampling methods, Beaches, Recreational water quality

## 5.1 Introduction

Microbial pathogens at beaches can lead to bather illness (Dufour 1984, Marion et al. 2010). Due to the difficulties and cost of quantifying harmful pathogens, fecal indicator bacteria (FIB), such as enterococci in marine beaches and Escherichia coli (E. coli) in freshwater beaches, are used for recreational water quality monitoring as indicators of the human health risk. In the United States and Canada, health departments determine the health risks at a beach based on water samples taken between ankle- to chest-depth in the surface water (Enns et al. 2012). FIB are often orders of magnitude higher in sand and pore water near the shoreline (herein referred to as the foreshore reservoir) than in adjacent shallow surface waters, upshore sand, and offshore sediment at freshwater beaches (Kinzelman et al. 2004, Staley et al. 2015, Vogel et al. 2016, Whitman and Nevers 2003) and at marine beaches (Yamahara et al. 2007). While further research is required, some studies have shown that the foreshore reservoir can act as a potential direct health risk to beachgoers (Heaney et al. 2009, Solo-Gabriele et al. 2015). The foreshore reservoir consists of unsaturated sand (sand above the water table with variable moisture content), saturated sand (sand below the water table), and pore water (water in the interstitial spaces of the sand). An example of higher E. coli concentrations in the foreshore reservoir than surface water is a study by Whitman and Nevers (2003) which reported pore water concentrations several orders of magnitude higher than those in the adjacent shallow water at a Chicago beach. For sand, there are currently no healthbased guideline levels for acceptable E. coli levels. In lieu of sand guideline levels, the water quality guideline can be used as a benchmark recognizing that the benchmark may correspond to a different risk level. Given the benchmark and considering concentrations on a bulk volumetric basis, Whitman and Nevers (2003) found sand samples collected at the Chicago beach had E. coli concentrations that exceeded the U.S. EPA guideline value of 235 CFU/100mL 95% of the time for foreshore sand and 76% of the time for offshore sand. Due to the high FIB levels in the foreshore reservoir, it can act as a non-point source of contamination to adjacent surface waters through routes such as sand erosion, and bacterial detachment from sand combined with groundwater flow and discharge (Alm et al. 2003, Brown and Boehm 2016, Byappanahalli et al. 2006, Edge and Hill 2007, Vogel et al. 2016, Whitman and Nevers 2003, Yamahara et al. 2007).

Health units do not currently sample the sand or pore water, nor are they required to do so (Health Canada 2012, United States Environmental Protection Agency 2012). In addition, unlike surface

water, there is no widely accepted method to collect samples from the foreshore reservoir for FIB enumeration (Health Canada 2012). Previous studies have quantified FIB presence in this reservoir by sampling the pore water, unsaturated sand, and saturated sand (Table 5.1). Methods that have been used to sample the unsaturated sand include skimming the surface sand, using a sterile core sample, and taking composite samples. For saturated sand sampling, methods include using a sterilized core or a shovel to reach the saturated sand (Table 5.1). Groundwater wells, drive point samplers (Charette and Allen 2006), and shovels have been used to access pore water in the foreshore area to collect samples (Table 5.1). For a given collection approach, the type and size of equipment used (i.e. length and diameter of sterile core), as well as amount of sample collected can also vary. It is important to understand how *E. coli* concentrations vary based on sampling technique so health departments, beach managers, and researchers can select the sampling method that best suits their needs as well as better interpret sampling results given a specific method used.

Table 5.1: Summary of sample collection methods used in select studies focused on FIB abundance in beach sand and pore water.

Method	Study	Special Notes
Drive	Skalbeck et al.	
Point*	(2010)	N/A
	Boehm et al.	
Well	(2004)	Collected 3 m below surface of sand (in upper surficial aquifer)
	Edge et al. (2010)	Collected at water table
	Staley et al.	
Shovel	(2015)	Collected at water table
	Whitman et al.	
	(2006)	Post hole digger (d=12 cm) was used to reach the groundwater

Pore Water Sampling Methods

\*Drive Point samplers are well point systems that can be used to sample groundwater at depth while providing minimal disruption to the aquifer (Charette and Allen 2006)

Method	Study	Special Notes						
Skimming	Lee et al. (2006)	Collected top 1 cm						
	Staley et al. (2015)	Collected using a core (2.5 cm) to scrape top layer						
	Wright et al. (2011)	Collected top 1-3 cm using stainless steel spoons						
	Ferguson et al.							
	(2005)	Collected top 2 cm						
	Enns et al. (2012)	Collected top 5 cm using stainless steel spoons						
	Le Fevre and Lewis							
	(2003)	Collected top 3-5 cm using open-ended 50 mL syringe						
	Desmarais et al.	Collected using a steel auger fitted with a plastic sleeve (l=30 cm), divided into 5 cm						
Core	(2002)	sections						
	Alm et al. (2003)	Collected using a core (d=9 cm, l=20 cm), divided into 5 cm sections						
	Skalbeck et al.	Collected using a stainless steel probe with liners (d=2.8 cm), divided into nonspecified						
	(2010)	sections						

**Unsaturated Sand Sampling Methods** 

	Russell et al. (2012)	Collected using a polycarbonate tube (d=3.8 cm, l=100 cm), divided into 1-10 cm sections			
	Edge and Hill				
	(2007)	Collected using a plastic core (d=2.5 cm, l=15 cm)			
	Gast et al. (2011)	Collected using an acrylic core (l=100 cm), subsampled using 15 mL tubes			
	Halliday et al.				
	(2014)	Collected using 50 mL Falcon tubes (l=5 cm)			
	Hernandez et al.				
	(2014)	Collected using a core (d=2.54 cm, l=4 cm)			
	Kinzelman and				
	McLellan (2009) Collected using an AMS soil recovery probe with butyrate liners (d=2.8 cm <sup>-1</sup>				
	Phillips et al. (2011)	Collected using a PVC core (d=2.54 cm, l=16 cm)			
	Whitman and				
	Nevers (2003)	Collected using a slotted AMS soil recovery probe with butyrate liners (d=2.3 cm, l=30 cm)			
	Yamahara et al.				
	(2007)	Composite of 10 homogenized 25 cm <sup>3</sup> subsamples			
Composite	Boehm et al. (2014)	Composite of 10 homogenized 25 cm <sup>3</sup> subsamples			
	Ishii et al. (2007)	Composite of 3 homogenized 30 g subsamples taken from the top 10 cm using core tubes			
	Shah et al. (2011)	Composite of 160 cores that were 3 cm deep			

Saturated Sand Sampling Methods						
Method	Study	Special Notes				
Core	Desmarais et al. (2002) Alm et al. (2003) Skalbeck et al. (2010) Russell et al. (2012) Edge and Hill (2007) Gast et al. (2011)	Collected using a steel auger fitted with a plastic sleeve (1=30 cm), divided into 5 cm sections Collected using a core (d=9 cm, 1=20 cm), divided into 5 cm sections Collected using a stainless steel probe with liners (d=2.8 cm), divided into nonspecified sections Collected using a polycarbonate tube (d=3.8 cm, 1=100 cm), divided into 1-10 cm sections Collected using a plastic core (d=2.5 cm, 1=15 cm) Collected using an acrylic core (1=100 cm), subsampled using 15 mL tubes				

	Hernandez et al.	
	(2014)	Collected using a core (d=20 cm, l=40 cm), subsampled into 0.5 cm sections
	Staley et al. (2015) Whitman et al	Collected by scraping a core (d=2.5 cm) at bottom of hole
Shovel	(2006) Byappanahalli et	Collected 10 g of sand in 5 cm intervals beneath the water table
	al. (2006) Hernandez et al.	Collected sand from bottom of the hole using a posthole digger
	(2014)	Collected by scraping a spoon along the side of hole at 5 cm intervals beneath the water table

A recent review paper by Solo-Gabriele et al. (2015) suggests that beach managers may need a better conceptual understanding of the foreshore reservoir at their beaches in order to understand and predict surface water quality exceedances. Past research indicates the complexity of the partitioning and accumulation of FIB in the different components of the foreshore reservoir. For example, FIB that are unable to persist in surface water (e.g. those sensitive to solar radiation or limited nutrients) may find sand a more favorable habitat and may proliferate in the foreshore reservoir (LaLiberte and Grimes 1982, Obiri-Danso and Jones 2000). Russell et al. (2012) observed that FIB concentrations in foreshore pore water are highest close to the water table and then rapidly decrease with depth. Beversdorf et al. (2007) found that *E. coli* levels in the sand were greatest when the moisture content was between 15% and 19%, indicating that unsaturated sand may contain higher concentrations of FIB than saturated sand, which usually has a moisture content above 20%. The partitioning of FIB between the components of the foreshore reservoir and the relationships between the components need to be better understood to determine the optimum way of sampling as well as quantifying the abundance of FIB in the reservoir.

The physical characteristics of a freshwater beach (location, sand type, wave exposure) may affect the distribution of FIB in the foreshore reservoir and in turn affect the results obtained when using different methods to sample the reservoir. In the foreshore reservoir, FIB can either attach to sand grains through a variety of mechanisms (e.g., attachment to biofilms and sand grains, straining at grain to grain contacts), reside freely in the pore water, or accumulate at the air/water interface. The efficiency by which FIB attach to different sand types or exist freely in the pore water depends on sand characteristics such as grain size, uniformity, moisture content and mineralogy, as well as the water chemistry, including ionic strength. As a result these factors influence the high variability in FIB sand concentrations between beaches (Alm et al. 2003, Hernandez et al. 2014, Piggot et al. 2012, Skalbeck et al. 2010). Skalbeck et al. (2010) found that E. coli sand concentrations increase with decreasing grain diameter and increasing uniformity. Their results suggest well sorted, fine grain sands may be a more favorable habitat for FIB due to the larger surface area of grain per unit volume of sand. Lee et al. (2006) showed that FIB concentrations were higher in the foreshore sand at sheltered beaches rather than wave exposed beaches. The variability in the distribution of FIB between different components of the foreshore reservoir as influenced by differences in physical characteristics adds uncertainty to characterizing the abundance of FIB in the reservoir.

Studies at freshwater and marine beaches have quantified the abundance of FIB in the foreshore reservoir by collecting sand samples (Shibata and Solo-Gabriele 2012, Vogel et al. 2016, Whitman and Nevers 2003, Wright et al. 2011), while other studies sample the pore water (Boehm et al. 2004, Skalbeck et al. 2010, Staley et al. 2015). In addition to sampling different components of the foreshore reservoir, various methods have been used to sample these components (Table 5.1). The ability of different sampling strategies to adequately express the abundance of FIB in the foreshore reservoir is unclear. Solo-Gabriele et al. (2015) indicated that sampling for FIB in sand should be considered for inclusion in regulatory programs that aim to protect recreational beach users from infectious diseases. If sampling of the foreshore reservoir is to be included in regulatory sampling, we must first develop robust scientific understanding of the components and methods used to express E. coli in the reservoir and how they may vary based on different beach characteristics. The objectives of this study were as follows: (1) determine the effect of sampling methods on the quantification of E. coli in the foreshore reservoir for freshwater beaches, (2) compare the partitioning of E. coli between different components of the reservoir (i.e. unsaturated sand, saturated sand, and pore water), and (3) determine how the sampling method or partitioning of E. coli within each component of the reservoir varies between freshwater beaches with different grain size. While this paper focuses on sampling methods for freshwater beaches, many of the findings are relevant for marine beaches. Sampling at marine beaches, however, may be more complicated due to tide-induced water level fluctuations, varying unsaturated zone depth, and salinity effects.

### 5.2 Methods

#### 5.2.1 Field site descriptions

Six beaches along the Great Lakes, in southern Ontario were selected for sampling based on their physical parameters and high frequency of surface water quality exceedances. Beach sands were defined in terms of their grain size (fraction that is 50% finer,  $d_{50}$ ) (Wentworth 1922) and their coefficient of uniformity (CU, calculated as  $d_{60}/d_{10}$  based on sieve size analysis) (ASTM 2009). Two fine grain (0.125< $d_{50}$ <0.250 mm), two medium grain (0.251< $d_{50}$ <0.500 mm), and two coarse to very coarse grain (0.501< $d_{50}$ <2.00 mm) sand beaches were selected. Field sites were also designated as "bird impacted" or "not bird impacted", and "sheltered" or "wave exposed". If there

were confirmatory microbial source tracking results, or at least 20 birds sighted at a field site on at least one of the sampling trips, the beach was designated as bird impacted. Sheltered beaches were characterized as beaches that are partially or fully protected from wave action by land or manmade physical barriers (root mean square wave height ( $H_{rms}$ ) typically ranging from 0 – 0.5 m), whereas exposed beaches are directly open to the lake ( $H_{rms}$  typically ranging from 0.5 – 2 m) (Feng et al. 2016). Since some interdependency may exist between the physical characteristics of the field sites, statistical analysis focused on examining only the effect of sand grain size. *E. coli* concentrations and their partitioning between different components of the foreshore reservoir, however, may also be impacted by the degree of wave shelter and bird presence. With only six beaches included in our study, we recommend similar studies be conducted at other beaches including marine beaches to further test our study findings. Details on our field sites are provided in Table 5.2.

	Sand grain size (d <sub>50</sub> )	Uniformity coefficient	Depth to water table (m)	Bird impacted?	Wave exposure	Historical surface water exceedances (%)	Nearby surface water inputs (distance from site)
Burlington	Fine 0.20 mm	1.49	0.20	No	Exposed	23 (Lake Ontario Waterkeeper 2016)	Burlington Bay Canal (1.5 km)
Ipperwash	Fine 0.16 mm	2.18	0.16	No	Exposed	23 (Strybos et al. 2011)	Ausable River (6 km)
Bronte	Medium 0.35 mm	2.28	0.35	Yes	Sheltered		Bronte Harbour (300 m)
Sunnyside	Medium 0.32 mm	1.53	0.32	Yes	Sheltered	62 (Environmental Defence 2004)	Humber River (500 m)
Bayfront Park	Coarse 0.53 mm	2.02	0.12	Yes	Sheltered	71 (Public Health Services 2015)	None
Marie Curtis	Coarse 1.37 mm	6.84	0.28	Yes	Exposed	61(Environmental Defence 2004)	Etobicoke Creek (200 m)

 Table 5.2: Summary of beach characteristics at individual Ontario beaches.

Ipperwash Beach (located on Lake Huron) and Burlington Beach (located on Lake Ontario) are characterized as fine grain sand beaches. Both beaches are exposed and can experience high wave activity. A recent study on Ipperwash Beach showed that release of sand-associated E. coli from the foreshore reservoir by sand erosion caused by wave heights ( $H_{rms}$ ) between 0.5 – 2 m significantly increased *E. coli* surface water concentrations (Vogel et al. 2016). The two medium sand beaches were Sunnyside Beach (described by Edge et al. (2010) and Staley and Edge (2016)) and Bronte Beach. These beaches are located on Lake Ontario and sheltered from wave activity. Sunnyside Beach is protected by several breakwater structures parallel to the shoreline. Bronte Beach is protected by a breakwater structure that runs along the northeast quadrant of the beach and delineates the outlet of Bronte Harbour. Bayfront Beach (located on Hamilton Harbour) and Marie Curtis Beach (located on Lake Ontario) were selected as the two coarse to very coarse sand/cobble beaches. Bayfront Beach (described by Edge and Hill (2007)) is sheltered by land that extends past the beach on either side and reduces water circulation. Bayfront Beach has the highest percentage of historical water quality exceedances compared to the other beaches (Table 5.2), potentially due to high gull and Canada geese numbers at this beach (Edge and Hill 2007). Marie Curtis beach is exposed to Lake Ontario with Canada geese, ducks, and other birds frequently observed along the shoreline (Beach Guides 2015).

#### 5.2.2 Sample collection methods

Three to four sampling events were conducted at all six beaches during the 2014 and 2015 bathing seasons. To evaluate how measured *E. coli* concentrations in the foreshore reservoir depend on the specific sample collection method used, three pore water (PW) and saturated sand (SAT) sampling methods were tested (shovel method, careful excavation method, and drive point/core method), as well as two unsaturated sand (UNSAT) sampling methods (1 cm depth, 5 cm depth). The unsaturated and saturated sand samples where comprised of both the sand-associated *E. coli* and *E. coli* freely residing in the pore water. The moisture content, and thus pore water volume, is lower in the unsaturated sand. All sand and pore water samples were collected in the foreshore area (approximately one meter landward from the shoreline) with replicate samples (4-5) collected for each sampling method on all sampling events. For all sampling events, 4-5 replicate surface water samples (500 mL) were also collected at ankle-depth.

#### 5.2.2.1 Shovel method (PW-Shovel, SAT-Shovel)

The shovel method consisted of digging a hole with a sterilized 1.5 m long digging shovel to the water table, while limiting the amount of surface sand collapsing in the hole. If a hole started collapsing, the hole was abandoned and a new hole was dug beside it. The shovel was sterilized using isopropyl alcohol and rinsing with sterile DI water. Pore water was collected by placing a sterile 250 mL polypropylene bottle at the bottom of the hole and allowing the pore water seeping into the hole to fill the bottle (PW-Shovel). Once the pore water was collected, approximately 100 g of saturated sand was collected by using a sterile tablespoon to scoop the bottom 1 cm of sand from the hole and place it into a Whirlpak® bag (SAT-Shovel). These methods for pore water and saturated sand collection were used by Edge et al. (2010), Staley et al. (2015), and Vogel et al. (2016). The shovel method may not be suitable for collecting pore water and saturated sand at a beach with a deep water table or at macrotidal marine beaches when sampling is conducted near the high tide mark. For these conditions, the sides of the hole may collapse during sampling.

## 5.2.2.2 Careful excavation method (PW-Careful, SAT-Careful)

When collecting samples with the shovel method, the samples can be contaminated by unsaturated surface sand falling into the hole. The careful excavation method (Careful) aimed to avoid any contamination of the samples by minimizing disturbance during sampling. For this method, a sheet of sterilized polymethyl methacrylate (0.25 x 0.30 m), or Plexiglas, was used to scrape away the sand surface and carefully excavate a hole to the water table. During excavation, no surface sand was permitted to fall into the hole. Once sufficient pore water seeped into the hole, it was collected using a 60 mL plastic, sterile syringe (PW-Careful). After the pore water was collected, a sterile spoon was used to collect the saturated sand in a similar manner as for the shovel method (SAT-Careful).

## 5.2.2.3 Drive point/core method (PW-Drive, SAT-Core)

The following sampling methods (PW-Drive and SAT-Core) were used as methods of collecting pore water and saturated sand that result in the least amount of sample disturbance. Limiting disturbance of a sample during collection enables concentrations of *E. coli* in the pore water and sand to be better quantified without sand-associated *E. coli* being released to the pore water. To

collect pore water, a drive point sampler was driven vertically downwards until the screen (AMS Stainless Steel piezometer drive point, 5 cm length screen; (Charette and Allen 2006)) was located at the water table. A peristaltic pump was used to collect water from the tubing attached to the drive point sampler (flow rate  $\approx 2$  mL/s). One volume of tubing was discarded to flush the line and prevent cross contamination between samples, and the sample was stored in a sterile polypropylene bottle (PW-Drive). This method has been used by Skalbeck et al. (2010) and Vogel et al. (2016). To collect saturated sand, clear polyethylene cores (0.25 m length, 0.05 m diameter) were hammered vertically into the sand and then dug out from the side as to not disturb the sample. Six cm of sand at the water table was taken from the core and stored in a sterile Whirlpak® bag (SAT-Core). Using a core to collect saturated sand has been used in numerous studies (e.g. Gast et al. (2011), Edge and Hill (2007), Russell et al. (2012)).

#### 5.2.2.4 Unsaturated sand methods (UNSAT-1cm, UNSAT-5cm)

Two methods were evaluated for the collection of unsaturated surface sand from the foreshore reservoir. For the first method a sterile spoon was used to collect the top 1 cm of sand (UNSAT-1cm). This method of skimming the surface has been used by Lee et al. (2006), Staley et al. (2015), and Wright et al. (2011). For the second method, a sterile polyethylene core (0.05 m diameter) was used to collect approximately the top 5 cm depth of sand (UNSAT-5cm). Desmarais et al. (2002), Alm et al. (2003), and Edge and Hill (2007) have used this second method to collect unsaturated sand. Approximately 100 g of sand was collected and stored in Whirlpak® bags for each method.

#### 5.2.3. *E. coli* enumeration

After collection, water and samples were stored on ice, transported to the laboratory, and analyzed within 6 hours. Water samples were filtered (0.45 µm pore size) using standard membrane filtration methods (American Public Health Association 1999) and placed on chromogenic differential coliform (DC) agar, supplemented with cefsulodin. The filter and agar were incubated at 44.5 °C for 20 hours and *E. coli* was then enumerated as colony forming units (CFU/100mL). To extract *E. coli* from the sand, 25 g from each homogenized sand sample was placed in a sterile polypropylene bottle, diluted with 250 mL of phosphate-buffered saline, hand shaken for 2 minutes, and allowed to settle for 2 minutes (Boehm et al. 2009b). The supernatant was then processed using the same method as the water samples. An additional 25 g

from each sand sample was used to quantify the sand moisture content and enable expression of sand-associated *E. coli* as CFU/g of dry sand. To compare the amount of *E. coli* in the sand and water, concentrations were converted to a bulk volumetric basis (CFU/cm<sup>3</sup>). For this conversion, sand concentrations were multiplied by the density of sand ( $\rho = 2.65$ g/cm<sup>3</sup> (Terzaghi et al. 1996)) and the proportion of the bulk volume taken up by sand grains (1- $\phi$ ), where  $\phi$  is porosity (0.3 (Coduto et al. 2011)). Pore water concentrations were converted from CFU/100mL to a bulk volumetric concentration (CFU/cm<sup>3</sup>) by multiplying by the porosity ( $\phi$ ).

## 5.2.4 Statistics and data analysis

All *E. coli* concentrations were log transformed and the transformed values were determined to be normally distributed prior to analysis. Statistical analyses were performed using Minitab (Minitab Inc., State College, PA) and SPSS (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY). Generalized estimating equations (GEE) were used to compare *E. coli* concentrations between different methods. This method was used to account for potential clustering in the data due to grouping data from different beaches and sampling days. Variability between datasets was evaluated using Levene's test, which analyzes the variance of the datasets. Since variance is the square of the standard deviation, standard deviation is also used throughout the paper as a measure of variability. Pearson correlation analysis was performed to compare *E. coli* concentrations between the components of the foreshore reservoir and surface water. These correlations were also run using GEE to obtain a p-value that accounted for potential data clustering. Results were considered significant with a p-value of less than 0.05.

All statistical analyses were first run on data obtained from individual beaches. Beaches were then grouped by grain size (fine, medium, coarse) and data were evaluated for relationships between grain size and *E. coli* concentrations as determined using a specific sampling method or partitioning of *E. coli* between the foreshore reservoir components. If a relationship was observed, then the preferred sampling method may vary for beaches with different grain sizes. Lastly, data from all beaches were combined to determine if there was an overall pattern between different sampling methods or *E. coli* partitioning independent of beach type.

## 5.3 Results and discussion

# 5.3.1 Comparison of methods used to characterize the foreshore bacteria reservoir

#### 5.3.1.1 Comparison of pore water sampling methods

When the data from individual beaches were analyzed, no statistical differences were observed between pore water sampling methods. When the data were grouped by grain size, the PW-Shovel method (2.66 log CFU/100mL) resulted in statistically higher *E. coli* concentrations than the PW-Drive method (2.18 log CFU/100mL; p<0.001) and the PW-Careful method (2.43 log CFU/100mL; p=0.011) at fine sand beaches. There was no significant difference observed between *E. coli* concentrations in the pore water when using the PW-Shovel, PW-Careful, and PW-Drive methods at medium and coarse sand beaches. Our results suggest that selecting a method to sample pore water may be more important at fine sand beaches as opposed to medium and coarse sand beaches where the methods produce similar results. We note that these results may be also be due to other beach characteristics (e.g. exposed versus sheltered) in addition to grain size.

The data from all beaches were combined to determine if there was an overall pattern in measured *E. coli* concentrations based on sampling method. Averaged results for the different sampling methods are provided in Table 5.3. After combining the data from all beaches, the PW-Shovel method (3.47 log CFU/100mL) resulted in statistically higher *E. coli* concentrations in the pore water than the PW-Drive method (2.95 log CFU/100mL; p<0.001) and the PW-Careful method (3.33 log CFU/100mL; p<0.001). The PW-Careful method also had statistically higher concentrations than the PW-Drive method (p<0.001) (see Table 5.3). This is mostly consistent with the findings when only the data for the fine sand beaches were considered. The higher pore water concentrations found when the PW-Shovel method was used may be due to contamination of the pore water sample by sand falling into the hole or by *E. coli* being released from sand, biofilms, or the air/water interface as it is disturbed by the shoveling. The PW-Drive method is the least disruptive sampling method and therefore it is thought that this method may provide a more representative sample of *E. coli* freely residing in the pore water. It is possible that the tendency for a greater amount of *E. coli* to attach to finer grain sand may be the reason that a significant difference was observed between PW sampling methods for fine sand beaches but not for medium

and coarse sand beaches. If more *E. coli* is attached to the sand rather than freely residing in the pore water, then the *E. coli* detachment as the sand is disturbed would be greater, increasing the amount of *E. coli* measured in the pore water. Therefore, there would be a larger difference observed between sampling methods at finer sand beaches, as seen in our study. The potential for *E. coli* to detach from sand once it is disturbed is supported by laboratory experiments by Vogel et al. (2016) which showed up to 85% detachment from sand suspension alone. This theory requires further investigation through experimental work. The data suggest that if the objective of a sampling program is to obtain a "worst case scenario" of pore water concentrations or to obtain a preliminary estimate of the total amount of *E. coli* in the saturated portion of the foreshore reservoir then the PW-Shovel method may be suitable. The PW-Shovel method is also the easiest sampling method to use and the least variable (discussed below; Table 5.3). However, if the objective is to obtain an estimation of the amount of *E. coli* freely residing in the pore water (not including *E. coli* attached to the sand) then the PW-Drive method may be more suitable.

	n	Mean	Standard Deviation	Grouping			
Pore Water (log CFU/100 mL)							
PW-Shovel	78	3.47	1.11	А			
PW-Careful	78	3.33	1.30	В			
PW-Drive	75	2.95	1.27	С			
Seturated Send (log CEU/g)							
Saturateu Sanu (	log CI ()(g)						
SAT-Shovel	75	1.31	1.05	А			
SAT-Careful	75	1.40	1.36	А			
SAT-Core	76	1.70	1.35	А			
Unsaturated Sand (log CFU/g)							
UNSAT-1cm	78	2.23	1.30	А			
UNSAT-5cm	17	1.63	0.84	В			

Table 5.3: *E. coli* concentrations and statistical test results for the different sampling methods examined with the data from all beaches combined. Groupings refer to statistically significant differences in concentration.

FIB concentrations in pore water exhibit high spatial heterogeneity and this can cause high variability between multiple samples collected at a beach on a given day (Ishii et al. 2007, Kleinheinz et al. 2006). It is important to understand how the magnitude of this variability may vary depending on the sampling method used. For example, beach managers may prefer a sampling method with lower variability between samples, so fewer samples are required at a given time to obtain higher confidence around the mean. No statistical differences were observed when the variability for the different methods was analyzed for individual beaches or by grouping data based on grain size. When the data for all beaches were combined, although the variability in E. coli concentrations between the methods also did not differ significantly (p=0.354), the PW-Shovel method had a lower standard deviation (standard deviation=1.11 log CFU/100mL) than the PW-Careful method (1.30 log CFU/100mL) and the PW-Drive method (1.27 log CFU/100mL). When collecting pore water using the PW-Shovel method, a larger volume of pore water is mixed due to the larger diameter of the hole (compared to the other sampling methods) – this may result in less variability between samples compared to the PW-Careful and PW-Drive methods. In this way, PW-Shovel may be considered a composite sampling method for pore water. Beach managers may prefer using the PW-Shovel method as it can be more representative of the overall foreshore reservoir at the beach and less biased by horizontally isolated zones of higher or lower E. coli concentrations. However, this method may be more biased due to vertical heterogeneity in the subsurface (due to sand from different layers falling into the hole and releasing E. coli). Alternatively, multiple PW-Careful or PW-Drive samples could be collected and composited to ensure a more accurate representation that captures the spatial heterogeneity at the beach.

#### 5.3.1.2 Comparison of unsaturated sand sampling methods

No significant differences were observed between the unsaturated sand sampling methods when data from the individual beaches were analyzed separately or when data were grouped based on grain size. However, when the data from all the beaches were combined, the UNSAT-1cm method (2.23 log CFU/g) had statistically higher concentrations than the UNSAT-5cm method (1.63 log CFU/g; p<0.001; Table 5.3). This is consistent with previous studies that have shown the top layer of surface sand has higher *E. coli* concentrations than deeper layers (Alm et al. 2003, Desmarais et al. 2002). There was no significant difference observed between the moisture content of the sand collected using the two methods (p=0.937). The UNSAT-1cm method (standard deviation=1.30)

log CFU/g) also had statistically more variable concentrations than the UNSAT-5cm method (standard deviation= $0.84 \log CFU/g$ ; p=0.032). The higher mean and variability observed in the top 1 cm of unsaturated sand may be due to the deposition of fecal sources to the surface of the sand (e.g. bird droppings, trash, and run-off). A range of *E. coli* retention mechanisms may also cause higher concentrations of *E. coli* in the top layer of sand (e.g., film straining, retention on biofilms or on sand surfaces, retention at the air/water interface) (Bradford et al. 2006, DeNovio et al. 2004). The results suggest that if the objective of the sampling program is to assess the highest possible amount of *E. coli* in the unsaturated sand then the UNSAT-1cm method may be suitable, however, due to the larger variability (or *E. coli* "patchiness"), a greater number of samples may have to be taken to obtain an accurate representation of the mean.

#### 5.3.1.3 Comparison of saturated sand sampling methods

Similar to the unsaturated sand results, no consistent trends were observed between sampling methods for saturated sand when the data from each beach were analyzed separately or when data were grouped together based on grain size. Further, after combining the data collected at all the beaches there was no statistical difference observed in the mean values between the saturated sand sampling methods (SAT-Shovel, SAT-Careful, SAT-Core; p=0.280; Table 5.3). This is likely due to the large standard deviations for all the sampling methods compared to the low mean E. coli concentrations observed (e.g. standard deviation of all saturated sand sampling methods=1.25 log CFU/g and mean concentration of all saturated sand sampling methods=1.47 log CFU/g). When comparing the standard deviations, saturated sand collected using the SAT-Shovel method (standard deviation=1.05 log CFU/g) resulted in lower variability in E. coli concentrations than saturated sand collected using the other methods (standard deviation=1.36 and 1.35 log CFU/g for the SAT-Careful and SAT-Core methods, respectively). This result is consistent with the PW-Shovel method having the smallest variability for the pore water sampling methods, and similarly may be attributed to the larger sampling area when the shovel method is used. As there was no significant difference between the means of the E. coli concentrations observed when using the different saturated sand sampling methods, SAT-Shovel may be the preferred method for sampling the saturated foreshore sand since this method is the simplest to implement in the field and has the smallest variation, resulting in fewer samples required to obtain an accurate representation of the mean E. coli concentration.

# 5.3.2 Comparison of E. coli in the different components of the reservoir

## 5.3.2.1 Comparison of components using all methods

Understanding how *E. coli* distributes between the different components of the foreshore reservoir (unsaturated sand, saturated sand, and pore water) is important for regulators to determine how to best sample and thus manage their beach. For example, if the amount of *E. coli* in the pore water and sand were related, then sampling pore water only (which requires less work for analysis than sand) may provide a suitable indication of the amount of *E. coli* in the foreshore reservoir. For comparison purposes, bulk volumetric units are used here. Also, *E. coli* concentrations measured using the different sampling methods are combined to compare the amount of *E. coli* in the different components of the reservoir.

Firstly, no statistical differences were observed between the different components of the reservoir when the data from each beach were analyzed separately (data provided in Table 5.4). When data were grouped to evaluate whether E. coli concentrations in the components of the foreshore reservoir are related for beaches with a certain sand grain size, it was found that as the grain size increased, the correlation between E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand and pore water increased (r=0.29, p=0.29 for fine sand; r=0.52, p<0.001 for medium sand; r=0.80, p<0.001 for coarse sand). This result is consistent with Bradford et al. (2006) as well as many colloid (microbial) studies that predict increased colloid retention in media with smaller grain sizes (Molnar et al. 2015). Retention of E. coli by these mechanisms in the unsaturated sand would increase concentrations in the unsaturated sand while pore water concentrations remain the same, resulting in little to no correlation between the two components. Although the concentration of E. coli in the unsaturated sand was not the highest at the fine sand beaches (1.40 log CFU/g for fine, 2.88 log CFU/g for medium, and 2.56 log CFU/g for coarse), the ratio of E. coli in the unsaturated sand to the saturated sand (based on log transformed concentrations) was highest for the fine sand beaches (1.9), in comparison to the medium (1.3), and coarse sand beaches (1.1). This may be due to increased retention of E. coli in the surficial unsaturated sand for finer sand beaches resulting in less downward transport of E. coli to the saturated zone. By contrast, at a coarse sand beach proportionally less E. coli is attached to the surficial unsaturated sand resulting in increased downward E. coli transport and thus increased pore water concentrations.

	n	Pore Water (log CFU/100mL)	Saturated Sand (log CFU/g)	Unsaturated Sand (log CFU/g)	Ankle-Depth (log CFU/100mL)
Burlington	13	2.31±0.57	0.50±0.71	1.91±0.84	2.38±0.36
Ipperwash	16	2.52±0.81	0.65±0.86	0.90±1.12	1.59±0.66
Bronte	12	4.03±0.80	2.16±0.88	2.52±0.77	2.44±0.42
Sunnyside	12	4.55±0.65	2.76±0.76	3.24±0.46	2.41±0.49
Bayfront Park	13	4.18±1.01	2.12±1.40	3.79±0.75	3.45±0.28
Marie Curtis	12	2.19±0.78	0.57±0.71	$1.48\pm0.80$	2.28±0.12

Table 5.4: *E. coli* concentrations at beach study sites with mean values  $\pm$  standard deviations determined by combining the data for all sampling methods for a given component of the reservoir. n corresponds to the number of samples for each method (n was taken over 3-4 sampling events at each site).

In addition to grain size having an effect on the distribution of *E. coli* in the foreshore reservoir, the degree of beach exposure and bird presence may also have an effect, although we note that these differences may be caused by interdependencies between the beach characteristics. Consistent with Lee et al. (2006) and Yamahara et al. (2007), FIB concentrations were higher at sheltered beaches than at wave exposed beaches in the pore water ( $4.36\pm0.87 \log CFU/100mL$  and  $2.73\pm1.03 \log CFU/100mL$  at sheltered and exposed beaches, respectively), unsaturated sand ( $3.19\pm0.84 \log CFU/g$  and  $1.38\pm1.05 \log CFU/g$ ), saturated sand ( $2.34\pm1.10 \log CFU/g$  and  $0.58\pm0.77 \log CFU/g$ ), and in the ankle-depth water ( $2.85\pm0.67 \log CFU/100mL$  and  $2.13\pm0.57 \log CFU/100mL$ ). Similar to Bonilla et al. (2007), *E. coli* concentrations were also higher at bird impacted beaches than at non-bird impacted beaches in the pore water ( $3.74\pm1.22 \log CFU/100mL$  and  $2.43\pm0.72 \log CFU/100mL$  at bird and non-bird impacted beaches, respectively), unsaturated sand ( $2.76\pm1.11 \log CFU/g$  and  $1.35\pm1.12 \log CFU/g$ ), saturated sand ( $1.91\pm1.27 \log CFU/g$  and  $0.58\pm0.80 \log CFU/g$ ), and in the ankle-depth water ( $2.60\pm0.57 \log CFU/100mL$  and  $1.96\pm0.67 \log CFU/100mL$  and  $1.96\pm0.67 \log CFU/100mL$ ).

The amount of *E. coli* in the different components of the reservoir was analyzed with the data from the six beaches combined. Unsaturated sand statistically had the highest *E. coli* concentrations (3.93 log CFU/cm<sup>3</sup>) followed by saturated sand (2.73 log CFU/cm<sup>3</sup>), and then pore water (0.98 log

CFU/cm<sup>3</sup>) (p<0.001). Higher *E. coli* concentrations in the unsaturated sand over the saturated sand are consistent with Yamahara et al. (2007) and Beversdorf et al. (2007). In addition, pore water (standard deviation=0.37 log CFU/cm<sup>3</sup>) was statistically less variable than unsaturated (standard deviation=2.32 log CFU/cm<sup>3</sup>) and saturated sand (standard deviation=2.35 log CFU/cm<sup>3</sup>; p<0.001). The results suggest that sampling the unsaturated sand may provide the "worst case scenario" for the amount of *E. coli* in the foreshore reservoir although multiple samples are required to determine the true mean concentration of *E. coli* due to variability caused by high spatial heterogeneity in the unsaturated sand.

When comparing the different components of the reservoir at a given sampling location with data for all the beaches combined, a very strong significant correlation was observed between the saturated sand and the pore water (r=0.953, p<0.001; Table 5.5). This correlation is most likely a result of the saturated sand samples being a composite of sand and pore water, indicating that sampling either the saturated sand or pore water provides a good indication of the amount of *E. coli* in the saturated subsurface (not including unsaturated sand). The unsaturated sand was also correlated with the pore water, but not as strongly (r=0.682, p<0.001). While the unsaturated and saturated sand were correlated (r=0.695, p=0.004), the correlation was higher for pore water and saturated sand.

	Pore Water	re Water Saturated Sand		Ankle-Depth Water
Pore Water	1	0.953 (<0.001)	0.682 (<0.001)	0.262 (0.001)
Saturated Sand	1	1	0.695 (0.004)	0.300 (0.005)
Unsaturated Sand	1	1	1	0.579 (<0.001)
Ankle-Depth Water	1	1	1	1

Table 5.5: Correlations between different components of the foreshore reservoir and surface water for all beaches combined. Results are displayed as r(p).

E. coli concentrations in the foreshore reservoir components were compared to ankle-depth water concentrations to test for significant correlations. The component that was most representative of the ankle-depth water was the unsaturated sand (r=0.579, p<0.001; Table 5.5). This correlation was likely dominated by the contribution from the exposed beaches where a strong relationship between the ankle-depth water and unsaturated sand E. coli concentrations has been observed in previous studies at exposed beaches (Alm et al. 2003, Skalbeck et al. 2010) but not necessarily at sheltered beaches (Edge and Hill 2007). The relationship between the ankle-depth water concentrations and unsaturated sand concentrations at exposed beaches may be due to continuous exchange of E. coli between the surface water and unsaturated sand due to wave-induced infiltration-exfiltration processes (Alm et al. 2003, Wu et al. 2017, Yamahara et al. 2007). Understanding the relationship between the surface water concentrations and foreshore sand concentrations provides insight into the extent of the exchange of E. coli between the foreshore reservoir and surface water as well as whether collecting surface water samples provides any indication of the abundance of FIB in the foreshore reservoir. This information can be beneficial from a regulatory compliance perspective. Correlations were also observed between the surface water and the pore water (r=0.262, p=0.001) and the saturated sand (r=0.300, p=0.005).

#### 5.3.2.2 Comparison of components using individual methods

After no statistical differences were observed when data from each beach were analyzed separately and after data were grouped together based on grain size, data from all beaches were combined and analyzed to determine if the sampling method used affected assessment of the distribution of *E. coli* in the saturated foreshore reservoir – i.e. the partitioning of *E. coli* between the saturated sand versus pore water. At all sampling locations and times, the percentage of *E. coli* in the pore water relative to the total *E. coli* in the saturated reservoir (considering bulk volume concentrations) was calculated for each of the three sampling methods used (shovel, careful, and drive/core). Statistically, the shovel sampling method results in the highest percentage of *E. coli* in the pore water and in turn, the lowest percentage of *E. coli* attached to the saturated sand, followed by the careful excavation method, which was followed by the drive point/core method (Figure 5.1) (p=0.001). As discussed in Section 3.1.1, the disturbance caused by digging with a shovel may cause *E. coli* to detach from the sand resulting in higher pore water concentrations and lower saturated sand concentrations. The least disruptive method was the drive point method,

which caused the least amount of *E. coli* detachment from the sand. Understanding the tendency of *E. coli* to remain attached to the sand or alternatively detach to the pore water, based on the sampling method used, is important in deciding which sampling method is the most appropriate for a given purpose.



Figure 5.1: Percentage of *E. coli* in the saturated sand and in the pore water relative to the total *E. coli* in the saturated reservoir (considering bulk volumetric concentrations) considering the data from all beaches. Percentages for each method are statistically different from one another (p=0.001). Error bars indicate  $\pm$  one standard deviation from the mean of the percentage.

## 5.4 Conclusion

Improved understanding of the partitioning of FIB between the different components of the foreshore reservoir (pore water, unsaturated sand, saturated sand) as well as how different sampling methods affect the measured FIB concentrations in these components is essential to develop better monitoring programs to protect public health at recreational beaches. Findings from this study have the following implications for sampling programs designed to assess FIB contamination:

Selection of an appropriate method for sampling pore water is most significant at fine sand beaches (0.125<d<sub>50</sub><0.250 mm). At these beaches the PW-Shovel method resulted in statistically higher measured *E. coli* pore water concentrations compared to PW-Careful and PW-Drive methods. While the PW-Shovel method also resulted in higher *E. coli* concentrations at most medium and coarse sand study beaches, the differences were not statistically significant. At medium and coarse sand beaches using the PW-Shovel method

may be appropriate as it is the easiest method and also provides the least variability in *E. coli* concentrations meaning less samples may need to be collected.

- The depth over which an unsaturated (surface) sand sample is collected significantly affects the sampling results. The top 1-cm of unsaturated sand (UNSAT-1cm) has higher and more variable *E. coli* concentrations than the top 5-cm of unsaturated sand (UNSAT-5 cm). Choosing the appropriate sampling depth depends on whether the objective of a sampling program is to identify the "worst case scenario" of *E. coli* concentrations or determine a representative amount of *E. coli* associated with the upper unsaturated sand layer.
- For saturated sand, *E. coli* concentrations were highly variable relative to their mean concentrations and so the mean values were not statistically different for each of the sampling methods.
- The highest *E. coli* concentrations in all reservoir components (pore water, unsaturated sand, saturated sand) were found at sheltered beaches and those impacted by birds.
- As sand grain size increased, the correlation between *E. coli* concentrations in the unsaturated sand and pore water increased which may be due to finer sand retaining a higher amount of *E. coli* in the unsaturated surface sand rather than allowing *E. coli* to more consistently distribute within the reservoir.
- If foreshore sand or pore water is added into the sampling regime for public health monitoring, the decision about the number of samples to be taken should reflect the large variability observed between replicate samples collected for the different components of the foreshore reservoir.

# Acknowledgements

This research was supported by a Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) Strategic Grant (STPGP 430698-12). We thank the members of RESTORE and summer students who assisted with the study. We would also like to thank Dr. Allan Crowe for contributing ideas that sparked this study.

# 5.5 References

- Alm, E.W., Burke, J., Spain, A., 2003. Fecal indicator bacteria are abundant in wet sand at freshwater beaches. Water Research 37 (16), 3978-3982.
- American Public Health Association, 1999. Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater. American Public Health Association, Washington D.C.
- ASTM, 2009. Standard Test Methods for Particle-size Distribution (Gradation) of Soils Using Sieve Analysis, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA.
- Beach Guides, 2015. Marie Curtis Park Beach. BeachGuides.org. http://www.beachguides.org/beaches/marie-curtis-park-beach/86/.
- Beversdorf, L., Bornstein- Forst, S., McLellan, S., 2007. The potential for beach sand to serve as a reservoir for Escherichia coli and the physical influences on cell die- off. Journal of Applied Microbiology 102 (5), 1372-1381.
- Boehm, A.B., Griffith, J., McGee, C., Edge, T.A., Solo- Gabriele, H.M., Whitman, R., Cao, Y., Getrich, M., Jay, J.A., Ferguson, D., 2009b. Faecal indicator bacteria enumeration in beach sand: a comparison study of extraction methods in medium to coarse sands. Journal of Applied Microbiology 107 (5), 1740-1750.
- Boehm, A.B., Shellenbarger, G.G., Paytan, A., 2004. Groundwater discharge: potential association with fecal indicator bacteria in the surf zone. Environmental Science & Technology 38(13), 3558-3566.
- Boehm, A.B., Yamahara, K.M., Sassoubre, L.M., 2014. Diversity and transport of microorganisms in intertidal sands of the California coast. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 80(13), 3943-3951.
- Bonilla, T.D., Nowosielski, K., Cuvelier, M., Hartz, A., Green, M., Esiobu, N., McCorquodale, D.S., Fleisher, J.M., Rogerson, A., 2007. Prevalence and distribution of fecal indicator organisms in South Florida beach sand and preliminary assessment of health effects associated with beach sand exposure. Marine Pollution Bulletin 54 (9), 1472-1482.
- Bradford, S.A., Simunek, J., Walker, S.L., 2006. Transport and straining of E. coli O157: H7 in saturated porous media. Water Resources Research 42 (12).
- Brown, K.I., Boehm, A.B., 2016. Transport of fecal indicators from beach sand to the surf zone by recirculating seawater: laboratory experiments and numerical modeling. Environmental Science & Technology 50 (23), 12840-12847.
- Byappanahalli, M.N., Whitman, R.L., Shively, D.A., Ting, W.E., Tseng, C.C., Nevers, M.B., 2006. Seasonal persistence and population characteristics of Escherichia coli and enterococci in deep backshore sand of two freshwater beaches. Journal of Water and Health 4 (3), 313-320.
- Charette, M.A., Allen, M.C., 2006. Precision Ground Water Sampling in Coastal Aquifers Using a Direct- Push, Shielded- Screen Well- Point System. Groundwater Monitoring & Remediation 26 (2), 87-93.
- City of Hamilton, 2015. Hamilton Public Health Services 2015 Beach Monitoring Report. Public Health Services, Health Protection Division. Hamilton, ON. https://www.hamilton.ca/sites/default/files/media/browser/2015-02-18/final-beach-monitoring-report-2015.pdf.
- Coduto, D.P., Yeung, M.C., Kitch, W.A., 2011. Geotechnical Engineering: Principles and Practices, Pearson. New York.
- DeNovio, N.M., Saiers, J.E., Ryan, J.N., 2004. Colloid movement in unsaturated porous media. Vadose Zone Journal 3 (2), 338-351.

- Desmarais, T.R., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Palmer, C.J., 2002. Influence of soil on fecal indicator organisms in a tidally influenced subtropical environment. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 68 (3), 1165-1172.
- Dufour, A.P. (1984) Health effects criteria for fresh recreational waters. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D.C.
- Edge, T., Hill, S., Seto, P., Marsalek, J., 2010. Library-dependent and library-independent microbial source tracking to identify spatial variation in faecal contamination sources along a Lake Ontario beach (Ontario, Canada). Water Science & Technology 62 (3), 719-727.
- Edge, T.A., Hill, S., 2007. Multiple lines of evidence to identify the sources of fecal pollution at a freshwater beach in Hamilton Harbour, Lake Ontario. Water Research 41 (16), 3585-3594.
- Enns, A.A., Vogel, L.J., Abdelzaher, A.M., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Plano, L.R., Gidley, M.L., Phillips, M.C., Klaus, J.S., Piggot, A.M., Feng, Z., 2012. Spatial and temporal variation in indicator microbe sampling is influential in beach management decisions. Water Research 46 (7), 2237-2246.
- Environmental Defence, 2004. Making Waves: An Evaluation of Toronto's Beaches for the Blue Flag Program. Toronto, ON. http://www.blueflag.ca/reports/documents/Revised%20PDF%20small\_1.pdf.
- Feng, Z., Reniers, A., Haus, B.K., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Kelly, E.A., 2016. Wave energy level and geographic setting correlate with Florida beach water quality. Marine Pollution Bulletin 104 (1), 54-60.
- Ferguson, D., Moore, D., Getrich, M., Zhowandai, M., 2005. Enumeration and speciation of enterococci found in marine and intertidal sediments and coastal water in southern California. Journal of Applied Microbiology 99 (3), 598-608.
- Gast, R.J., Gorrell, L., Raubenheimer, B., Elgar, S., 2011. Impact of erosion and accretion on the distribution of enterococci in beach sands. Continental Shelf Research 31 (14), 1457-1461.
- Halliday, E., Ralston, D.K., Gast, R.J., 2014. Contribution of sand-associated enterococci to dry weather water quality. Environmental Science & Technology 49 (1), 451-458.
- Health Canada, 2012. Guidelines for Canadian Recreational Water Quality, Third Edition, Water, Air and Climate Change Bureau, Healthy Environments and Consumer Safety Branch, Health Canada, Ottawa, ON.
- Heaney, C.D., Sams, E., Wing, S., Marshall, S., Brenner, K., Dufour, A.P., Wade, T.J., 2009. Contact with beach sand among beachgoers and risk of illness. American Journal of Epidemiology 170 (2), 164-172.
- Hernandez, R.J., Hernandez, Y., Jimenez, N.H., Piggot, A.M., Klaus, J.S., Feng, Z., Reniers, A., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., 2014. Effects of full-scale beach renovation on fecal indicator levels in shoreline sand and water. Water Research 48, 579-591.
- Ishii, S., Hansen, D.L., Hicks, R.E., Sadowsky, M.J., 2007. Beach sand and sediments are temporal sinks and sources of Escherichia coli in Lake Superior. Environmental Science & Technology 41 (7), 2203-2209.
- Kinzelman, J.L., McLellan, S.L., 2009. Success of science-based best management practices in reducing swimming bans—a case study from Racine, Wisconsin, USA. Aquatic Ecosystem Health & Management 12 (2), 187-196.

- Kinzelman, J.L., McLellan, S.L., Daniels, A.D., Cashin, S., Singh, A., Gradus, S., Bagley, R., 2004. Non-point source pollution: determination of replication versus persistence of Escherichia coli in surface water and sediments with correlation of levels to readily measurable environmental parameters. Journal of Water and Health 2 (2), 103-114.
- Kleinheinz, G.T., McDermott, C.M., Leewis, M.-C., Englebert, E., 2006. Influence of sampling depth on Escherichia coli concentrations in beach monitoring. Water Research 40 (20), 3831-3837.
- Lake Ontario Water Keeper, 2016. Swim Guide: Beachway Park. Lake Ontario Water Keeper, Burlington, ON. https://www.theswimguide.org/beach/67?set\_language=en.
- LaLiberte, P., Grimes, D.J., 1982. Survival of Escherichia coli in lake bottom sediment. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 43 (3), 623-628.
- Le Fevre, N., Lewis, G., 2003. The role of resuspension in enterococci distribution in water at an urban beach. Water Science & Technology 47 (3), 205-210.
- Lee, C.M., Lin, T.Y., Lin, C.-C., Kohbodi, G.A., Bhatt, A., Lee, R., Jay, J.A., 2006. Persistence of fecal indicator bacteria in Santa Monica Bay beach sediments. Water Research 40 (14), 2593-2602.
- Marion, J., Lee, J., Lemeshow, S., Buckley, T., 2010. Association of gastrointestinal illness and recreational water exposure at an inland US beach. Water Research 44 (16), 4796-4804.
- Molnar, I.L., Johnson, W.P., Gerhard, J.I., Willson, C.S., O'Carroll, D.M., 2015. Predicting colloid transport through saturated porous media: A critical review. Water Resources Research 51 (9), 6804-6845.
- Obiri-Danso, K., Jones, K., 2000. Intertidal sediments as reservoirs for hippurate negative campylobacters, salmonellae and faecal indicators in three EU recognised bathing waters in north west England. Water Research 34 (2), 519-527.
- Phillips, M.C., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Reniers, A.J., Wang, J.D., Kiger, R.T., Abdel-Mottaleb, N., 2011. Pore water transport of enterococci out of beach sediments. Marine Pollution Bulletin 62 (11), 2293-2298.
- Piggot, A.M., Klaus, J.S., Johnson, S., Phillips, M.C., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., 2012. Relationship between enterococcal levels and sediment biofilms at recreational beaches in South Florida. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 78 (17), 5973-5982.
- Russell, T.L., Yamahara, K.M., Boehm, A.B., 2012. Mobilization and transport of naturally occurring enterococci in beach sands subject to transient infiltration of seawater. Environmental Science & Technology 46 (11), 5988-5996.
- Shah, A., Abdelzaher, A., Phillips, M., Hernandez, R., Solo- Gabriele, H., Kish, J., Scorzetti, G., Fell, J., Diaz, M., Scott, T., 2011. Indicator microbes correlate with pathogenic bacteria, yeasts and helminthes in sand at a subtropical recreational beach site. Journal of Applied Microbiology 110 (6), 1571-1583.
- Shibata, T., Solo-Gabriele, H.M., 2012. Quantitative microbial risk assessment of human illness from exposure to marine beach sand. Environmental Science & Technology 46 (5), 2799-2805.
- Skalbeck, J.D., Kinzelman, J.L., Mayer, G.C., 2010. Fecal indicator organism density in beach sands: Impact of sediment grain size, uniformity, and hydrologic factors on surface water loading. Journal of Great Lakes Research 36 (4), 707-714.
- Solo-Gabriele, H.M., Harwood, V.J., Kay, D., Fujioka, R.S., Sadowsky, M.J., Whitman, R.L., Wither, A., Caniça, M., Carvalho da Fonseca, R., Duarte, A., 2015. Beach sand and the

potential for infectious disease transmission: Observations and recommendations. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 96, 101-120.

- Staley, Z.R., Edge, T.A., 2016. Comparative microbial source tracking methods for identification of fecal contamination sources at Sunnyside Beach in the Toronto region area of concern. Journal of Water and Health 14 (5), 839-850.
- Staley, Z.R., Vogel, L., Robinson, C., Edge, T.A., 2015. Differential occurrence of Escherichia coli and human Bacteroidales at two Great Lakes beaches. Journal of Great Lakes Research 41, 530-535.
- Strybos, M., Andreae, M., Carroll, E., Van Zwol, J., 2011. Lambton Shores Tributaries Watershed Report. Lake Huron Community Action. https://www.lakehuroncommunityaction.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/Lambton-Shores-Watershed-Report-2011.pdf.
- Terzaghi, K., Peck, R.B., Mesri, G., 1996. Soil Mechanics in Engineering Practice. John Wiley & Sons, New York, NY.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2012. Recreational Water Quality Criteria. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D.C.
- Vogel, L.J., O'Carroll, D.M., Edge, T.A., Robinson, C.E., 2016. Release of Escherichia coli from Foreshore Sand and Pore Water during Intensified Wave Conditions at a Recreational Beach. Environmental Science & Technology 50 (11), 5676-5684.
- Wentworth, C.K., 1922. A scale of grade and class terms for clastic sediments. The Journal of Geology 30 (5), 377-392.
- Whitman, R.L., Nevers, M.B., 2003. Foreshore sand as a source of Escherichia coli in nearshore water of a Lake Michigan beach. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69 (9), 5555-5562.
- Whitman, R.L., Shively, D.A., Ting, W., Tseng, C., Nevers, M., 2006. Seasonal persistence and population characteristics of Escherichia coli and enterococci in deep backshore sand of two freshwater beaches. Journal of Water and Health 4, 313-320.
- Wright, M., Abdelzaher, A., Solo-Gabriele, H., Elmir, S., Fleming, L., 2011. The inter-tidal zone is the pathway of input of enterococci to a subtropical recreational marine beach. Water Science & Technology 63 (3), 542-549.
- Wu, M.Z., O'Carroll, D.M., Vogel, L.J., Robinson, C.E., 2017. Effect of low energy waves on the accumulation and transport of fecal Indicator bacteria in sand and pore water at freshwater beaches. Environmental Science & Technology 51 (5), 2786-2794.
- Yamahara, K.M., Layton, B.A., Santoro, A.E., Boehm, A.B., 2007. Beach sands along the California coast are diffuse sources of fecal bacteria to coastal waters. Environmental Science & Technology 41 (13), 4515-4521.

# Chapter 6

# 6 Conclusions and recommendations

#### 6.1 Summary

This thesis addresses key knowledge gaps pertaining to fecal indicator bacteria (FIB) in foreshore beach sand and pore water (i.e. foreshore reservoir) at beaches. First, factors affecting the abundance and accumulation of FIB in the foreshore reservoir and how the reservoir affects surface water FIB concentrations were explored. Second, the pathways by which FIB that have accumulated in the foreshore reservoir may be transport to adjacent surface waters under high wave conditions were investigated. Finally, methods to sample FIB in the foreshore sand and pore water were compared to provide recommendations on how to appropriately determine the abundance of FIB in the foreshore reservoir. Ultimately this research provides new knowledge needed to better predict water quality exceedances at beaches and to improve beach water quality monitoring programs and modeling.

Sampling of *E. coli* concentrations in the foreshore reservoir at three Great Lake beaches over the bathing season (May – October) combined with high frequency daily sampling at one beach indicate complex temporal dynamics in foreshore reservoir *E. coli* concentrations. Seasonal variability in *E. coli* concentrations in the surface water at the three beaches were found to depend on environmental factors (e.g. temperature, rainfall, waves) as well as external *E. coli* sources (e.g. nearby tributaries). Surface water *E. coli* concentrations at beaches without external inputs from a tributary were found to be related to *E. coli* concentrations in the foreshore reservoir with the seasonal trend following a similar trend to that of the air temperature. Surface water *E. coli* concentrations at a beach adjacent to a creek did not follow any seasonal patterns with surface water concentrations. Daily sampling of the foreshore reservoir at one beach showed significant variability on a daily-time scale. Data indicate that *E. coli* does not simply accumulate in the foreshore reservoir over the bathing season as previously thought (Ishii et al. 2007, Whitman and Nevers 2003). This study further showed for the first time that *E. coli* may replicate in unseeded

natural foreshore beach sand, not subjected to any external stimuli. Replication may in part explain the large temporal variations observed in FIB concentrations in unsaturated sand.

Based on intensive field sampling during periods of high wave intensity, it was found that sand erosion rather than pore water flow and discharge may be the dominant mechanism for the transfer of *E. coli* from the foreshore reservoir to surface water at fine sand beaches. A mass balance showed that the amount of *E. coli* measured in eroded sand prior to the wave event was sufficient to account for the measured increase in *E. coli* concentrations in the surface water. Field data indicated that in order for waves and associated sand erosion to significantly affect surface water *E. coli* concentrations, there must be a preceding period of calm non-erosive wave conditions during which *E. coli* can build-up in the foreshore reservoir. The magnitude of the average wave height also affected the time for *E. coli* concentrations in the surface water to decrease after the maximum concentrations have occurred. This is likely due to increased offshore mixing associated with higher wave activity. In addition, *E. coli* concentrations in the upgradient beach area (i.e. landward of the initial foreshore zone) were found to increase as the shoreline moved landward in response to larger wave activity. This may be due to lake water infiltrating into the upgradient unsaturated sand and delivering *E. coli* to the sand/pore water or due to the reviving of nonculturable bacteria through added moisture.

Beaches that are sheltered from waves and those with large bird populations were found to have higher *E. coli* concentrations in the surface water, as well as in the foreshore pore water, unsaturated sand, and saturated sand. After comparing methods for sampling FIB in pore water at six beaches with different sand characteristics, it was found that the sampling method chosen significantly affected the observed porewater FIB concentrations at fine sand beaches, but not at medium or coarse grain sand beaches. Data indicate that collecting pore water microbial samples using a shovel (PW-Shovel method) may be the most appropriate method at medium and coarse sand beaches as it is logistically the easiest method and provides little variability between samples compared to other methods. The method used for sampling at a fine sand beach should be determined based on the purpose of sampling. The study also found that the depth over which unsaturated sand samples are collected affects the FIB concentration with the highest FIB concentrations observed in the top 1 cm below the sand surface. This top layer of unsaturated surface sand was found to retain a larger proportion of *E. coli* at fine sand beaches compared to

coarse grain sands which showed a more even distribution of FIB over the top 5 cm below the sediment surface. Due to the highly variable concentrations observed in saturated sand relative to the mean concentrations, the saturated sand concentrations were not statistically different when different sampling methods were used. Finally, the high variability in FIB concentrations observed in all of the components of the foreshore reservoir (i.e. pore water, unsaturated sand, saturated sand) highlights the need for replicate samples, especially if foreshore sand and pore water are to be added to the sampling regime for public health monitoring.

#### 6.2 Implications

The research presented in this thesis has important implications for beach water quality monitoring practices and modeling. The current practice for informing the public of a potential health hazard at a beach is inadequate. The lengthy time associated with FIB enumeration leads to beach advisories and closures that occur well after a water quality exceedance event has passed. New knowledge from this thesis can be applied to improve the accuracy of statistical and process-based models developed to predict beach water quality exceedances. This is critical for protecting human health at recreational beaches.

The techniques used in this thesis to evaluate how environmental factors, such as temperature and proximity to rivers/creeks, affect FIB concentrations in the foreshore reservoir on both a daily and seasonal scale can be applied to individual beaches to better predict when a water quality exceedance will occur. This information can then be combined with the results from Chapter 4 to determine how FIB in the foreshore reservoir can be transported to the surface water and cause a water quality exceedance. This thesis also highlighted the importance of sand grain size at beaches and how this may affect different management and monitoring approaches at individual beaches. For example, sand erosion may be the dominant mechanism that transfers FIB from the foreshore reservoir to surface water at fine sand beaches, however, interstitial pore water flow and discharge may be a more important mechanism for the transport of FIB from the foreshore reservoir to surface water at coarse sand beaches. Chapter 5 also concluded that sand grain size affects the distribution of FIB in the foreshore reservoir as well as the concentrations observed when using different methods to sample foreshore sand and pore water. The variations associated with the different components of the reservoir and different sampling methods needs to be considered in

determining the optimum approach to assess risk. Significant growth of *E. coli* was also observed in unaltered and unseeded beach sand, not subjected to any external stimuli. Therefore, the ability of *E. coli* in representing a contamination event where there is an increased presence of pathogens may not be suitable if *E. coli* are able to thrive and even replicate in the beach environment.

#### 6.3 Recommendations and future work

Although this thesis addressed key knowledge gaps related to recreational water quality monitoring and modeling, there are some limitations. Future work is required to address remaining uncertainties. For example, Chapter 3 explored variability of FIB in the foreshore reservoir, but was limited by the number of field sites. Environmental data was also limited to do the remoteness of some of the field sites. Further, short-term (daily) sampling was only conducted at one field site, limiting the applicability of the results to other beaches. The following are recommendations for future work aimed at improving understanding of FIB accumulation and variability in the foreshore reservoir.

- Evaluate the dynamics of FIB concentrations in the foreshore reservoir at different beach types (urban/rural, point source/non-point source, etc.) to more broadly understand and generalize factors controlling the temporal variability.
- Compare the relative occurrence and accumulation of pathogens relative to FIB in the foreshore reservoir.
- Conduct epidemiological studies at different types of beaches (urban/rural, point source/non-point source, fine sand/coarse sand etc.) to determine the health risk associated with high FIB levels in the foreshore reservoir. Also, conduct epidemiological studies at specifically non-point source beaches that have the potential for FIB growth in the sand to determine the health risk associated with the increased levels of FIB.
- Conduct combined field and laboratory studies to determine why FIB may replicate in the foreshore reservoir at some beaches but not at others and what parameters control this.
- While there is most likely a continuous exchange between the foreshore reservoir and surface water, detailed field studies need to be conducted to explicitly evaluate if high FIB presence in the foreshore reservoir usually comes first and leads to high concentrations in the surface water, or if the reverse is true.

- Investigate the importance of biofilm and organic matter build-up at the shoreline in the accumulation of FIB in the foreshore reservoir.
- Use microbial source tracking techniques to determine sources of FIB in the foreshore reservoir including markers for human sewage as well as birds and other wildlife.
- Investigate beach restoration and design options that may reduce the accumulation and potential replication of FIB in the foreshore reservoir (e.g. beach grooming, wildlife deterrents).

Chapter 4 focused on the influence of high wave conditions on the transport of FIB from the foreshore reservoir to the surface water. The majority of the data presented in this chapter was from one field site, limiting the applicability of the results to other beaches, especially marine beaches. This study exclusively focused on the movement of *E. coli*, and therefore the applicability of these results for the transport of other bacterial, protozoan, or viral pathogens remains unclear. The following are recommendations to further enhance and generalize our understanding of FIB transport from the foreshore reservoir to surface waters.

- Determine if erosion and interstitial pore water flow is also important for mobilizing bacterial, protozoan, and viral pathogens from the foreshore reservoir to surface water.
- Conduct rigorous field studies to examine FIB transport at beaches with different grain sizes (medium, coarse) to determine if sand erosion is the dominant transport mechanism from the foreshore reservoir to surface water at non fine sand beaches.
- Conduct field or modeling studies to determine the length of time FIB are generally in the foreshore reservoir before they are flushed out by the surface water or die.
- Determine if the mechanisms by which FIB is releases from the foreshore reservoir to surface water varies for beaches with engineering structures (e.g. breakwater structure) or at sheltered embayed beaches.
- Use field data to develop coupled groundwater-surface water mechanistic models to evaluate the release of FIB from the foreshore reservoir and the subsequent fate of FIB in the surface water (i.e. due to offshore mixing).

Chapter 5 compared results obtained when different methods were used to sample the foreshore reservoir and evaluated how FIB partitions between the components of the reservoir (i.e.
unsaturated sand, saturated sand, pore water). This study was limited by the number and types of field sites and would benefit from additional results from other beaches. The limited number of field sites in addition to the numerous variables compared (e.g. grain size, exposure to waves, impact of birds) made it difficult to differentiate results based on individual variables. The following are recommendations for work that is required to finalize a standard sampling method for foreshore sand and pore water to enumerate FIB as may be required in the future for beach monitoring programs.

- Compare sand and pore water sampling methods at more beaches, especially marine beaches, to determine if results are consistent to the beaches examined in this study.
- Compare the methods and results in this study to sampling other bacteria and pathogens to determine if the results are consistent.
- Communicate with government stakeholders and health departments to evaluate the feasibility of adding foreshore reservoir sampling to current water quality sampling protocols.
- Explore other sampling methods such as composite samples and longer core samples that may be used to sample sand and pore water at beaches.

## 6.4 References

- Ishii, S., Hansen, D.L., Hicks, R.E., Sadowsky, M.J., 2007. Beach sand and sediments are temporal sinks and sources of Escherichia coli in Lake Superior. Environmental Science & Technology 41 (7), 2203-2209.
- Whitman, R.L., Nevers, M.B., 2003. Foreshore sand as a source of Escherichia coli in nearshore water of a Lake Michigan beach. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69 (9), 5555-5562.

Appendix A: Supplementary Material for "Temporal variations in the abundance of fecal indicator bacteria in foreshore sand and porewater at freshwater beaches"

A.1 Correlation plots for Burlington Beach



Figure A.1: E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand at Burlington Beach compared to temperature.



Figure A.2: E. coli concentrations in the saturated sand at Burlington Beach compared to temperature.



Figure A.3: E. coli concentrations in the pore water at Burlington Beach compared to temperature.



Figure A.4: E. coli concentrations in the ankle-depth water at Burlington Beach compared to temperature.



Figure A.5: E. coli concentrations in the waist-depth water at Burlington Beach compared to temperature.



Figure A.6: E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand at Burlington Beach compared to wave height.



Figure A.7: E. coli concentrations in the saturated sand at Burlington Beach compared to wave height.



Figure A.8: E. coli concentrations in the pore water at Burlington Beach compared to wave height.



Figure A.9: E. coli concentrations in the ankle-depth water at Burlington Beach compared to wave height.



Figure A.10: E. coli concentrations in the waist-depth water at Burlington Beach compared to wave height.



Figure A.11: E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand at Burlington Beach compared to rainfall.



Figure A.12: E. coli concentrations in the saturated sand at Burlington Beach compared to rainfall.



Figure A.13: E. coli concentrations in the pore water at Burlington Beach compared to rainfall.



Figure A.14: E. coli concentrations in the ankle-depth water at Burlington Beach compared to rainfall.



Figure A.15: *E. coli* concentrations in the waist-depth water at Burlington Beach compared to rainfall.





Figure A.16: E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand at Marie Curtis Beach compared to temperature.



Figure A.17: E. coli concentrations in the saturated sand at Marie Curtis Beach compared to temperature.



Figure A.18: *E. coli* concentrations in the pore water at Marie Curtis Beach compared to temperature.



Figure A.19: E. coli concentrations in the ankle-depth water at Marie Curtis Beach compared to temperature.



Figure A.20: E. coli concentrations in the waist-depth water at Marie Curtis Beach compared to temperature.



Figure A.21: E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand at Marie Curtis Beach compared to wave height.



Figure A.22: E. coli concentrations in the saturated sand at Marie Curtis Beach compared to wave height.



Figure A.23: E. coli concentrations in the pore water at Marie Curtis Beach compared to wave height.



Figure A.24: E. coli concentrations in the ankle-depth water at Marie Curtis Beach compared to wave height.



Figure A.25: E. coli concentrations in the waist-depth water at Marie Curtis Beach compared to wave height.



Figure A.26: E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand at Marie Curtis Beach compared to rainfall.



Figure A.27: E. coli concentrations in the saturated sand at Marie Curtis Beach compared to rainfall.



Figure A.28: E. coli concentrations in the pore water at Marie Curtis Beach compared to rainfall.



Figure A.29: E. coli concentrations in the ankle-depth water at Marie Curtis Beach compared to rainfall.



Figure A.30: E. coli concentrations in the waist-depth water at Marie Curtis Beach compared to rainfall.



Figure A.31: *E. coli* concentrations in the unsaturated sand at Marie Curtis Beach compared to flow rate in Etobicoke Creek.



Figure A.32: *E. coli* concentrations in the saturated sand at Marie Curtis Beach compared to flow rate in Etobicoke Creek.



Figure A.33: *E. coli* concentrations in the pore water at Marie Curtis Beach compared to flow rate in Etobicoke Creek.



Figure A.34: *E. coli* concentrations in the ankle-depth water at Marie Curtis Beach compared to flow rate in Etobicoke Creek.



Figure A.35: *E. coli* concentrations in the waist-depth water at Marie Curtis Beach compared to flow rate in Etobicoke Creek.

### A.3 Correlation plots for Ipperwash Beach



Figure A.36: E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand at Ipperwash Beach compared to temperature.



Figure A.37: *E. coli* concentrations in the saturated sand at Ipperwash Beach compared to temperature.



Figure A.38: E. coli concentrations in the pore water at Ipperwash Beach compared to temperature.



Figure A.39: E. coli concentrations in the ankle-depth water at Ipperwash Beach compared to temperature.



Figure A.40: E. coli concentrations in the waist-depth water at Ipperwash Beach compared to temperature.



Figure A.41: E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand at Ipperwash Beach compared to wave height.



Figure A.42: E. coli concentrations in the saturated sand at Ipperwash Beach compared to wave height.



Figure A.43: E. coli concentrations in the pore water at Ipperwash Beach compared to wave height.



Figure A.44: E. coli concentrations in the ankle-depth water at Ipperwash Beach compared to wave height.



Figure A.45: E. coli concentrations in the waist-depth water at Ipperwash Beach compared to wave height.



Figure A.46: E. coli concentrations in the unsaturated sand at Ipperwash Beach compared to rainfall.



Figure A.47: E. coli concentrations in the saturated sand at Ipperwash Beach compared to rainfall.



Figure A.48: E. coli concentrations in the pore water at Ipperwash Beach compared to rainfall.



Figure A.49: E. coli concentrations in the ankle-depth water at Ipperwash Beach compared to rainfall.



Figure A.50: E. coli concentrations in the waist-depth water at Ipperwash Beach compared to rainfall.

Appendix B: Supplementary Material for "Release of Escherichia coli from foreshore sand and pore water during intensified wave conditions at a recreational beach"

B.1 Location of field sites



Figure B.1: Location of field sites (Ipperwash Beach and Marie Curtis Beach).



#### B.2 Water levels, sand levels, and sample locations for field events

Figure B.2: Measured sand levels, water levels and sampling locations for (a) Event1, (b) Event2, and (c) Event3.

#### B.3 E. coli enumeration methods

After collection, water and sand samples were stored in a cooler with ice packs, transported to the laboratory, and analyzed within 6 hours. Water samples were filtered (0.45 µm pore size) using standard membrane filtration methods (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 2002) then placed on chromogenic differential coliform (DC) agar, supplemented with cefsulodin, incubated at 44.5 °C for 20 hours, then enumerated as colony forming units (CFU/100mL). To extract *E. coli* from the sand, 25 g from each sand sample was placed in a sterile polypropylene bottle, diluted with 250 mL of phosphate-buffered saline, hand shaken for 2 minutes, and allowed to settle for 2 minutes (Boehm et al. 2009b). The supernatant was then processed using the same method as the water samples. An additional 25 g from each sand sample before and after being placed in an oven at 110 °C for 24 hours. Moisture contents were used to express sand-associated *E. coli* as CFU/g of dry weight.

#### **B.4 Statistical analyses**

Statistical analyses were performed on log10 transformed data using SigmaPlot (Systat Software Inc., San Jose, CA) and Minitab (Minitab Inc., State College, PA). Due to the large variability and small sample sizes non-parametric tests were used. The Mann-Whitney U Test was used to compare *E. coli* concentrations during the three field events (Event1, Event2, Event3). This test was also used to compare *E. coli* concentrations in the sand and pore water between Ipperwash Beach and Marie Curtis Beach. The Spearman rank-order correlation test was used to compare *E. coli* concentrations in the foreshore reservoir and ankle-depth water at Ipperwash Beach and Marie Curtis Beach. The Wilcoxon signed rank test was used to compare ankle- and waist-depth concentrations along one transect and between two transects 1 km apart at Ipperwash Beach. Water samples below the detection limit were recorded as 1 CFU/100mL for data analysis. Sand samples that were below the detection limit were recorded as 1 CFU and then divided by the dry weight. Results were considered significant with a p-value of less than 0.05.





Figure B.3: Conceptual diagram illustrating how the mass balance calculation was performed to quantify the total amount of E. coli associated with the volume of sand that eroded between the first and second sampling times. Vsur and Vsub are the volume of eroded sand above and below the water table, respectively.  $C_{sub}$  and  $C_{pw}$  [CFU/g, CFU/100mL] are E. coli concentrations in the subsurface sand and pore water, respectively.  $\phi$  is porosity which was estimated to be 0.3 (Coduto et al. 2011).

		Event1	Event2	Event3
$V_{sur}$ (m <sup>3</sup> )		0.68	0.45	0.41
$V_{sub} (m^3)$		0.66	0.26	0.44
Ankle-depth concentration	First sampling time	2.11	1.82	2.50
(log CFU/100mL)	Second sampling time	2.26	2.50	2.70
Waist-depth concentration	First sampling time	0 (BDL)	1.38	1.05
(log CFU/100mL)	Second sampling time	2.21	2.50	2.70
Surface sand at first	P1	1.23	0.94	2.41
sampling time (log CFU/g)	P2		1.05	2.41
Subsurface sand at first	P1	0.63	0.60	0.16
sampling time (log CFU/g)	P2		0.37	0.11
Pore water at first	P1	1.36	2.48	3.45
sampling time (log CFU/100mL)	P2		2.53	3.41
E. coli associated with eroded sand volume (log CFU)		7.71	7.00	8.41
Calculated increase in <i>E.</i> <i>coli</i> in surface water (log CFU)		7.27	7.61	7.81

Table B.1: Input values and results for mass balance calculations for all field events. Total *E. coli* is reported as log total CFU (assuming one meter width of shoreline). "BDL" denotes below detection limit and "--" indicates no samples were collected.

#### B.6 Shearing assay experiment

To estimate the percent detachment of E. coli from the sand upon suspension, a shearing assay experiment was conducted with sand from Ipperwash Beach. Surface (unsaturated) sand was collected 1 m landward of the shoreline using sterile spoons. Similar to Phillips et al. (2014), a gyratory shaker set to 300 revolutions per minute (RPM) was used to agitate a sand-water mixture for a set amount of time (100 s, 300 s, 500 s). The gyrating speed was set to 300 RPM because this was found to be the lowest speed for which at least 50% of the sand was suspended. For each set agitation time (100 s, 200 s, 300 s), 25 g of sand was placed in four beakers and 120 mL of sterile distilled water was gently poured on top with care taken to minimize sand disturbance. Two beakers were control beakers and were set on the bench for the set time. The other two beakers were placed in the gyratory shaker and agitated for the set time. Once the set time was reached, the supernatant from each beaker was poured into a separate beaker and E. coli in the supernatant of each beaker was enumerated using methods described above. The 25 g of sand was also enumerated using sand enumeration methods described above. The percent of E. coli released from the sand after the set agitation times was calculated as the E. coli in the supernatant divided by the sum of the E. coli in the supernatant and the E. coli associated with the sand, converted to volumetric units, after being in the gyrator. It was found that 80%, 84% and 85% of E. coli was released from the sand after 100 s, 300 s, and 500 s of suspension, respectively. In comparison 44%, 32%, and 38% of E. coli was released after 100 s, 300 s, and 500 s, respectively, for the control beakers. It is thought that the *E. coli* in the supernatant in the control beakers was a combination of E. coli that was initially freely-residing in the pore water, and E. coli that was detached from the sand as water was poured into the beaker. These control experiment results are consistent with those of Phillips et al. 2014 who reported 43% enterococci release in control

experiments. F = 0.8 was used in the sand mass balance calculation (4.1) to provide a conservative estimate for the fraction of *E. coli* detached upon sand erosion and suspension.

## B.7 Sampling results for field events

Table B.2: Log transformed mean ± standard error *E. coli* concentrations during Event1. All samples were collected in triplicate. "BDL" denotes below detection limit and "-" indicates no samples were collected. The detection limit for water/pore water was 0 log CFU/100 mL and the detection limit for sand samples was approximately -1 log CFU/g.

	Ankle-depth	Waist-depth		P1			P2	
Elapsed Time	Water	Water	Pore water	Surface Sand	Subsurface Sand	Pore water	Surface Sand	Subsurface Sand
(hours)	(log CFU/100mL)	(log CFU/100mL)	(log CFU/100mL)	(log CFU/g)	(log CFU/g)	(log CFU/100mL)	(log CFU/g)	(log CFU/g)
0	2.11 ± 0.06	BDL	$1.36\pm0.12$	$1.23\pm0.99$	$0.63\pm0.24$	-	-	-
12.5	$2.26\pm0.03$	$2.21\pm0.02$	-	$0.53\pm0.23$	-	$1.39\pm0.3$	$\textbf{-0.02} \pm 0.08$	$-0.73\pm0.15$
24	$2.13\pm0.03$	$1.87\pm0.01$	-	$1.08\pm0.04$	-	$1.41\pm0.2$	$0.67\pm0.09$	$\textbf{-0.38} \pm 0.12$
48	$1.35 \pm 0.03$	$0.98\pm0.09$	-	$0.25\pm0.19$	-	$1.52 \pm 0.19$	$1.37\pm0.11$	$\textbf{-0.49} \pm 0.08$
72	$0.83\pm0.03$	BDL	-	$0.07\pm0.06$	-	$1.96\pm0.36$	$0.07\pm0.64$	$-0.14 \pm 0.28$

	Ankle-depth	Waist-depth		P1			P2	
Elapsed	Water	Water	Pore water	Surface Sand	Subsurface Sand	Pore water	Surface Sand	Subsurface Sand
(hours)	(log CFU/100mL)	(log CFU/100mL)	(log CFU/100mL)	(log CFU/g)	(log CFU/g)	(log CFU/100mL)	(log CFU/g)	(log CFU/g)
0	$1.82 \pm 0.02$	$1.38\pm0.08$	$2.48\pm0.43$	$0.94\pm0.32$	$0.60\pm0.16$	$2.53 \pm 0.12$	$1.05 \pm 0.33$	$0.37\pm0.05$
4.3	$2.50\pm0.02$	$2.50\pm0.04$	$1.87\pm0.22$	$1.44\pm0.03$	$0.51\pm0.21$	$3.09\pm0.50$	$1.61 \pm 0.11$	$1.23\pm0.42$
9.4	$2.69\pm0.04$	$2.73\pm0.05$	-	$0.40\pm0.22$	-	$2.92\pm0.06$	$2.24\pm0.18$	$0.73\pm0.27$
22.7	$2.39\pm0.05$	$2.47\pm0.03$	-	$0.52\pm0.08$	-	$2.44\pm0.01$	-	$1.08\pm0.22$
32.4	$2.09\pm0.01$	$2.07\pm0.04$	-	$0.27\pm0.04$	-	$2.33\pm0.05$	$0.42\pm0.13$	$0.02\pm0.17$
47.4	$1.96\pm0.04$	$1.57 \pm 0.03$	-	$0.74\pm0.15$	-	$2.43\pm0.41$	$0.52\pm0.03$	$0.22\pm0.26$
74.7	$1.97\pm0.06$	$1.91\pm0.05$	$2.07\pm0.25$	$0.54\pm0.07$	$2.18 \pm 1.78$	$2.31\pm0.19$	$0.37\pm0.14$	$0.52\pm0.06$

Table B.3: Log transformed mean ± standard error *E. coli* concentrations during Event2. All samples were collected in triplicate. "-" indicates no samples were collected.

		Ankle-depth	Waist-depth			
	Water	Sediment	Suspended Sand	Water	Sediment	
(hours)	(log CFU/100mL)	(log CFU/g)	(log CFU/g)	(log CFU/100mL)	(log CFU/g)	
0	$2.50\pm0.03$	$0.93\pm0.07$	-	$1.05\pm0.11$	$0.58\pm0.24$	
12.5	$2.70\pm0.03$	-	$1.67\pm0.13$	$2.70\pm0.03$	-	
20.5	$2.00\pm0.01$	-	$1.12\pm0.08$	$1.94\pm0.04$	-	
24.5	$1.97\pm0.01$	-	$0.90\pm0.22$	$1.95\pm0.04$	-	
38	$1.94\pm0.03$	$1.36\pm0.79$	-	$1.92\pm0.03$	$0.50\pm0.03$	
43.5	$1.93\pm0.04$	$1.25\pm0.72$	-	$1.76\pm0.02$	$0.19\pm0.06$	
64	$2.10\pm0.05$	$1.53\pm0.88$	-	$1.70\pm0.05$	$1.56\pm0.07$	

Table B.4: Log transformed mean ± standard error *E. coli* concentrations in samples collected at ankle- and waist-depth during Event3. All samples were collected in triplicate. "-" indicates no samples were collected.

Table B.5. Log transformed mean ± standard error *E. coli* concentrations for sand and pore water samples collected at P1, P2 and P3 locations during Event3. All samples were collected in triplicate. "BDL" denotes below detection limit and "-" indicates no samples were collected. The detection limit for water/pore water was 0 log CFU/100 mL and the detection limit for sand samples was approximately -1 log CFU/g.

		P1			P2			Р3	
Elapsed	Pore water	Surface Sand	Subsurface Sand	Pore water	Surface Sand	Subsurface Sand	Pore water	Surface Sand	Subsurface Sand
(hours)	(log CFU/100mL)	(log CFU/g)	(log CFU/g)	(log CFU/100mL)	(log CFU/g)	(log CFU/g)	(log CFU/100mL)	(log CFU/g)	(log CFU/g)
0	$3.45 \pm 0.32$	$2.41\pm0.31$	$0.16\pm0.42$	3.41 ± 0.16	$2.41\pm0.36$	$1.11\pm0.35$	BDL	BDL	-
12.5	$3.31\pm0.35$	$1.53\pm0.40$	$0.64\pm0.44$	$3.23\pm0.09$	$1.53\pm0.26$	$1.33\pm0.25$	-	-	-
20.5	$2.91\pm0.23$	$1.33\pm0.44$	$0.26\pm0.57$	$2.49\pm0.06$	$0.77\pm0.26$	$0.13\pm0.64$	$3.19\pm0.41$	$1.13\pm0.09$	$1.65\pm0.27$
24.5	$3.00\pm0.20$	$0.87\pm0.26$	$0.09 \pm 0.07$	-	$0.54\pm0.26$	$0.24\pm0.40$	$3.37\pm0.27$	$1.36\pm0.33$	$1.46\pm0.37$
38	$2.97\pm0.42$	$1.40\pm0.73$	$1.05\pm0.65$	$2.85\pm0.18$	$0.74\pm0.04$	$0.67\pm0.45$	$2.56\pm0.17$	$1.48\pm0.19$	$0.68\pm0.46$
43.5	$2.62\pm0.33$	$0.52\pm0.07$	$0.03\pm0.17$	$2.72\pm0.24$	$0.53\pm0.07$	$0.36\pm0.14$	$2.55 \pm 0.43$	$0.94\pm0.07$	$-0.69 \pm 0.90$
64	$2.65\pm0.31$	$1.19\pm0.08$	$0.39\pm0.10$	$2.53\pm0.50$	$1.01\pm0.06$	$0.31\pm0.55$	$2.31\pm0.12$	$1.15\pm0.20$	$0.60 \pm 0.15$

# B.8 Weekly/biweekly sampling at Ipperwash Beach and Marie Curtis Beach

	Ipperwash Beac	h	Marie Curtis Beach		
	Mean ± Std Error	n	Mean ± Std Error	n	
Ankle-Depth (log CFU/100mL)	1.89±0.04	196	2.22±0.09	67	
Waist-Depth (log CFU/100mL)	1.53±0.04	202	2.09±0.09	68	
Pore Water (log CFU/100mL)	2.34±0.05	253	2.73±0.07	69	
Surface Sand (log CFU/g)	0.94±0.06	214	1.19±0.09	66	

 Table B.6: Weekly/biweeky sampling results for Ipperwash Beach and Marie Curtis Beach.

## **B.9 References**

- Boehm, A.B., Griffith, J., McGee, C., Edge, T.A., Solo- Gabriele, H.M., Whitman, R., Cao, Y., Getrich, M., Jay, J.A., Ferguson, D., 2009b. Faecal indicator bacteria enumeration in beach sand: a comparison study of extraction methods in medium to coarse sands. Journal of Applied Microbiology 107 (5), 1740-1750.
- Coduto, D.P., Yeung, M.C., Kitch, W.A., 2011. Geotechnical Engineering: Principles and Practices, Pearson. New York.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2002. Method 1603: Escherichia coli (E. coli) in Water by Membrane Filtration Using Modified membrane-Thermotolerant Escherichia coli Agar (Modified mTEC). EPA 821-R-02-023, Washington, D.C.

Appendix C: Supplementary Material for "Evaluation of methods to sample fecal indicator bacteria in foreshore sand and pore water at freshwater beaches"

C.1 Sampling methods



Figure C.1: Photos of the three sampling methods used.
## Appendix D: Reproduction Licenses

## D.1 Chapter 4



Title:Release of Escherichia coli from<br/>Foreshore Sand and Pore Water<br/>during Intensified Wave<br/>Conditions at a Recreational<br/>BeachAuthor:Laura J. Vogel, Denis M.<br/>O'Carroll, Thomas A. Edge et alPublication:Environmental Science &<br/>TechnologyPublisher:American Chemical SocietyDate:Jun 1, 2016Copyright © 2014, American Chemical Society

### PERMISSION/LICENSE IS GRANTED FOR YOUR ORDER AT NO CHARGE

This type of permission/license, instead of the standard Terms & Conditions, is sent to you because no fee is being charged for your order. Please note the following:

- Permission is granted for your request in both print and electronic formats, and translations.
- If figures and/or tables were requested, they may be adapted or used in part.
- Please print this page for your records and send a copy of it to your publisher/graduate school.
- Appropriate credit for the requested material should be given as follows: "Reprinted (adapted) with permission from (COMPLETE REFERENCE CITATION). Copyright (YEAR) American Chemical Society." Insert appropriate information in place of the capitalized words.
- One-time permission is granted only for the use specified in your request. No additional uses are granted (such as derivative works or other editions). For any other uses, please submit a new request.

# D.2 Chapter 5







Title:	Evaluation of methods to sample fecal indicator bacteria in foreshore sand and pore water at freshwater beaches
Author:	Laura J. Vogel, Thomas A. Edge, Denis M. O'Carroll, Helena M. Solo-Gabriele, Caitlin S.E. Kushnir, Clare E. Robinson
<b>Publication:</b>	Water Research
Publisher:	Elsevier
Date:	September 15, 2017
© 2017 Elsevier	Ltd. All rights reserved.

License Number	4166580866638
License date	Aug 12, 2017
Licensed Content Publisher	Elsevier
Licensed Content Publication	Water Research
Licensed Content Title	Evaluation of methods to sample fecal indicator bacteria in foreshore sand and pore water at freshwater beaches
Licensed Content Author	Laura J. Vogel, Thomas A. Edge, Denis M. O'Carroll, Helena M. Solo-Gabriele, Caitlin S.E. Kushnir, Clare E. Robinson
Licensed Content Date	Sep 15, 2017
Licensed Content Volume	121
Licensed Content Issue	n/a
Licensed Content Pages	9
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Portion	full article
Format	both print and electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	Yes
Will you be translating?	No
Title of your thesis/dissertation	Enumeration, variability, and transport of Escherichia coli in the foreshore reservoir and surface water at freshwater beaches
Expected completion date	Oct 2017
Estimated size (number of pages)	150
Requestor Location	Ms. Laura Vogel 1151 Richmond ST
	London, ON N6A 3K7 Canada Attn: Ms. Laura Vogel

## Curriculum Vitae

Name:	Laura Jill Vogel
Post-secondary Education and Degrees:	University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2013 – 2017 Ph.D.
	University of Miami Miami, Florida, United States 2012 – 2013 M.S.
	University of Miami Miami, Florida, United States 2009 – 2013 B.S.
Honors and Awards:	The Ross and Jean Clark Scholarship University of Western Ontario 2017
	Milos Novak Memorial Award Geotechnical Research Center 2015
	Outstanding Research Contributions Scholarship PSAC 610 2015
	AER Global Opportunities Award for Environment and Sustainability University of Western Ontario 2015
Related Work Experience	Teaching Assistant University of Western Ontario 2014-2016

#### **Publications:**

- **Vogel, L.**, T. Edge, D. O'Carroll, H. Solo-Gabriele, C. Robinson. 2017. "Evaluation of methods to sample fecal indicator bacteria in foreshore sand and pore water at freshwater beaches." *Water Research*. 121: 2014-212.
- Wu, M., D. O'Carroll, L. Vogel, C. Robinson. 2017. "Effect of low energy waves on the accumulation and transport of fecal indicator bacteria in sand and pore water at freshwater beaches." *Environmental Science and Technology*. 51(5): 2786-2794.
- Vogel, L., D. O'Carroll, T. Edge, C. Robinson. 2016. "Release of *Escherichia coli* from foreshore sand and pore water during intensified wave conditions at a recreational beach." *Environmental Science and Technology*. 50(11):5676-5684.
- Staley, Z., L. Vogel, C. Robinson, T. Edge, 2015. "Differential Occurrence of E. coli and Human Bacteroidales at Two Great Lakes Beaches." *International Journal of Great Lakes Research*. 41(2): 530-535.
- Phillips, M., Z. Feng, L. Vogel, et al. 2014. "Microbial Release from Seeded Beach Sediments during Wave Conditions." *Marine Pollution Bulletin*. 79:114-122.
- Zhang, Y., D. Hernandez, L. Vogel, L. Gassie, D. Chin, A. Perez. 2013. "Upgrade of Wastewater Sistema Central in Havana, Cuba." West Indian Journal of Engineering. 36.1 July/August: 47-58.
- Enns, A., L. Vogel, A. Abdelzaher, H. Solo-Gabriele, et al. 2012. "Spatial and Temporal Variation in Indicator Microbe Sampling is Influential in Beach Management Decisions." *Water Research*. 46: 2237-2246.